# COMMONWEALTH ANNUITY AND LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY Southborough, Massachusetts

This Prospectus provides important information about the Scudder Gateway Elite variable annuity contracts issued by Commonwealth Annuity and Life Insurance Company ("Commonwealth Annuity") (in all jurisdictions except Hawaii and New York). The contract is a flexible payment tax-deferred combination variable and fixed annuity offered on both a group and individual basis. As of the date of this Prospectus, the Company has ceased issuing new contracts except in connection with certain preexisting contractual plans and programs.

# Please read this Prospectus carefully before investing and keep it for future reference. Annuities involve risks including possible loss of principal.

A Statement of Additional Information ("SAI") dated April 30, 2010 containing more information about this annuity is on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission and is incorporated by reference into this Prospectus. A copy may be obtained free of charge by calling Annuity Client Services at 1-800-782-8380. The Table of Contents of the SAI is listed on page 3 of this Prospectus. This Prospectus and the SAI can also be obtained from the Securities and Exchange Commission's website (http://www.sec.gov).

Separate Account KG is subdivided into Sub-Accounts. Each Sub-Account offered as an investment option under this contract invests exclusively in shares of one of the following portfolios:

# **Invesco Variable Insurance Funds (Series I Shares)**

Invesco V.I. Utilities Fund

# The Alger Portfolios (Class I-2)

Alger Balanced Portfolio

Alger Capital Appreciation Portfolio

#### **Credit Suisse Trust**

Credit Suisse Trust International Equity Flex III

Portfolio

# **Dreyfus Investment Portfolios**

Dreyfus IP MidCap Stock Portfolio

# The Dreyfus Socially Responsible Growth Fund, Inc.

Drevfus Socially Responsible Growth Fund, Inc.

#### **DWS Variable Investment Funds**

DWS Equity 500 Index VIP

# **DWS Variable Series I (Class A)**

DWS Capital Growth VIP

DWS Global Opportunities VIP

DWS Growth & Income VIP

DWS Health Care VIP

DWS International VIP

# **DWS Variable Series II (Class A)**

DWS Balanced VIP

DWS Blue Chip VIP

DWS Core Fixed Income VIP

DWS Dreman Small Mid Cap Value VIP

DWS Global Thematic VIP

DWS Government & Agency Securities VIP

DWS High Income VIP

DWS Diversified International Select Equity VIP

DWS Large Cap Value VIP

DWS Mid Cap Growth VIP

DWS Money Market VIP

DWS Small Cap Growth VIP

DWS Strategic Income VIP

DWS Strategic Value VIP

DWS Technology VIP

DWS Turner Mid Cap Growth VIP

This annuity is NOT a bank deposit or obligation; is NOT federally insured; and is NOT endorsed by any bank or governmental agency. Annuities involve risks including possible loss of principal.

The Securities and Exchange Commission has not approved or disapproved these securities or determined that the information in this Prospectus is truthful or complete. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

The Fixed Account, which is part of the Company's General Account, is an investment option that pays an interest rate guaranteed for one year from the time a payment is received. Another investment option, the Guarantee Period Accounts, offers fixed rates of interest for specified periods ranging from 2 to 10 years. A Market Value Adjustment is applied to payments removed from a Guarantee Period Account before the end of the specified period. The Market Value Adjustment may be positive or negative. Payments allocated to a Guarantee Period Account are held in the Company's Separate Account GPA (except in California where they are allocated to the General Account.)

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

SPECIAL TERMS	4
SUMMARY OF FEES AND EXPENSES	6
SUMMARY OF CONTRACT FEATURES	10
DESCRIPTION OF THE COMPANY, THE VARIABLE ACCOUNT AND THE UNDERLYING	
PORTFOLIOS	15
INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES	17
PERFORMANCE INFORMATION	23
DESCRIPTION OF THE CONTRACT	25
DISRUPTIVE TRADING	25
PAYMENTS	26
RIGHT TO CANCEL INDIVIDUAL RETIREMENT ANNUITY	27
RIGHT TO CANCEL ALL OTHER CONTRACTS	27
TELEPHONE TRANSACTIONS PRIVILEGE	28
TRANSFER PRIVILEGE	28
AUTOMATIC TRANSFERS AND AUTOMATIC ACCOUNT REBALANCING OPTION	29
SURRENDER	29
WITHDRAWALS	30
DEATH BENEFIT	31
THE SPOUSE OF THE OWNER AS BENEFICIARY	33
ASSIGNMENT.	33
ELECTING THE FORM OF ANNUITY AND ANNUITY DATE	34
DESCRIPTION OF VARIABLE ANNUITY PAYOUT OPTIONS	34
ANNUITY BENEFIT PAYMENTS	36
OPTIONAL ENHANCED EARNINGS RIDER	37
NORRIS DECISION	40
COMPUTATION OF VALUES	40
CHARGES AND DEDUCTIONS	42
VARIABLE ACCOUNT DEDUCTIONS	42
CONTRACT FEE.	43
OPTIONAL RIDER CHARGE.	43
PREMIUM TAXES	44
SURRENDER CHARGE	44
WAIVER OF SURRENDER CHARGE AND ADDITIONAL AMOUNTS CREDITED	45
TRANSFER CHARGE	47
GUARANTEE PERIOD ACCOUNTS	48
FEDERAL TAX CONSIDERATIONS	51
STATEMENTS AND REPORTS	60
LOANS (QUALIFIED CONTRACTS ONLY)	
ADDITION, DELETION OR SUBSTITUTION OF INVESTMENTS	61
CHANGES TO COMPLY WITH LAW AND AMENDMENTS	62
VOTING RIGHTS	62
DISTRIBUTION	62
LEGAL MATTERS	63
FURTHER INFORMATION	63
APPENDIX A—MORE INFORMATION ABOUT THE FIXED ACCOUNT	A-1
APPENDIX B—SURRENDER CHARGES AND THE MARKET VALUE ADJUSTMENT	B-1
APPENDIX C—THE DEATH BENEFIT	C-1
APPENDIX D—CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION	D-1
APPENDIX E—IRA, ROTH IRA AND SIMPLE IRA DISCLOSURE STATEMENT	E-1

# STATEMENT OF ADDITIONAL INFORMATION TABLE OF CONTENTS

GENERAL INFORMATION AND HISTORY	3
TAXATION OF THE CONTRACT, THE VARIABLE ACCOUNT AND THE COMPANY	4
SERVICES	5
UNDERWRITERS	6
ANNUITY BENEFIT PAYMENTS AND ACCUMULATION UNIT CALCULATION	
ENHANCED AUTOMATIC TRANSFER (DOLLAR COST AVERAGING) PROGRAM	8
DISCONTINUATION OF THE MINIMUM GUARANTEED ANNUITY PAYOUT (M-GAP)	
RIDER	8
PERFORMANCE INFORMATION	
TAX-DEFERRED ACCUMULATION	18
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS	F-1

#### **SPECIAL TERMS**

**Accumulated Value:** the total value of all Accumulation Units in the Sub-Accounts plus the value of all accumulations in the Fixed Account and Guarantee Period Accounts credited to the Contract on any date before the Annuity Date.

**Accumulation Unit:** a unit of measure used to calculate the value of a Sub-Account before annuity benefit payments begin.

**Annuitant:** the person designated in the Contract upon whose life annuity benefit payments are to be made.

**Annuity Date:** the date on which annuity benefit payments begin. This date may not be later than the first day of the month before the Annuitant's 90th birthday.

**Annuity Unit:** a unit of measure used to calculate the value of periodic annuity benefit payments under the Contract.

**Company:** unless otherwise specified, any reference to the "Company" shall refer exclusively to Commonwealth Annuity and Life Insurance Company.

Cumulative Earnings: the Accumulated Value reduced by total payments not previously withdrawn.

**Fixed Account:** an investment option under the Contract that guarantees principal and a fixed minimum interest rate and which is part of the Company's General Account.

**Fixed Annuity Payout:** an annuity payout option providing for annuity benefit payments which remain fixed in amount throughout the annuity benefit payment period selected.

General Account: all the assets of the Company other than those held in a separate account.

Guarantee Period: the number of years that a Guaranteed Interest Rate is credited.

**Guarantee Period Account:** an account which corresponds to a Guaranteed Interest Rate for a specified Guarantee Period.

**Guaranteed Interest Rate:** the annual effective rate of interest, after daily compounding, credited to a Guarantee Period Account.

**Market Value Adjustment:** a positive or negative adjustment to earnings in the Guarantee Period Account assessed if any portion of a Guarantee Period Account is withdrawn or transferred prior to the end of its Guarantee Period.

**Owner (You):** the person, persons or entity entitled to exercise the rights and privileges under this Contract. Joint Owners are permitted if one of the two is the Annuitant.

**Service Office:** Security Benefit Life Insurance Company and its affiliates (collectively, "Security Benefit") provide administrative, accounting, and other services to the Company. The principal administrative offices of Security Benefit are located at One Security Benefit Place Topeka, KS 66675, Telephone 1-800-782-8380.

**Sub-Account:** a subdivision of the Variable Account investing exclusively in the shares of a corresponding Underlying Portfolio.

**Surrender Value:** the Accumulated Value of the Contract on full surrender after application of any applicable Contract fee, surrender charge, rider charge and Market Value Adjustment.

**Valuation Period:** The time span between the close of trading on the New York Stock Exchange from one Valuation Date to the next.

**Valuation Date:** a day on which the net asset value of the shares of any of the Underlying Portfolios is determined and unit values of the Sub-Accounts are determined. Valuation Dates currently occur on each day on which the New York Stock Exchange is open for trading, as well as each day otherwise required.

**Variable Account:** Separate Account KG, one of the Company's separate accounts, consisting of assets segregated from other assets of the Company. The investment performance of the assets of the Variable Account is determined separately from the other assets of the Company. Assets of the Variable Account are not chargeable with liabilities arising out of any other business which the Company may conduct.

**Variable Annuity Payout:** an annuity payout option providing for payments varying in amount in accordance with the investment experience of certain of the Portfolios.

# **SUMMARY OF FEES AND EXPENSES**

There are certain fees and expenses that you will incur directly or indirectly under the Scudder Elite Contract. The following tables describe the fees and expenses that you will pay when buying, owning and surrendering the contract. The purpose of the tables is to help you understand these various charges.

# TABLE I Owner Transaction Expenses

Table I describes the fees and expenses that you will pay at the time that you buy or surrender the Contract and when you transfer values among the investment options. (Note: the Company does not charge a transaction charge when you purchase the Contract and does not currently charge when you transfer among investment options.) State premium taxes are applicable in some states and are deducted as described in "PREMIUM TAXES" under CHARGES AND DEDUCTIONS.

	Waximum Charge
Surrender Charge(1): (as a percentage of payments withdrawn)	7.0%
Transfer Charge(2):	\$0 on the first 12 transfers in a Contract year. Up to \$25 for subsequent transfers.

Maximum Charge

(1) During the accumulation phase, this charge may be assessed upon surrender, withdrawal or annuitization under any commutable period certain option or a noncommutable fixed period certain option of less than ten years. The charge is a percentage ranging from 7.0% to 2.0% of payments withdrawn (in excess of any amount that is free of surrender charge) within the indicated time period. For purposes of calculating the Surrender Charge on partial withdrawals and surrenders, we assume that amounts are withdrawn from payments in the chronological order in which they were received.

Complete Years From Date of Payment	Charge
Less than 1	 7.0%
Less than 2	 6.0%
Less than 3	 5.0%
Less than 4	 4.0%
Less than 5	 3.0%
Less than 6	 2.0%
Thereafter	 0.0%

(2) The Company currently does not charge for processing transfers and guarantees that the first 12 transfers in a Contract year will not be subject to a transfer charge. For each subsequent transfer, the Company reserves the right to assess a charge, guaranteed never to exceed \$25, to reimburse the Company for the costs of processing the transfer.

# TABLE II Periodic Fees and Expenses Other than Underlying Portfolio Expenses

This table describes the fees and expenses that you will pay periodically during the time that you own the Contract, not including the fees and expenses of each Underlying Portfolio:

Annual Contract Fee:(1)	\$ 35
Annual Variable Sub-Account Expenses:	
(on an annual basis as percentage of average daily net assets)	
Mortality and Expense Risk Charge:	1.25%
Administrative Expense Charge:	0.15%
Total Annual Expenses:	1.40%
Optional Rider Charges:	
The charge on an annual basis as a percentage of the Accumulated Value is:	
Enhanced Earnings Rider	0.30%
Optional Minimum Guaranteed Annuity Payout (M-GAP) Rider with a	
ten-year waiting period(2)	0.25%
Optional Minimum Guaranteed Annuity Payout (M-GAP) Rider with a	
fifteen-year waiting period(2)	0.15%

<sup>(1)</sup> During the accumulation phase, the fee is deducted annually and upon surrender when Accumulated Value is less than \$50,000. The fee is waived for Contracts issued to and maintained by the trustee of a 401(k) plan.

<sup>(2)</sup> If you elected one of the M-GAP riders prior to their discontinuance on 1/31/02, 1/12th of the annual charge is deducted pro-rata on a monthly basis at the end of each month and, if applicable, at termination. For more information about the M-GAP Rider, see "DISCONTINUATION OF THE MINIMUM GUARANTEED ANNUITY PAYOUT (M-GAP) RIDER" in the SAI.

# TABLE III Total Annual Operating Expenses of the Underlying Portfolios

Table III shows the minimum and maximum total operating expenses charged by the Underlying Portfolios that you may pay periodically during the time that you own the contract. More detail concerning each Underlying Portfolio's fees and expenses, including information about any expense caps or reimbursements, is contained in the prospectus for the Underlying Portfolios.

The table below shows the minimum and maximum expenses of the Funds during 2009. The levels of fees and expenses vary among the Underlying Funds, and may vary from year to year.

<b>Total Annual Portfolio Operating Expenses</b>	Minimum	Maximum
Expenses that are deducted from	Annual charge of 0.34% of	Annual charge of 1.54% of
Underlying Portfolio assets, including	average daily net assets	average daily net assets
management fees, distribution and/or		
service (12b-1) fees and other expenses.		

The advisers and/or other service providers of certain Funds have agreed to reduce their fees and/or reimburse the Funds' expenses in order to keep the Funds' expenses below specified limits. The expenses of certain Funds are reduced by contractual fee reduction and expense reimbursement arrangements. Other Funds may have voluntary fee reduction and/or expense reimbursement arrangements, which may be guaranteed for periods of up to a year or more or which may be terminated at any time. For the year ended December 31, 2009, the lowest and highest Total Annual Fund Operating Expenses for all Funds, after all fee reductions and expense reimbursements, are 0.34% (no expense limitation is in effect) and 1.39% (an expense limitation of 1.46% is in effect through September 30, 2010) there is no expense reduction or waiver in place), respectively. Each fee reduction and/or expense reimbursement arrangement, if any, is described in the relevant Fund's prospectus.

• Total annual expenses are not fixed or specified under the terms of the Contract and will vary from year to year. The information is based on expenses as a percentage of average net assets for the year ended December 31, 2009, as adjusted for any material changes.

The Underlying Portfolio information is based on information provided by the Underlying Portfolios and is not independently verified by the Company.

#### **EXAMPLES**

The following examples are intended to help you compare the cost of investing in the Contract with the cost of investing in other variable annuity contracts. These costs include Contract Owner transaction expenses, Contract fees, separate account annual expenses, and underlying portfolio fees and expenses. The examples should not be considered a representation of past or future expenses and actual expenses may be greater or less than those shown.

# Maximum Expense Example

The following example assumes that you invest \$10,000 in the Contract for the time periods indicated and that your investment has a 5% return each year. The example also assumes the maximum fees and expenses of any of the Underlying Portfolios and assumes that these fees and expenses remain the same in each of the 1, 3, 5, and 10-year intervals. Finally, the example assumes that you have chosen the combination of optional riders with the maximum possible charges, which would be the Enhanced Earnings Rider with a charge of 0.30% annually and the Minimum Guaranteed Annuity Payout (M-GAP) Rider with a ten-year waiting period at a charge of 0.25% annually. Although your actual costs may be higher or lower, based on these assumptions your costs would be:

(1) If, at the end of the applicable time period, you surrender your Contract or annuitize under any commutable period certain option or a noncommutable fixed period certain option of less than ten years:

	1 Year	3 Years	5 Years	10 Years
Portfolio with the maximum total operating expenses	\$959	\$1,527	\$2,105	\$3,801

(2) If you do *not* surrender your Contract or if you annuitize at the end of the applicable time period under a life option or a noncommutable fixed period certain option of ten years or longer:

	1 Year	3 Years	5 Years	10 Years
Portfolio with the maximum total operating expenses	\$356	\$1,083	\$1,831	\$3,801

#### Minimum Expense Example

The following example assumes that you invest \$10,000 in the Contract for the time periods indicated and that your investment has a 5% return each year. The example also assumes the minimum fees and expenses of any of the Underlying Portfolios and assumes that these fees and expenses remain the same in each of the 1, 3, 5, and 10-year intervals. It also assumes that you have not chosen any optional riders. Although your actual costs may be higher or lower, based on these assumptions your costs would be:

(1) If, at the end of the applicable time period, you surrender your Contract or annuitize under any commutable period certain option or a noncommutable fixed period certain option of less than ten years:

	1 Year	3 Years	5 Years	10 Years
Portfolio with the minimum total operating expenses	\$795	\$1,028	\$1,263	\$2,095

(2) If you do *not* surrender your Contract or if you annuitize at the end of the applicable time period under a life option or a noncommutable fixed period certain option of ten years or longer:

	1 Year	3 Years	5 Years	10 Years
Portfolio with the minimum total operating expenses	\$181	\$560	\$964	\$2.095

#### SUMMARY OF CONTRACT FEATURES

This Summary does not contain all information that may be important. States may require variations to the Contract. If a state variation applies, it will appear in the Contract, an endorsement to the Contract, or a supplement to this Prospectus. Although there may be state variations to the Contract, this prospectus discloses all the material features and benefits under the Contract.

#### WHAT IS THE SCUDDER GATEWAY ELITE VARIABLE ANNUITY?

The Scudder Gateway Elite variable annuity contract or certificate ("Contract") is an insurance contract designed to help you accumulate assets for your retirement or other important financial goals on a tax-deferred basis. The Contract combines the concept of professional money management with the attributes of an annuity contract. Features available through the Contract include:

- A customized investment portfolio;
- Experienced professional portfolio managers;
- Tax deferral on earnings;
- Guarantees that can protect your beneficiaries during the accumulation phase; and
- Income payments that you can receive for life.

#### WHAT HAPPENS IN THE ACCUMULATION PHASE?

The Contract has two phases: an accumulation phase and, if you choose to annuitize, an annuity payout phase. During the accumulation phase, you may allocate payments among the Sub-Accounts investing in the Underlying Portfolios (you may utilize up to seventeen Sub-Accounts at any one time, in addition to the DWS Money Market Portfolio), and, in most jurisdictions, the Guarantee Period Accounts, and the Fixed Account (collectively "the investment options"). You select the investment options most appropriate for your investment needs. As those needs change, you may also change your allocation without incurring any tax consequences. Your Contract's Accumulated Value is based on the investment performance of the Underlying Portfolios and any accumulations in the Guarantee Period and Fixed Accounts. You do not pay taxes on any earnings under the Contract until you withdraw money. In addition, during the accumulation phase, your beneficiaries receive certain protections in the event of the Annuitant's death. See discussion below, WHAT HAPPENS UPON DEATH DURING THE ACCUMULATION PHASE?

# WHAT HAPPENS IN THE ANNUITY PAYOUT PHASE?

During the annuity payout phase, the Annuitant can receive income based on several annuity payout options. You choose the annuity payout option and the date for annuity benefit payments to begin. You also decide whether you want variable annuity benefit payments based on the investment performance of certain Underlying Portfolios, fixed-amount annuity benefit payments with payment amounts guaranteed by the Company, or a combination of fixed-amount and variable annuity benefit payments. Among the payout options available during the annuity payout phase are:

- periodic payments for the Annuitant's lifetime;
- periodic payments for the Annuitant's life and the life of another person selected by you;
- periodic payments for the Annuitant's lifetime with any remaining guaranteed payments
  continuing to your beneficiary for ten years in the event that the Annuitant dies before the end
  of ten years;

• periodic payments over a specified number of years (1 to 30); under the fixed version of this option you may reserve the right to convert remaining payments to a lump-sum payout by electing a "commutable" option. Variable period certain options are automatically commutable.

# WHO ARE THE KEY PERSONS UNDER THE CONTRACT?

The Contract is between you, (the "Owner") and us, Commonwealth Annuity and Life Insurance Company. Each Contract has an Owner (or an Owner and a Joint Owner, in which case one of the two also must be the Annuitant), an Annuitant and one or more beneficiaries. As Owner, you make payments, choose investment allocations, receive annuity benefit payments and select the Annuitant and beneficiary. The Annuitant is the individual who receives annuity benefit payments under the Contract. The beneficiary is the person who receives any payment on the death of the Owner or Annuitant.

# HOW MUCH CAN I INVEST AND HOW OFTEN?

The number and frequency of your payments are flexible, subject to the minimum and maximum payment amounts outlined in "PAYMENTS" under **DESCRIPTION OF THE CONTRACT**.

#### WHAT ARE MY INVESTMENT CHOICES?

Prior to the Annuity Date, you may allocate payments among one or more of the Sub-Accounts investing in the Underlying Portfolios (up to a total of seventeen Sub-Accounts may be utilized at any one time, in addition to the DWS Money Market Portfolio) and, in most jurisdictions, the Guarantee Period Accounts, and the Fixed Account. Each Underlying Portfolio operates pursuant to different investment objectives and this range of investment options enables you to allocate your money among the Underlying Portfolios to meet your particular investment needs. For a more detailed description of the Underlying Portfolios, see INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES.

Assets supporting the guarantees under the Guarantee Period Accounts are held in the Company's Separate Account GPA, a non-unitized insulated separate account, except in California where assets are held in the Company's General Account. Values and benefits calculated on the basis of Guarantee Period Account allocations, however, are obligations of the Company's General Account. Amounts allocated to a Guarantee Period Account earn a Guaranteed Interest Rate declared by the Company. The level of the Guaranteed Interest Rate depends on the number of years of the Guarantee Period selected. The Company currently makes available nine Guarantee Periods ranging from two to ten years in duration. Once declared, the Guaranteed Interest Rate will not change during the duration of the Guarantee Period. If amounts allocated to a Guarantee Period Account are transferred, surrendered or applied to any annuity option at any time other than the day following the last day of the applicable Guarantee Period, a Market Value Adjustment will apply that may increase or decrease the Account's value; however, this adjustment will never be applied against your principal. In addition, earnings in the GPA after application of the Market Value Adjustment will not be less than an effective annual rate of 3%. For more information about the Guarantee Period Accounts and the Market Value Adjustment, see GUARANTEE PERIOD ACCOUNTS.

The Fixed Account is part of the General Account, which consists of all the Company's assets other than those allocated to the Variable Account and any other separate account. Allocations to the Fixed Account are guaranteed as to principal and a minimum rate of interest. Additional excess interest may be declared periodically at the Company's discretion. Furthermore, the initial rate in effect on the date an amount is allocated to the Fixed Account is guaranteed for one year from that date. For more information about the Fixed Account see **APPENDIX A—MORE INFORMATION ABOUT THE FIXED ACCOUNT**.

#### CAN I MAKE TRANSFERS AMONG THE INVESTMENT OPTIONS?

Yes. Prior to the Annuity Date, you may transfer among the Sub-Accounts investing in the Underlying Portfolios, the Guarantee Period Accounts, and the Fixed Account. Transfers may be made to and among all of the available Sub-Accounts as long as no more than seventeen Sub-Accounts, in addition to the DWS Money Market Portfolio, are utilized at one time. You will incur no current taxes on transfers while your money remains in the Contract. The first 12 transfers in a Contract year are guaranteed to be free of a transfer charge. For each subsequent transfer in a Contract year, the Company does not currently charge, but reserves the right to assess a processing charge guaranteed never to exceed \$25. See "TRANSFER PRIVILEGE" under **DESCRIPTION OF THE CONTRACT**.

You also may elect at no additional charge Automatic Transfers (Dollar Cost Averaging) to gradually move money to one or more of the Underlying Portfolios or Automatic Account Rebalancing to ensure assets remain allocated according to your designated percentage allocation mix.

### WHAT IF I NEED MY MONEY BEFORE MY ANNUITY PAYOUT PHASE BEGINS?

Before the annuity payout phase begins, you may surrender your Contract or make withdrawals at any time A 10% tax penalty may apply on all amounts deemed to be income if you are under age 59½. Each calendar year you can take without a surrender charge the greatest of 100% of Cumulative Earnings, 15% of the Contract's Accumulated Value or, if you are both an Owner and the Annuitant, an amount based on your life expectancy. (Similarly, no surrender charge will apply if an amount is withdrawn based on the Annuitant's life expectancy if the Owner is a trust or other nonnatural person.) A 10% federal tax penalty may apply to all amounts deemed to be income if you are under age 59½. Additional amounts may be withdrawn at any time but payments that have not been invested in the Contract for more than six years may be subject to a surrender charge. (A Market Value Adjustment, which may increase or decrease the value of your account, may apply to any withdrawal made from a Guarantee Period Account prior to the expiration of the Guarantee Period.)

In addition, you may withdraw all or a portion of your money without a surrender charge if, after the Contract is issued and before age 65, you become disabled. Also, except in New Jersey where not permitted by state law, you may withdraw money without a surrender charge if, after the Contract is issued, you are admitted to a medical care facility or diagnosed with a fatal illness. For details and restrictions, see "Reduction or Elimination of Surrender Charge and Additional Amounts Credited" under "SURRENDER CHARGE" under CHARGES AND DEDUCTIONS.

#### WHAT HAPPENS UPON DEATH DURING THE ACCUMULATION PHASE?

If the Annuitant, Owner or Joint Owner should die before the Annuity Date, a death benefit will be paid to the beneficiary. Upon the death of the Annuitant (or an Owner who is also an Annuitant), the death benefit is equal to the greatest of:

- The Accumulated Value on the Valuation Date that the Company receives proof of death, and all necessary claim paperwork, increased by any positive Market Value Adjustment;
- Gross payments, with interest compounding daily at an effective annual yield of 5% starting on the date each payment is applied, and continuing throughout your investments' entire accumulation phase, decreased proportionately to reflect withdrawals; or
- The death benefit that would have been payable on the most recent Contract anniversary, increased for subsequent payments and decreased proportionately for subsequent withdrawals.

This guaranteed death benefit works in the following way assuming no withdrawals are made. On the first anniversary, the death benefit will be equal to the greater of:

(a) the Accumulated Value (increased by any positive Market Value Adjustment); or

(b) gross payments compounded daily at an effective annual yield of 5%.

The higher of (a) or (b) will then be locked in until the second anniversary, at which time the death benefit will be equal to the greatest of:

- (a) the Contract's then current Accumulated Value increased by any positive Market Value Adjustment;
- (b) gross payments compounded daily at an effective annual yield of 5%; or
- (c) the locked-in value of the death benefit at the first anniversary.

The greatest of (a), (b) or (c) will be locked in until the next Contract anniversary. This calculation will then be repeated on each anniversary while the Contract remains in force and prior to the Annuity Date. As noted above, the values of (b) and (c) will be decreased proportionately if withdrawals are taken. The proportionate reduction is determined by multiplying the (b) or (c) value immediately prior to the withdrawal by the withdrawal amount and divided by the Accumulated Value immediately prior to the withdrawal.

At the death of an Owner who is not also the Annuitant during the accumulation phase, the death benefit will equal the Contract's Accumulated Value on the Valuation Date that the Company receives proof of death and all necessary claim paperwork, increased by any positive Market Value Adjustment.

(If the Annuitant dies after the Annuity Date but before all guaranteed annuity benefit payments have been made, the remaining payments will be paid to the beneficiary at least as rapidly as under the annuity option in effect. See "DEATH BENEFIT.").

In addition, if you elected the optional Enhanced Earnings Rider at issue, additional amounts may be payable to your beneficiary if the Annuitant dies prior to the Annuity Date. For a detailed discussion of the benefits under the Enhanced Earnings Rider, see "OPTIONAL ENHANCED EARNINGS RIDER" under **DESCRIPTION OF THE CONTRACT.** 

#### WHAT CHARGES WILL I INCUR UNDER MY CONTRACT?

If the Accumulated Value on a Contract anniversary or upon surrender is less than \$50,000, the Company will deduct a \$35 Contract Fee (a lower fee of \$30 may apply in some states) from the Contract. There will be no Contract fee if the Accumulated Value is \$50,000 or more. The Contract fee is currently waived for a Contract issued to and maintained by a trustee of a 401(k) plan.

Should you decide to surrender the Contract, make withdrawals, or receive payments under certain annuity options, you may be subject to a surrender charge. If applicable, this charge will be between 2% and 7% of payments withdrawn, based on when the payments were originally made.

Depending upon the state in which you live, a deduction for state and local premium taxes, if any, may be made as described in "PREMIUM TAXES" under CHARGES AND DEDUCTIONS.

The Company will deduct, on a daily basis, an annual Mortality and Expense Risk Charge and Administrative Expense Charge equal to 1.25% and 0.15%, respectively, of the average daily net assets invested in each Underlying Portfolio. The Underlying Portfolios will incur certain management fees and expenses described more fully in the prospectuses of the Underlying Portfolios which accompany this Prospectus. These charges vary among the Underlying Portfolios and may change from year to year.

If you elected the optional Enhanced Earnings Rider, a separate monthly charge is deducted from the Contract's Accumulated Value. For specific information regarding charges, see "OPTIONAL RIDER CHARGE" under CHARGES AND DEDUCTIONS.

#### CAN I EXAMINE THE CONTRACT?

Yes. Your Contract will be delivered to you after your purchase. If you return the Contract to the Company within ten days of receipt, the Contract will be canceled. There may be a longer period in certain states; see the "Right to Examine" provision on the cover of your Contract.

If you cancel the Contract, you will receive a refund of any amounts allocated to the Fixed and Guarantee Period Accounts and the Accumulated Value of any amounts allocated to the Sub-Accounts (plus any fees or charges that may have been deducted). However, if state law requires or if your Contract was issued as an Individual Retirement Annuity (IRA) you will generally receive a refund of your entire payment. In certain states, this refund may be the greater of (1) your entire payment or (2) the amounts allocated to the Fixed and Guarantee Period Accounts plus the Accumulated Value of amounts in the Sub-Accounts, plus any fees or charges previously deducted. See "RIGHT TO CANCEL INDIVIDUAL RETIREMENT ANNUITY" and "RIGHT TO CANCEL ALL OTHER CONTRACTS" under **DESCRIPTION OF THE CONTRACT**.

# CAN I MAKE FUTURE CHANGES UNDER MY CONTRACT?

You can make several changes after receiving your Contract:

- You may assign your ownership to someone else, except under certain qualified plans; see FEDERAL TAX CONSIDERATIONS.
- You may change the beneficiary, unless you have designated a beneficiary irrevocably.
- You may change your allocation of payments.
- You may make transfers among your accounts prior to the Annuity Date without any tax consequences.
- You may cancel your Contract within ten days of delivery (or longer if required by state law).

# DESCRIPTION OF THE COMPANY, THE VARIABLE ACCOUNT AND THE UNDERLYING PORTFOLIOS

**The Company.** Effective September 1, 2006, Allmerica Financial Life Insurance and Annuity Company was renamed Commonwealth Annuity and Life Insurance Company and the principal office was relocated to 132 Turnpike Road, Suite 210, Southborough, MA 01772, Telephone 508-460-2400. Unless otherwise specified, any reference to the "Company" refers to Commonwealth Annuity and Life Insurance Company ("Commonwealth Annuity").

Commonwealth Annuity is a life insurance company organized under the laws of Delaware in July 1974. Prior to December 31, 2002, Commonwealth Annuity was a direct subsidiary of First Allmerica Financial Life Insurance Company ("First Allmerica"), which in turn was a direct subsidiary of The Hanover Insurance Group ("THG," formerly Allmerica Financial Corporation). Effective December 31, 2002, Commonwealth Annuity became a Massachusetts domiciled insurance company and a direct subsidiary of THG. On December 30, 2005, THG completed the closing of the sale of the Company to The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc. ("Goldman Sachs"), 200 West Street, New York, NY 10282.

Commonwealth Annuity is subject to the laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts governing insurance companies and to regulation by the Commissioner of Insurance of Massachusetts. In addition, it is subject to the insurance laws and regulations of other states and jurisdictions in which it is licensed to operate. Its Principal Office is located at 132 Turnpike Road, Suite 210, Southborough, MA 01772, Telephone 508-460-2400.

At this time, the Company is relying on an exemption from the periodic reporting requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended ("Securities Exchange Act"), as provided by Rule 12h-7 under the Securities Exchange Act, to avoid any such periodic reporting obligation. We reserve the right to stop relying on this exemption at any time.

**The Variable Account.** The Company maintains a separate investment account called Separate Account KG (the "Variable Account"). The Variable Account of Separate Account KG was authorized by vote of the Board of Directors of the Company on June 13, 1996. Each Variable Account is registered with the SEC as a unit investment trust under the 1940 Act. This registration does not involve the supervision or management of investment practices or policies of the Variable Accounts by the SEC.

The Variable Account is a separate investment account of the Company. The assets used to fund the variable portions of the Contracts are set aside in the Sub-Accounts of the Variable Account, and are kept separate and apart from the general assets of the Company. The Sub-Account is administered and accounted for as part of the general business of the Company. The income, capital gains or capital losses of the Sub-Account, however, are allocated to each Sub-Account, without regard to any other income, capital gains, or capital losses of the Company. Obligations under the Contracts are obligations of the Company. Under Massachusetts law, the assets of the Variable Account may not be charged with any liabilities arising out of any other business of the Company. Subject to the provisions of the Contract, units of the Sub-Accounts are offered on a continuous basis.

The Company reserves the right, subject to compliance with applicable law, to change the names of the Variable Account and the Sub-Accounts. The Company also offers other variable annuity contracts investing in the Variable Account which are not discussed in this Prospectus. In addition, the Variable Account may invest in other underlying portfolios which are not available to the Contracts described in this Prospectus.

**Underlying Portfolios.** Each Sub-Account invests in a corresponding investment portfolio ("Underlying Portfolio") of an open-end management investment company. The Underlying Portfolios available through this contract are NOT publicly traded. They are only available as variable investment options

in variable life insurance policies or variable annuity contracts issued by life insurance companies or, in some cases, through participation in certain qualified pension or retirement plans.

The investment advisers of the Underlying Portfolios may manage publicly traded mutual funds with similar names and objectives. However, the Underlying Portfolios are NOT directly related to any publicly traded mutual fund. Consequently, the investment performance of the Underlying Portfolios and any similarly named publicly traded mutual fund may differ substantially.

A summary of investment objectives of each of the Underlying Portfolios is set forth below. Certain Underlying Portfolios have similar investment objectives and/or policies. Therefore, to choose the Sub-Accounts which best meet your needs and objectives, carefully read the Underlying Portfolio prospectuses along with this Prospectus. There can be no assurance that the investment objectives of the Underlying Portfolios can be achieved. In some states, insurance regulations may restrict the availability of particular Portfolios.

#### INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

A summary of investment objectives of each of the Underlying Portfolios is set forth below. More detailed information regarding the investment objectives, restrictions and risks, expenses paid by the Underlying Portfolios and other relevant information regarding the Portfolios may be found in their respective prospectuses, which should be read carefully before investing. The prospectuses and Statements of Additional Information of the Underlying Portfolios are available from the Service Office upon request.

There can be no assurance that the investment objectives of the Underlying Portfolios can be achieved or that the value of the Contract will equal or exceed the aggregate amount of payments made under the Contract. Sub-Account values will fluctuate; even a Sub-Account investing in a money market fund may have negative returns, particularly if fees and charges are deducted at the Sub-Account level.

# The Alger Portfolios (Class I-2)

Adviser: Fred Alger Management, Inc.

Alger Balanced Portfolio—seeks current income and long-term capital appreciation. It focuses on stocks of companies that the Manager believes demonstrate growth potential and on fixed-income securities, with emphasis on income-producing securities that appear to have potential for capital appreciation. Under normal circumstances, the Portfolio invests in equity securities and in fixed-income securities, which may include corporate bonds, debentures and notes, U.S. government securities, mortgage-backed and asset-backed securities, commercial paper and other fixed-income securities. Most of the portfolio's fixed-income investments will be concentrated within the four highest rating categories as determined by one of the nationally recognized statistical rating organizations ("NRSROs") (or, if unrated, will have been determined to be of comparable quality by the Manager). The portfolio also may invest up to 10% of its net assets in lower-rated securities rated "B" (or the equivalent) or better by any one of those rating agencies (or, if unrated, determined to be of comparable quality by the Manager). Under normal circumstances, the portfolio will invest at least 25% of its net assets in fixed-income securities and at least 25% of its net assets in equity securities. This Portfolio was formerly known as Alger American Balanced Portfolio.

Alger Capital Appreciation Portfolio—seeks long-term capital appreciation. Under normal circumstances, the portfolio invests at least 85% of its net assets plus any borrowing for investment purposes in equity securities of companies of any market capitalization that the Manager believes demonstrate promising growth potential. The Portfolio can leverage, that is, borrow money to buy additional securities. By borrowing money, the portfolio has the potential to increase its returns if the increase in the value of the securities purchased exceeds the cost of borrowing, including interest paid on the money borrowed. This Portfolio was formerly known as Alger American Capital Appreciation Portfolio.

# Credit Suisse Trust

Adviser: Credit Suisse Asset Management, LLC

Credit Suisse Trust—International Equity Flex III Portfolio—seeks capital appreciation. To pursue this goal, it invests at least 80% of its net assets in equity securities of foreign companies and derivatives providing exposure to equity securities of foreign companies. The portfolio seeks to outperform the MSCI EAFE Index. The MSCI EAFE Index is designed to measure the performance of equities in developed markets outside North America, which include Europe, Australasia (Australia and New Zealand) and the Far East. The portfolio generally will (i) purchase securities, either directly or through derivatives, in an amount up to approximately 130% of its net assets and (ii) sell securities short (which means, sell borrowed securities with the intention of repurchasing them for a profit on the expectation that the market price will drop), either directly or through derivatives, in an amount up to

approximately 30% of its net assets. The portfolio may invest in equity securities without regard to market capitalization. Uses proprietary quantitative models.

# Dreyfus Investment Portfolios

Adviser: The Dreyfus Corporation

**Dreyfus IP MidCap Stock Portfolio**—The fund seeks investment results that are greater than the total return performance of publicly traded common stocks of medium-size domestic companies in the aggregate, as represented by the Standard & Poor's MidCap 400® Index (S&P 400).

To pursue this goal, the fund normally invests at least 80% of its assets in stocks of midsize companies. The fund invests in growth and value stocks, which are chosen through a disciplined investment process that combines computer modeling techniques, fundamental analysis and risk management. Consistency of returns compared to the S&P 400, the fund's benchmark, is a primary goal of the investment process. The fund's stock investments may include common stocks, preferred stocks, convertible securities and depositary receipts, including those issued in initial public offerings (IPOs) or shortly thereafter. A proprietary computer model evaluates and ranks a universe of over 3,500 stocks. The portfolio managers review each of the screens on a regular basis. The portfolio managers also maintain the flexibility to adapt the screening criteria to changes in market conditions. The portfolio managers will select stocks through a "bottom-up," structured approach that seeks to identify undervalued securities using a quantitative ranking process. The process is driven by a proprietary quantitative model which measures more than 40 characteristics of stocks to identify and rank stocks based on:

- fundamental momentum, meaning measures that reflect the changes in short-term earnings outlook through factors such as revised earnings estimates and earnings surprises
- relative value, such as current and forecasted price-to-earnings ratios, price-to-book ratios, yields and other price-sensitive data for a stock compared to its past, its peers and the models' overall stock universe
- future value, such as discounted present value measures long-term growth, based on measures that reflect the changes in estimated long-term earnings growth over multiple horizons
- additional factors, such as technical factors, trading by company insiders or share issuance/buyback data.

Next, the portfolio managers focus on stock selection, as opposed to making proactive decisions as to industry or sector exposure, to construct the fund. The portfolio managers seek to maintain a portfolio that has exposure to industries and market capitalizations that are generally similar to the S&P 400. Finally, within each sector and style subset, the fund will seek to overweight the most attractive stocks and underweight or not hold the stocks that have been ranked least attractive.

# The Dreyfus Socially Responsible Growth Fund, Inc.

Adviser: The Dreyfus Corporation

The Dreyfus Socially Responsible Growth Fund, Inc. —To pursue these goals, the fund, under normal circumstances, invests at least 80% of its assets in the common stocks of companies that, in the opinion of the fund's management, meet traditional investment standards determined as described below and conduct their business in a manner that contributes to the enhancement of the quality of life in America.

The fund's investment strategy combines a disciplined investment process that consists of computer modeling techniques, fundamental analysis and risk management with a social investment process. In

selecting stocks, the portfolio managers begin by using computer models to identify and rank stocks within an industry or sector, based on several characteristics, including:

- value, or how a stock is priced relative to its perceived intrinsic worth
- growth, in this case the sustainability or growth of earnings
- financial profile, which measures the financial health of the company.

Next, based on fundamental analysis, the portfolio managers designate the most attractive of the higher ranked securities as potential purchase candidates, drawing on a variety of sources, including company management and internal as well as Wall Street research.

The portfolio managers manage risk by diversifying across companies, industries and sectors, seeking to dilute the potential adverse impact from a decline in value of any one stock, industry or sector.

# DWS Investment VIT Funds

Adviser: Deutsche Investment Management Americas Inc.

**DWS Equity 500 Index VIP\***—The fund seeks to replicate, as closely as possible, before the deduction of expenses, the performance of the Standard & Poor's 500 Composite Stock Price Index (the "S&P 500® Index"), which emphasizes stocks of large U.S. companies. Under normal circumstances, the fund intends to invest at least 80% of assets, determined at the time of purchase, in stocks of companies included in the S&P 500® Index and in derivative instruments, such as futures contracts and options, that provide exposure to the stocks of companies in the S&P 500® Index. Deutsche Investment Management Americas Inc. is the investment advisor for the fund. Northern Trust Investments, N.A. ("NTI"), is the subadvisor for the fund.

### DWS Variable Series I

Adviser: Deutsche Investment Management Americas Inc.

**DWS Capital Growth VIP**—The fund seeks to provide long-term growth of capital. The fund normally invests at least 65% of total assets in equities, mainly common stocks of US companies. The fund generally focuses on established companies that are similar in size to the companies in the S&P 500® Index (generally 500 of the largest companies in the U.S.) or the Russell 1000® Growth Index (generally those stocks among the 1,000 largest U.S. companies that have above-average price-to-earnings ratios).

**DWS Global Opportunities VIP**—The fund seeks above-average capital appreciation over the long term. The fund invests at least 65% of total assets in common stocks and other equities of small companies throughout the world (companies with market values similar to the smallest 20% of the S&P Developed Broad Market Index, formerly the S&P/Citigroup Broad Market Index World).

**DWS Growth & Income VIP**—The fund seeks long-term growth of capital, current income and growth of income. The fund invests at least 65% of total assets in equities, mainly common stocks. Although the fund can invest in companies of any size and from any country, it invests primarily in large U.S. companies. Portfolio management may favor securities from different industries and companies at different times.

**DWS Health Care VIP**—The fund seeks long-term growth of capital. Under normal circumstances, the fund will invest at least 80% of total assets, plus the amount of any borrowing for investment purposes, in common stock of companies in the health care sector.

<sup>\* &</sup>quot;Standard & Poor's®," "S&P®" "S&P 500®," "Standard & Poor's 500," and "500" are trademarks of the McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc., and have been licensed for use by Deutsche Investment Management Americas Inc. Additional information may be found in the fund's SAI.

**DWS International VIP**—The fund seeks long-term growth of capital. Although the fund can invest in companies of any size and from any country, it invests mainly in common stocks of established companies in countries with developed economies (other than the United States).

# DWS Variable Series II

Adviser: Deutsche Investment Management Americas Inc.

**DWS Balanced VIP**—The fund seeks high total return, a combination of income and capital appreciation. The fund can buy many types of securities, among them common stocks, convertible securities, corporate bonds, government bonds, inflation-indexed bonds, mortgage- and asset-backed securities and exchange-traded funds (ETFs). The fund can invest in securities of any size, investment style category, or credit quality, and from any country (including emerging markets). The fund normally invests approximately 60% of net assets in common stocks and other equity securities and approximately 40% of net assets in fixed-income securities, including non-investment grade high yield bonds. The fund invests at least 25% of net assets in fixed-income senior securities. Deutsche Investment Management Americas Inc. is the investment advisor for the fund. Deutsche Asset Management International GmbH ("DeAMi") is the subadvisor for the fund.

**DWS Blue Chip VIP**—The fund seeks growth of capital and income. Under normal circumstances, the fund invests at least 80% of net assets, plus the amount of any borrowings for investment purposes, in common stocks of large U.S. companies that are similar in size to the companies in the S&P 500 Index and that portfolio management considers to be "blue chip" companies.

**DWS Core Fixed Income VIP**—The fund seeks high current income. Under normal circumstances, the fund invests at least 80% of assets, plus the amount of any borrowings for investment purposes, determined at the time of purchase, in fixed income securities.

**DWS Dreman Small Mid Cap Value VIP**—The fund seeks long-term capital appreciation. Under normal circumstances, the fund invests at least 80% of net assets, plus the amount of any borrowings for investment purposes, in undervalued common stocks of small and mid-size U.S. companies. Dreman Value Management L.L.C. is the subadvisor for the fund.

**DWS Diversified International Equity VIP**—The fund seeks capital appreciation. Under normal circumstances, the fund invests at least 80% of its assets, determined at the time of purchase, in equity securities and other securities with equity characteristics.

**DWS Global Thematic VIP**—The fund seeks long-term capital growth. Under normal circumstances, the fund invests at least 80% of net assets, plus the amount of any borrowings for investment purposes, in common stocks and other equities of companies throughout the world that portfolio management considers to be "blue chip" companies.

**DWS Government & Agency Securities VIP**—The fund seeks high current income consistent with preservation of capital. Under normal circumstances, the fund invests at least 80% of net assets, plus the amount of any borrowings for investment purposes, in U.S. government securities and repurchase agreements of US government securities.

**DWS High Income VIP**—The fund seeks to provide a high level of current income. Under normal circumstances, the fund generally invests at least 65% of net assets, plus the amount of any borrowings for investment purposes, in junk bonds, which are those rated below the fourth highest credit rating category (that is, grade BB/Ba and below). The fund may invest up to 50% of total assets in bonds denominated in U.S. dollars or foreign currencies from foreign issuers.

**DWS Large Cap Value VIP**—The fund seeks to achieve a high rate of total return. Under normal circumstances, the fund invests at least 80% of net assets, plus the amount of any borrowings for

investment purposes, in common stocks and other equity securities of large U.S. companies that are similar in size to the companies in the Russell 1000® Value Index and that portfolio management believes are undervalued. Deutsche Asset Management International GmbH ("DeAMi") is the subadvisor for the fund.

**DWS Mid Cap Growth VIP**—The fund seeks long-term capital growth. Under normal circumstances, the fund invests at least 80% of its assets, plus the amount of any borrowings for investment purposes, determined at the time of purchase, in companies with market capitalizations within the market capitalization range of the Russell Midcap Growth Index or securities with equity characteristics that provide exposure to those companies.

**DWS Money Market VIP**—The fund seeks maximum current income to the extent consistent with stability of principal. The fund pursues its objective by investing in high quality, short-term securities, as well as repurchase agreements that are backed by high-quality securities.

**DWS Small Cap Growth VIP**—The fund seeks maximum appreciation of investors' capital. Under normal circumstances, the fund invests at least 80% of net assets, plus the amount of any borrowings for investment purposes, in small capitalization stocks similar in size to those comprising the Russell 2000® Growth Index.

**DWS Strategic Income VIP**—The fund seeks a high current return. Under normal circumstances, the fund invests mainly in bonds issued by both US and foreign corporations and governments. The credit quality of the fund's investments may vary; the fund may invest up to 100% of total assets in either investment-grade bonds or in junk bonds, which are those below the fourth highest credit rating category (that is, grade BB/Ba and below). The fund may invest up to 50% of total assets in foreign bonds. The fund may also invest in emerging markets securities and dividend-paying common stocks. The fund invests mainly in bonds issued by US and foreign corporations and governments.

**DWS Strategic Value VIP**—The fund seeks to achieve a high rate of total return. Under normal circumstances, the fund invests at least 80% of net assets, plus the amount of any borrowings for investment purposes, in equity securities (mainly common stocks). The fund focuses on stocks of large U.S. companies that are similar in size to the companies in the S&P 500 Index and that portfolio management believes are undervalued. The Fund was previously known as DWS Dreman High Return EquityVIP.

**DWS Technology VIP**—The fund seeks growth of capital. Under normal circumstances, the fund invests at least 80% of net assets, plus the amount of any borrowings for investment purposes, in common stocks of companies in the technology sector. The fund may invest in companies of any size and may invest in initial public offerings. While the fund invests mainly in U.S. stocks, it could invest up to 35% of net assets in foreign securities (including emerging markets securities).

**DWS Turner Mid Cap Growth VIP**—The fund seeks capital appreciation. The fund pursues its objective by investing in common stocks and other equity securities of US companies with medium market capitalizations that portfolio management believes have strong earnings growth potential. Turner Investment Partners, Inc. is the subadvisor for the fund.

# Invesco Variable Insurance Funds (Series I Shares)

Adviser: Invesco Advisors, Inc.

**Invesco V.I. Utilities Fund**—The Fund's investment objective is long-term growth of capital and secondarily, current income. The Fund invests under normal circumstances, at least 80% of net assets (plus borrowings for investment purposes) in securities of issuers engaged primarily in utilities-related industries. This Fund was formerly known as AIM V.I. Utilities Fund.

Certain Underlying Portfolios have investment objectives and/or policies similar to those of other Underlying Portfolios. To choose the Sub-Accounts which best meet individual needs and objectives, carefully read the Underlying Portfolio prospectuses. In some states, insurance regulations may restrict the availability of particular Sub-Accounts.

If there is a material change in the investment policy of a Sub-Account or the Underlying Portfolio in which it invests, the Owner will be notified of the change. If the Owner has values allocated to that Sub-Account, the Company will transfer it without charge on written request by the Owner to another Sub-Account or to the Fixed Account. The Company must receive such written request within 60 days of the later of (1) the effective date of the change in the investment policy, or (2) the receipt of the notice of the Owner's right to transfer.

#### PERFORMANCE INFORMATION

The Contract was first offered to the public by Commonwealth Annuity and Life Insurance Company in 1996. The Company, however, may advertise "total return" and "average annual total return" performance information based on (1) the periods that the Sub-Accounts have been in existence and (2) the periods that the Underlying Portfolios have been in existence. Both the total return and yield figures are based on historical earnings and are not intended to indicate future performance. Performance tables are included in the SAI.

The total return of a Sub-Account refers to the total of the income generated by an investment in the Sub-Account and of the changes in the value of the principal (due to realized and unrealized capital gains or losses) for a specified period, reduced by certain charges, and expressed as a percentage of the investment.

The average annual total return represents the average annual percentage change in the value of an investment in a Sub-Account over a given period of time. Average annual total return represents averaged figures as opposed to the actual performance of a Sub-Account, which will vary from year to year.

The yield of the Sub-Account investing in the DWS Money Market Portfolio refers to the income generated by an investment in the Sub-Account over a seven-day period (which period will be specified in the advertisement). This income is then "annualized" by assuming that the income generated in the specific week is generated over a 52-week period. This annualized yield is shown as a percentage of the investment. The effective yield calculation is similar but, when annualized, the income earned by an investment in the Sub-Account is assumed to be reinvested. Thus the effective yield will be slightly higher than the yield because of the compounding effect of this assumed reinvestment.

The yield of a Sub-Account investing in a Portfolio other than the DWS Money Market Portfolio refers to the annualized income generated by an investment in the Sub-Account over a specified 30-day or one-month period. The yield is calculated by assuming that the income generated by the investment during that 30-day or one-month period is generated each period over a 12-month period and is shown as a percentage of the investment.

Performance information for any Sub-Account reflects the performance of a hypothetical investment in the Sub-Account during the time period on which the calculations are based as well as contract level charges (if any) and withdrawal charges (for more information, see the SAI). Performance information should be considered in light of the investment objectives and policies and risk characteristics of the Underlying Portfolio in which the Sub-Account invests and the market conditions during the given time period, and should not be considered as a representation of what may be achieved in the future.

Performance information for a Sub-Account may be compared in reports and promotional literature to:

- (1) the Standard & Poor's 500 Composite Stock Price Index (S&P 500), Dow Jones Industrial Average (DJIA), Shearson Lehman Aggregate Bond Index or other unmanaged indices, so that investors may compare the Sub-Account results with those of a group of unmanaged securities widely regarded by investors as representative of the securities markets in general; or
- (2) other groups of variable annuity separate accounts or other investment products tracked by Lipper Analytical Services, a widely used independent research firm which ranks mutual funds and other investment products by overall performance, investment objectives, and assets, or tracked by other services, companies, publications, or persons, who rank such investment products on overall performance or other criteria; or
- (3) the Consumer Price Index (a measure for inflation) to assess the real rate of return from an investment in the Sub-Account. Unmanaged indices may assume the reinvestment of dividends but generally do not reflect deductions for administrative and management costs and expenses. In

addition, relevant broad-based indices and performance from independent sources may be used to illustrate the performance of certain Contract features.

At times, the Company may also advertise the ratings and other information assigned to it by independent rating organizations such as A.M. Best Company ("A.M. Best"), Moody's Investors Service ("Moody's"), Standard & Poor's Insurance Rating Services ("S&P") and Duff & Phelps. A.M. Best's and Moody's ratings reflect their current opinion of the Company's relative financial strength and operating performance in comparison to the norms of the life/health insurance industry. S&P's and Duff & Phelps' ratings measure the ability of an insurance company to meet its obligations under insurance policies it issues and do not measure the ability of such companies to meet other non-policy obligations. The ratings also do not relate to the performance of the Underlying Portfolios.

#### DESCRIPTION OF THE CONTRACT

As of the date of this Prospectus, the Company has ceased issuing new Contracts except in connection with certain pre-existing contractual plans and programs. References to issue requirements and initial payments are included as information regarding general Company procedures. This Prospectus provides only a very brief overview of the more significant aspects of the Contract and of the Company's administrative procedures for the benefit of the Company's current Owners.

# DISRUPTIVE TRADING

This Contract is not designed for use by individuals, professional market timing organizations, or other entities that engage in short-term trading, frequent transfers, programmed transfers or transfers that are large in relation to the total assets of an Underlying Portfolio (collectively, "Disruptive Trading"). These activities may require the Underlying Portfolio to maintain undesirable large cash positions or frequently buy or sell portfolio securities. Such transfers may dilute the value of the Underlying Portfolio's shares, interfere with the efficient management of the Underlying Portfolio's portfolio, and increase brokerage and administrative costs of the Underlying Portfolios. As a result, Disruptive Trading may adversely affect an Underlying Portfolio's ability to invest effectively in accordance with its investment objectives and policies, and may harm other Contract Owners.

In order to protect our Contract Owners and the Underlying Portfolios from potentially harmful trading activity, we utilize certain policies and procedures that are designed to detect and prevent disruptive trading among the Underlying Portfolios (the "Disruptive Trading Procedures"). Our Disruptive Trading Procedures consider certain factors in order to identify Disruptive Trading activity, including the following:

- the number of transfers made over a period of time;
- the length of time between transfers;
- whether the transfers follow a pattern that appears to be designed to take advantage of short term market fluctuations, particularly within certain Underlying Portfolios;
- the dollar amount(s) requested for transfers; and
- whether the transfers are part of a group of transfers made by a third party on behalf of several individual Contract Owners; and
- the investment objectives and/or size of the Underlying Portfolios.

We may increase our monitoring of Contract Owners who engage in what we perceive to be disruptive trading, including investigating the transfer patterns within multiple contracts owned by the same Contract Owners. We may also investigate any patterns of disruptive trading identified by the Underlying Portfolios that may not have been captured by our Disruptive Trading Procedures.

Our Disruptive Trading Procedures may vary from Sub-Account to Sub-Account. The Disruptive Trading Procedures limit the number of transfers a Contract Owner may make during a given period, limit the number of times a Contract Owner may transfer into particular funds during a given period, and place restrictions as to the time and means of transfers (for example, transfer instructions are required by a certain daily time cutoff), among other things. Subject to the terms of the Contract, the Company reserves the right to impose, without prior notice, additional or alternate restrictions on allocations and transfers that it determines, in its sole discretion, will disadvantage or potentially hurt the rights or interests of other Contract Owners or other holders of the Underlying Portfolios.

Some of the Underlying Portfolios have reserved the right to temporarily or permanently refuse payments or transfer requests from the Company if, in the judgment of the Underlying Portfolio's investment adviser, the Underlying Portfolio would be unable to invest effectively in accordance with its

investment objective or policies, or would otherwise potentially be adversely affected. If an Underlying Portfolio refuses a transfer request from the Company, the Company may not be able to effect certain allocations or transfers that a Contract Owner has requested. In the future, some Underlying Portfolios may impose redemption fees on short-term trading (i.e., redemptions of mutual fund shares within a certain number of business days after purchase). We reserve the right to administer and collect any such redemption fees on behalf of the Underlying Portfolios.

We will apply our Disruptive Trading Procedures consistently without special arrangement, waiver, or exception. However, the Company's ability to detect and deter Disruptive Trading and to consistently apply the Disruptive Trading Procedures may be limited by operational systems and technological limitations. Contract Owners seeking to engage in such transfer activities may employ a variety of strategies to avoid detection. Because identifying Disruptive Trading involves judgments that are inherently subjective, the Company cannot provide assurances that its Disruptive Trading Procedures will detect every Contract Owner who engages in disruptive trading. In addition, the terms of some contracts previously issued by the Company, historical practices or actions, litigation, or certain regulatory restrictions may limit the Company's ability to apply transfer or other restrictions.

If we are unable to detect Disruptive Trading or are unable to restrict Disruptive Trading because of contract provisions or other reasons, you may experience dilution in the value of your Underlying Portfolio shares. There may be increased brokerage and administrative costs within the Underlying Portfolios, which may result in lower long-term returns for your investments. Additionally, because other insurance companies and/or retirement plans may invest in the Underlying Portfolios, we cannot guarantee that the Underlying Portfolios will not suffer harm from disruptive trading within the variable contracts issued by other insurance companies or among investment options available to retirement plan participants.

Under rules recently adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission, effective April 16, 2007, we will be required to: (1) enter into a written agreement with each Underlying Portfolio or its principal underwriter that will obligate us to provide to the Underlying Portfolio promptly upon request certain information about the trading activity of individual Contract Owners, and (2) execute instructions from the Underlying Portfolio to restrict or prohibit further purchases or transfers by specific Contract Owners who violate the frequent trading policies established by the Underlying Portfolio.

#### **PAYMENTS**

The Company issues a Contract when its underwriting requirements, which include receipt of the initial payment and allocation instructions by the Company at its Principal Office, are met. These requirements may also include the proper completion of an application; however, where permitted, the Company may issue a contract without completion of an application and/or signature for certain classes of annuity contracts. The Company reserves the right to reject an application or request to issue a Contract. Any such rejection will not discriminate unfairly among purchasers.

Payments are to be made payable to the Company. A net payment is equal to the payment received less the amount of any applicable premium tax. The initial net payment is credited to the Contract and allocated among the requested investment options as of the date that all issue requirements are properly met. If all issue requirements are not completed within five business days of the Company's receipt of the initial payment, the payment will be returned immediately unless the applicant authorizes the Company to retain it pending completion of all issue requirements. Subsequent payments will be credited as of the Valuation Date received at the Service Office, on the basis of accumulation unit value next determined after receipt.

Payments may be made to the Contract at any time prior to the Annuity Date, or prior to payment of the death benefit, subject to certain minimums:

- Currently, the initial payment must be at least \$5,000 (\$2,000 for IRA's). A lower minimum amount may be permitted if monthly automatic payments are being forwarded directly from a financial institution.
- Each subsequent payment must be at least \$100.
- The minimum allocation to a Guarantee Period Account is \$1,000. If less than \$1,000 is allocated to a Guarantee Period Account, the Company reserves the right to apply that amount to the DWS Money Market Portfolio.

Generally, unless otherwise requested, all payments will be allocated among investment options in the same proportion that the initial net payment is allocated or, if subsequently changed, according to the most recent allocation instructions. Prior to the Annuity Date, you may utilize up to seventeen variable Sub-Accounts at any one time, in addition to the DWS Money Market Portfolio.

# RIGHT TO CANCEL INDIVIDUAL RETIREMENT ANNUITY

An individual purchasing a Contract intended to qualify as an IRA my cancel the Contract at any time within ten days after receipt of the Contract and receive a refund. In order to cancel the Contract, the Owner must mail or deliver the Contract to the agent through whom the Contract was purchased, to the Company's Service Office at Service Office at se2 (an affiliate of Security Benefit Life Insurance Company), located at One Security Benefit Place, Topeka, KS 66675, Telephone 1-800-782-8380, or to an authorized representative. Mailing or delivery must occur within ten days after receipt of the Contract for cancellation to be effective.

Within seven days the Company will provide a refund equal to the gross payment(s) received. In some states, however, the refund may equal the greater of (a) gross payments or (b) any amounts allocated to the Fixed Account and the Guarantee Period Accounts plus the Accumulated Value of amounts allocated to the Variable Account plus any amounts deducted under the Contract or by the Portfolios for taxes, charges or fees. At the time the Contract is issued, the "Right to Examine" provision on the cover of the Contract will specifically indicate whether the refund will be equal to gross payments or equal to the greater of (a) or (b) as set forth above.

The liability of the Variable Account under this provision is limited to the Owner's Accumulated Value in the Sub-Accounts on the date of cancellation. Any additional amounts refunded to the Owner will be paid by the Company.

# RIGHT TO CANCEL ALL OTHER CONTRACTS

An owner may cancel the Contract at any time within ten days after receipt of the Contract (or longer if required by state law) and receive a refund. In most states, the Company will pay the Owner an amount equal to the sum of (1) the difference between the payment received, including fees, and any amount allocated to the Variable Account, and (2) the Accumulated Value of amounts allocated to the Variable Account as of the date the request is received. If the Contract was purchased as an IRA or issued in a state that requires a full refund of the initial payments(s), the IRA cancellation right described above will be used. At the time the Contract is issued, the "Right to Examine" provision on the cover of the Contract will specifically indicate what the refund will be and the time period allowed to exercise the right to cancel.

In order to cancel the Contract, the Owner must mail or deliver it to the Company's Service Office or to one of its authorized representatives. The Company will refund an amount equal to the Surrender Value plus all fees and charges and the Contract will be void from the beginning.

#### TELEPHONE TRANSACTIONS PRIVILEGE

Subject to state law, you, or anyone you authorize, may initiate transactions over the telephone, unless you notify the Company of your election not to have this privilege. The policy of the Company and its agents and affiliates is that we will not be responsible for losses resulting from acting upon telephone requests reasonably believed to be genuine. The Company will employ reasonable procedures to confirm that instructions communicated by telephone are genuine; otherwise, the Company may be liable for any losses due to unauthorized or fraudulent instructions. Such procedures may include, among other things, requiring some form of personal identification prior to acting upon instructions received by telephone. All telephone instructions are tape-recorded. The Company reserves the right to modify or discontinue this privilege at any time without prior notice.

The Company cannot guarantee that you, or any other person you authorize, will always be able to reach us to complete a telephone transaction. Under these circumstances, you should submit your request in writing or other form acceptable to us.

# TRANSFER PRIVILEGE

Prior to the Annuity Date and subject to the Disruptive Trading limitations described above under **DESCRIPTION OF THE CONTRACT**, the Owner may transfer amounts among investment options upon written or, in most jurisdictions, telephone request to the Company. Transfer values will be based on the Accumulated Value next computed after receipt of the transfer request.

Transfers to a Guarantee Period Account must be at least \$1,000. If the amount to be transferred to a Guarantee Period Account is less than \$1,000, the Company may transfer that amount to the Sub-Account which invests in the DWS Money Market Portfolio. Transfers from a Guarantee Period Account prior to the expiration of the Guarantee Period will be subject to a Market Value Adjustment.

If an Owner requests a transfer of an amount from a Sub-Account that is higher than the amount in the Sub-Account on the Valuation Date (for example, if a request is made to transfer \$100 from a Sub-Account but the Accumulated Value in the Sub-Account on the Valuation Date is only \$98), the Company will transfer all of the Accumulated Value in the Sub-Account.

The first twelve transfers in a Contract year are guaranteed to be free of any transfer charge. The Company does not currently charge for additional transfers but reserves the right to asses a charge, guaranteed never to exceed \$25, to reimburse it for the expense of processing these additional transfers. If you authorize periodic transfers under an Automatic Transfer option (Dollar Cost Averaging) or an Automatic Account Rebalancing option, the first automatic transfer or rebalancing under a request counts as one transfer for purposes of the 12 transfers guaranteed to be free of a transfer charge in each Contract year. Each subsequent transfer or rebalancing under that request in the same or subsequent Contract year is without charge and does not reduce the remaining number of transfers which may be made free of charge.

The Owner may authorize an independent third party to transact allocations and transfers in accordance with an asset allocation strategy or other investment strategy. The Company may provide administrative or other support services to these independent third parties, however, the Company does not engage any third parties to offer allocation or other investment services under this Contract, does not endorse or review any allocation or transfer recommendations and is not responsible for the investment results of such allocations or transfers transacted on the Owner's behalf. In addition, the Company reserves the right to discontinue services or limit the number of Portfolios that it may provide such services to. The Company does not charge the Owner for providing additional support services.

# AUTOMATIC TRANSFERS AND AUTOMATIC ACCOUNT REBALANCING

Automatic Transfers (Dollar Cost Averaging). The Owner may elect automatic transfers of a predetermined dollar amount, not less than \$100, on a periodic basis (monthly, bimonthly, quarterly, semi-annually or annually) from either the Fixed Account, the Sub-Account investing in the DWS Money Market Portfolio or the Sub-Account investing in the DWS Government & Agency Securities Portfolio, (the "source accounts") to one or more of the available Sub-Accounts. Automatic transfers may not be made into the Fixed Account, the Guarantee Period Accounts or, if applicable, the Portfolio being used as the source account. If an automatic transfer would reduce the balance in the source account to less than \$100, the entire balance will be transferred proportionately to the chosen Sub-Accounts. Automatic transfers will continue until the amount in the source account on a transfer date is zero or the Owner's request to terminate the option is received by the Company. If additional amounts are allocated to the source account after its balance has fallen to zero, this option will not restart automatically, and the Owner must provide a new request to the Company.

To the extent permitted by law, the Company reserves the right, from time to time, to credit an enhanced interest rate to certain initial and/or subsequent payments which are deposited into the Fixed Account when it is being used as the source account from which to process automatic transfers. For more information see "Enhanced Automatic Transfer (Dollar Cost Averaging) Program" in the SAI.

Automatic Account Rebalancing. The Owner may request automatic rebalancing of Sub-Account allocations on a monthly, bi-monthly, quarterly, semi-annual or annual basis in accordance with percentage allocations specified by the Owner. As frequently as specified by the Owner, the Company will review the percentage allocations in the Portfolios and, if necessary, transfer amounts to ensure conformity with the designated percentage allocation mix. If the amount necessary to reestablish the mix on any scheduled date is less than \$100, no transfer will be made. Automatic Account Rebalancing will continue until the Owner's request to terminate or change the option is received by the Company. As such, subsequent payments allocated in a manner different from the percentage allocation mix in effect on the date the payment is received will be reallocated in accordance with the existing mix on the next scheduled date unless the Owner's timely request to change the mix or terminate the option is received by the Company.

**Limitations.** The Company reserves the right to limit the number of Sub-Accounts that may be used for automatic transfers and rebalancing, and to discontinue either option upon advance written notice. Currently, Dollar Cost Averaging and Automatic Account Rebalancing may not be in effect simultaneously. Either option may be elected at no additional charge when the Contract is purchased or at a later date.

#### **SURRENDER**

At any time prior to the Annuity Date, an Owner may surrender the Contract and receive its Surrender Value, less any tax withholding. The request for surrender must be made on Company forms. The request for surrender must be made on Company forms. You may obtain Company forms by calling 1-800-782-8380.

The Owner must return the Contract and a signed, written request for surrender on a Company surrender form to the Service Office. The Surrender Value will be calculated based on the Contract's Accumulated Value as of the Valuation Date on which the request and the Contract are received at the Service Office.

Before the Annuity Date, a surrender charge may be deducted when a Contract is surrendered if payments have been credited to the Contract during the last six full Contract years. See **CHARGES AND DEDUCTIONS**. The Contract fee will be deducted upon surrender of the Contract.

After the Annuity Date, only Contracts annuitized under a commutable period certain option may be surrendered. The amount payable is the commuted value of any unpaid installments, computed on the basis of the assumed interest rate incorporated in such annuity benefit payments. No surrender charge is imposed after the Annuity Date.

Any amount surrendered normally is payable within seven days following the Company's receipt of the surrender request. The Company reserves the right to defer surrenders and withdrawals of amounts in each Sub-Account in any period during which (1) trading on the New York Stock Exchange is restricted as determined by the SEC or such Exchange is closed for other than weekends and holidays, (2) the SEC has, by order, permitted such suspension, or (3) an emergency, as determined by the SEC, exists such that disposal of Portfolio securities or valuation of assets of each separate account is not reasonably practicable.

The Company reserves the right to defer surrenders and withdrawals of amounts allocated to the Company's Fixed Account and Guarantee Period Accounts for a period not to exceed six months.

The surrender rights of Owners who are participants under Section 403(b) plans or who are participants in the Texas Optional Retirement Program ("Texas ORP") are restricted.

For important tax consequences which may result from surrender, see **FEDERAL TAX CONSIDERATIONS**. Pursuant to new tax regulations, we generally are required to confirm, with your 403(b) plan sponsor or otherwise, that withdrawals, transfers or surrenders you request from a 403(b) Contract comply with applicable tax requirements before we process your request.

#### WITHDRAWALS

At any time prior to the Annuity Date, an Owner may withdraw a portion of the Contract's Accumulated Value, subject to the limits stated below. The request for withdrawal must be made on Company forms. The request for withdrawal must be made on Company forms. You may obtain Company forms by calling 1-800-782-8380. You may also obtain a Company withdrawal form at our Company web site, https://cwannuity.se2.com.

The Owner must submit to the Service Office a signed, written request for withdrawal on a on a Company withdrawal form. The written request must indicate the dollar amount the Owner wishes to receive and the investment options from which such amount is to be withdrawn. The amount withdrawn equals the amount requested by the Owner plus any applicable surrender charge, as described under **CHARGES AND DEDUCTIONS**. In addition, amounts withdrawn from a Guarantee Period Account prior to the end of the applicable Guarantee Period will be subject to a Market Value Adjustment, as described under **GUARANTEE PERIOD ACCOUNTS**.

Where allocations have been made to more than one investment option, a percentage of the withdrawal may be allocated to each such option. A withdrawal from a Sub-Account will result in cancellation of a number of units equivalent in value to the amount withdrawn, computed as of the Valuation Date that the request is received at the Service Office.

The minimum withdrawal amount is \$100.

Withdrawals will be paid in accordance with the time limitations described above under "SURRENDER."

After the Annuity Date, withdrawals are allowed only if the Contract is annuitized under a commutable period certain option. A withdrawal after the Annuity Date will result in cancellation of a number of Annuity Units equivalent in value to the amount withdrawn.

For important tax consequences which may result from withdrawals, see **FEDERAL TAX CONSIDERATIONS**.

Systematic Withdrawals. The Owner may elect an automatic schedule of withdrawals (systematic withdrawals) from amounts in the Sub-Accounts and/or the Fixed Account on a monthly, bi-monthly, quarterly, semi-annual or annual basis. Systematic withdrawals from Guarantee Period Accounts are not available. The minimum amount of each automatic withdrawal is \$100, and will be subject to any applicable withdrawal charges. The Owner may elect, by written request, a specific dollar amount and the percentage of this amount to be taken from each designated Sub-Account and/or the Fixed Account, or the Owner may elect to withdraw a specific percentage of the Accumulated Value calculated as of the withdrawal dates, and may designate the percentage of this amount which should be taken from each account. The first withdrawal will take place on the date the written request is received at the Service Office or, if later, on a date specified by the Owner.

If a withdrawal would cause the remaining Accumulated Value to be less than \$1,000, systematic withdrawals may be discontinued. Systematic withdrawals will cease automatically on the Annuity Date. The Owner may change or terminate systematic withdrawals only by written request to the Service Office.

**Life Expectancy Distributions.** Each calendar year prior to the Annuity Date, an Owner who also is the Annuitant may take without surrender charge a series of systematic withdrawals from the Contract according to the Company's life expectancy distribution ("LED") option. The Owner must return a properly signed LED request form to the Service Office.

The Owner may elect monthly, bi-monthly, quarterly, semi-annual, or annual LED distributions, and may terminate the LED option at any time.

If an Owner elects the Company's LED option, (which is based on applicable IRS tables), in each calendar year a fraction of the Accumulated Value is withdrawn without a surrender charge based on the Owner's then life expectancy (or the joint life expectancy of the Owner and a beneficiary.) The numerator of the fraction is 1 (one) and the denominator of the fraction is the remaining life expectancy of the Owner, as determined annually by the Company. The resulting fraction, expressed as a percentage, is applied to the Accumulated Value at the beginning of the year to determine the amount to be distributed during the year. Under the Company's LED option, the amount withdrawn from the Contract changes each year, because life expectancy changes each year that a person lives. For example, actuarial tables indicate that a person age 70 has a life expectancy of 16 years, but a person who attains age 86 has a life expectancy of another 6.5 years. Where the Owner is a trust or other nonnatural person, the Owner may elect the LED option based on the Annuitant's life expectancy.

(Note: this option may not produce annual distributions that meet the definition of "substantially equal periodic payments" as defined under Code Section 72(t). As such, the withdrawals may be treated by the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) as premature distributions from the Contract and may be subject to a 10% federal tax penalty. Owners seeking distributions over their life under this definition should consult their tax advisor. For more information, see **FEDERAL TAX CONSIDERATIONS.** In addition, if the amount necessary to meet the substantially equal periodic payment definition is greater than the Company's LED amount, a surrender charge may apply to the amount in excess of the LED amount.)

The Company may discontinue or change the LED option at any time, but not with respect to election of the option made prior to the date of any change in the LED option.

#### DEATH BENEFIT

In the event that the Annuitant, Owner or Joint Owner, if applicable, dies while the Contract is in force, the Company will pay the beneficiary a death benefit, except where the Contract is continued as provided below in "THE SPOUSE OF THE OWNER AS BENEFICIARY." The amount of the death benefit and the time requirements for receipt of payment may vary depending upon whether the Annuitant or an Owner dies first, and whether death occurs prior to or after the Annuity Date.

**Death of the Annuitant Prior to the Annuity Date.** At the death of the Annuitant (including an Owner who is also the Annuitant), the death benefit is equal to the greatest of:

- (a) the Accumulated Value on the Valuation Date that the Company receives the death certificate and all necessary claim paperwork, increased by any positive Market Value Adjustment;
- (b) gross payments accumulated daily at an effective annual yield of 5% starting on the date each payment is applied and continuing throughout that payment's entire accumulation phase, decreased proportionately to reflect withdrawals; or
- (c) the death benefit that would have been payable on the most recent Contract anniversary, increased for subsequent payments and decreased proportionately for subsequent withdrawals.

For each withdrawal under (b) or (c), the proportionate reduction is calculated by multiplying the (b) or (c) value immediately prior to the withdrawal by the withdrawal amount and divided by the Accumulated Value immediately prior to the withdrawal.

This guaranteed death benefit works in the following way assuming no withdrawals are made. On the first anniversary, the death benefit will be equal to the greater of:

- (a) the Accumulated Value (increased by any positive Market Value Adjustment);
- (b) gross payments accumulated daily at an effective annual yield of 5%.

The higher of (a) or (b) will then be locked in until the second anniversary, at which time the death benefit will be equal to the greatest of:

- (a) the Contract's then current Accumulated Value increased by any positive Market Value Adjustment;
- (b) gross payments accumulated daily at an effective annual yield of 5%; or
- (c) the locked-in value of the death benefit at the first anniversary.

The greatest of (a), (b) or (c) will be locked in until the next Contract anniversary. This calculation will then be repeated on each anniversary date while the Contract remains in force and prior to the Annuity Date. As noted above, the values of (b) and (c) will be decreased proportionately if withdrawals are taken. See **APPENDIX C—THE DEATH BENEFIT** for specific examples of death benefit calculations.

**Death of an Owner Who is Not Also the Annuitant Prior to the Annuity Date.** If an Owner who is not also the Annuitant dies before the Annuity Date, the death benefit will be the Accumulated Value increased by any positive Market Value Adjustment. The death benefit never will be reduced by a negative Market Value Adjustment.

**Payment of the Death Benefit Prior to the Annuity Date.** The death benefit generally will be paid to the beneficiary in one sum within seven business days of the receipt of due proof of death at the Service Office. Instead of payment in one sum, the beneficiary may, by written request, elect to:

- (1) defer distribution of the death benefit for a period no more than five years from the date of death; or
- (2) receive distributions over the life of the beneficiary for a period certain not extending beyond the beneficiary's life expectancy, with annuity benefit payments beginning one year from the date of death.

However, if the Owner has specified a death benefit annuity option, the death benefit will be paid out accordingly. Any death benefit annuity option specified by the Owner must comply with the requirements set forth in paragraph (2) above.

If distribution of the death benefit is deferred under (1) or (2), any value in the Guarantee Period Accounts will be transferred to the Sub-Account investing in the DWS Money Market Portfolio. The excess, if any, of the death benefit over the Accumulated Value also will be added to the Sub-Account investing in the DWS Money Market Portfolio. The beneficiary may, by written request, effect transfers and withdrawals during the deferral period and prior to annuitization under (2), but may not make additional payments. The death benefit will reflect any earnings or losses experienced during the deferral period. If there are multiple beneficiaries, the consent of all is required.

With respect to the death benefit, the Accumulated Value will be based on the unit values next computed after due proof of the death has been received.

**Death of the Annuitant On or After the Annuity Date.** If the Annuitant's death occurs on or after the Annuity Date but before completion of all guaranteed annuity benefit payments, any unpaid amounts or installments will be paid to the beneficiary. The Company must pay out the remaining payments at least as rapidly as under the payment option in effect on the date of the Annuitant's death.

#### THE SPOUSE OF THE OWNER AS BENEFICIARY

The Owner's spouse, if named as the sole beneficiary, may by written request continue the Contract rather than receiving payment of the death benefit. Upon such election, the spouse will become the Owner and Annuitant subject to the following: (1) any value in the Guarantee Period Accounts will be transferred to the Sub-Account investing in the DWS Money Market Portfolio and (2) the excess, if any, of the death benefit over the Contract's Accumulated Value also will be added to the Sub-Account investing in the DWS Money Market Portfolio. The resulting value never will be subject to a surrender charge when withdrawn. The new Owner may also make additional payments; however, a surrender charge will apply to these amounts if they are withdrawn before they have been invested in the Contract for at least six years. All other rights and benefits provided in the Contract will continue, except that any subsequent spouse of such new Owner will not be entitled to continue the Contract when the new Owner dies.

Federal Defense of Marriage Act. The right of a spouse to continue the Contract and all Contract provisions relating to spousal continuation are available only to a person who meets the definition of "spouse" under Federal law. The Federal Defense of Marriage Act currently does not recognize same-sex marriages or civil unions, even those which are permitted under individual state laws. Therefore the spousal continuation provisions of this Contract will not be available to such partners or same sex marriage spouses. Consult a tax advisor for more information on this subject.

### ASSIGNMENT

The Contract, other than one sold in connection with certain qualified plans, provides that it may be assigned by the Owner at any time prior to the Annuity Date and while the Annuitant is alive (see **FEDERAL TAX CONSIDERATIONS**). The Company will not be deemed to have knowledge of an assignment unless it is made in writing on a Company approved form and filed at the Service Office. The Company will not assume responsibility for determining the validity of any assignment. If an assignment of the Contract is in effect on the Annuity Date, the Company reserves the right to pay to the assignee, in one sum, that portion of the Surrender Value of the Contract to which the assignee appears to be entitled. The Company will pay the balance, if any, in one sum to the Owner in full settlement of all liability under the Contract. The interest of the Owner and of any beneficiary will be subject to any assignment.

For important tax liability which may result from assignments, see **FEDERAL TAX CONSIDERATIONS**.

#### ELECTING THE FORM OF ANNUITY AND ANNUITY DATE

The Owner selects the Annuity Date. To the extent permitted by law, the Annuity Date may be the first day of any month: (1) before the Annuitant's 85th birthday, if the Annuitant's age on the issue date of the Contract is 75 or under, or (2) within ten years from the issue date of the Contract and before the Annuitant's 90th birthday, if the Annuitant's age on the issue date is between 76 and 90. The Owner may elect to change the Annuity Date by sending a request to the Service Office at least one month before the Annuity Date. To the extent permitted by state law, the new Annuity Date must be the first day of any month occurring before the Annuitant's 90th birthday, and must be within the life expectancy of the Annuitant. The Company shall determine such life expectancy at the time a change in Annuity Date is requested. In no event will the latest possible annuitization age exceed 90.

If the Annuity Date under a non-qualified Contract is deferred until the Owner reaches an age that is significantly beyond the Owner's life expectancy, it is possible that the Contract will not be considered an annuity for federal tax purposes. In addition, the Internal Revenue Code ("the Code") and the terms of qualified plans impose limitations on the age at which annuity benefit payments may commence and the type of annuity option selected. The Owner should carefully review the selection of the Annuity Date with his/her tax adviser.

Subject to certain restrictions described below, the Owner has the right (1) to select the annuity payout option under which annuity benefit payments are to be made, and (2) to determine whether payments are to be made on a fixed basis, a variable basis, or a combination fixed and variable basis. Certain annuity options may be commutable or noncommutable. A commutable option provides the Owner with the right to request a lump sum payment of any remaining balance after annuity payments have commenced. Under a noncommutable option, the Owner may not request a lump sum payment. Annuity benefit payments are determined according to the annuity tables in the Contract, by the annuity option selected, and by the investment performance of the account(s) selected. See "Annuity Benefit Payments" in the SAI.

To the extent a fixed annuity payout is selected, Accumulated Value will be transferred to the Fixed Account, and the annuity benefit payments will be fixed in amount. See **APPENDIX A—MORE INFORMATION ABOUT THE FIXED ACCOUNT**.

Under a variable annuity payout option, a payment equal to the value of the fixed number of Annuity Units in the Sub-Accounts is made monthly, quarterly, semi-annually or annually. Since the value of an Annuity Unit in a Sub-Account will reflect the investment performance of the Sub-Account, the amount of each annuity benefit payment will vary.

The annuity payout option selected must produce an initial payment of at least \$50 (a lower amount may be required in some states). The Company reserves the right to increase this minimum amount. If the annuity payout option selected does not produce an initial payment which meets this minimum, a single payment will be made. Once the Company begins making annuity benefit payments, the Annuitant cannot make withdrawals or surrender the annuity benefit, except where the Annuitant has elected a commutable period certain option. Beneficiaries entitled to receive remaining payments under either a commutable or noncommutable period certain may elect instead to receive a lump sum settlement. See "DESCRIPTION OF VARIABLE ANNUITY PAYOUT OPTIONS."

If the Owner does not elect an option, a variable life annuity with periodic payments guaranteed for ten years will be purchased. Changes in either the Annuity Date or annuity option can be made up to one month prior to the Annuity Date.

# DESCRIPTION OF VARIABLE ANNUITY PAYOUT OPTIONS

The Company provides the variable annuity payout options described below. Currently, variable annuity payout options may be funded through the Sub-Accounts investing in the DWS Core Fixed Income

VIP, DWS Growth and Income VIP, DWS Balanced VIP and DWS Blue Chip VIP. The Company also provides these same options funded through the Fixed Account (fixed annuity option). Regardless of how payments were allocated during the accumulation period, any of the variable annuity payout options or the fixed annuity payout options may be selected in combination with any of the fixed annuity payout options. Other annuity options may be offered by the Company. IRS regulations may not permit certain of the available annuity options when used in connection with certain qualified Contracts.

Variable Life Annuity with Payments Guaranteed for Ten Years. This variable annuity is payable periodically during the lifetime of the Annuitant with the guarantee that if the Annuitant should die before all payments have been made, the remaining annuity benefit payments will continue to the beneficiary.

Variable Life Annuity Payable Periodically During the Lifetime of the Annuitant Only. This variable annuity is payable during the Annuitant's life. It would be possible under this option for the Annuitant to receive only one annuity benefit payment if he/she dies prior to the due date of the second annuity benefit payment, two annuity benefit payments if he/she dies before the due date of the third annuity benefit payment, and so on. Payments will continue, however, during the Annuitant's lifetime, no matter how long he or she lives.

*Unit Fund Variable Life Annuity.* This is an annuity payable periodically during the lifetime of the Annuitant with the guarantee that if (1) exceeds (2) then periodic variable annuity benefit payments will continue to the beneficiary until the number of such payments equals the number determined in (1).

Where:

- (1) is the dollar amount of the Accumulated Value at annuitization divided by the dollar amount of the first payment, and
- (2) is the number of payments paid prior to the death of the Annuitant.

Joint and Survivor Variable Life Annuity. This variable annuity is payable jointly to the Annuitant and another individual during their joint lifetime, and then continues thereafter during the lifetime of the survivor. The amount of each payment to the survivor is based on the same number of Annuity Units which applied during the joint lifetime of the two payees. One of the payees must be either the person designated as the Annuitant under the Contract or the beneficiary. There is no minimum number of payments under this option.

Joint and Two-thirds Survivor Variable Life Annuity. This variable annuity is payable jointly to the Annuitant and another individual during their joint lifetime, and then continues thereafter during the lifetime of the survivor. The amount of each periodic payment to the survivor, however, is based upon two-thirds of the number of Annuity Units which applied during the joint lifetime of the two payees. One of the payees must be the person designated as the Annuitant under the Contract or the beneficiary. There is no minimum number of payments under this option.

Period Certain Variable Annuity (Payments Guaranteed for a Specified Number of Years). This variable annuity has periodic payments for a stipulated number of years ranging from one to thirty. If the Annuitant dies before the end of the period, remaining payments will continue to be paid. A fixed period certain annuity may be either commutable or noncommutable. A variable period certain annuity is automatically commutable.

It should be noted that the period certain option does not involve a life contingency. In computing payments under this option, the Company deducts a charge for annuity rate guarantees, which includes a factor for mortality risks. Although not contractually required to do so, the Company currently follows a practice of permitting persons receiving payments under the period certain option to elect to

convert to a variable annuity involving a life contingency. The Company may discontinue or change this practice at any time, but not with respect to election of the option made prior to the date of any change in this practice.

#### ANNUITY BENEFIT PAYMENTS

**Determination of the First Variable Annuity Benefit Payment.** The amount of the first monthly payment depends upon the selected variable annuity option, the sex (however, see "NORRIS DECISION" below) and age of the Annuitant, and the value of the amount applied under the annuity option ("annuity value"). The Contract provides annuity rates that determine the dollar amount of the first periodic payment under each variable annuity option for each \$1,000 of applied value. From time to time, the Company may offer its Owners both fixed and variable annuity rates more favorable than those contained in the Contract. Any such rates will be applied uniformly to all Owners of the same class

The dollar amount of the first periodic annuity benefit payment is calculated based upon the type of annuity option chosen, as follows:

- For life annuity options and noncommutable fixed period certain options of ten years or more, the dollar amount is determined by multiplying (1) the Accumulated Value applied under that option (after application of any Market Value Adjustment and less premium tax, if any) divided by \$1,000, by (2) the applicable amount of the first monthly payment per \$1,000 of value.
- For commutable period certain options and any noncommutable fixed period certain option of less than ten years, the dollar amount is determined by multiplying (1) the Surrender Value less premium taxes, if any, applied under that option (after application of any Market Value Adjustment and less premium tax, if any) divided by \$1,000, by (2) the applicable amount of the first monthly payment per \$1,000 of value.
- For a death benefit annuity, the annuity value will be the amount of the death benefit.

The first periodic annuity benefit payment is based upon the Accumulated Value as of a date not more than four weeks preceding the date that the first annuity benefit payment is due. The Company transmits variable annuity benefit payments for receipt by the payee by the first of a month. Variable annuity benefit payments are currently based on unit values as of the 15th day of the preceding month.

The Annuity Unit. On and after the Annuity Date, the Annuity Unit is a measure of the value of the monthly annuity benefit payments under a variable annuity option. The value of an Annuity Unit in each Sub-Account initially was set at \$1.00. The value of an Annuity Unit under a Sub-Account on any Valuation Date thereafter is equal to the value of such unit on the immediately preceding Valuation Date, multiplied by the net investment factor of the Sub-Account for the current Valuation Period and divided by the assumed interest rate for the current Valuation Period The assumed interest rate, discussed below, is incorporated in the variable annuity options offered in the Contract.

**Determination of the Number of Annuity Units.** The dollar amount of the first variable annuity benefit payment is divided by the value of an Annuity Unit of the selected Sub-Account(s) to determine the number of Annuity Units represented by the first payment. This number of Annuity Units remains fixed under all annuity options except the joint and two-thirds survivor annuity option.

**Dollar Amount of Subsequent Variable Annuity Benefit Payments.** The dollar amount of each periodic variable annuity benefit payment after the first will vary with the value of the Annuity Units of the selected Sub-Account(s). The dollar amount of each subsequent variable annuity benefit payment is determined by multiplying the fixed number of Annuity Units (derived from the dollar amount of the first payment, as described above) with respect to a Sub-Account by the value of an Annuity Unit of that Sub-Account on the applicable Valuation Date.

The variable annuity options offered by the Company are based on a 3.5% assumed interest rate, which affects the amounts of the variable annuity benefit payments. Variable annuity benefit payments with respect to a Sub-Account will increase over periods when the actual net investment result of the Sub-Account exceeds the equivalent of the assumed interest rate. Variable annuity benefit payments will decrease over periods when the actual net investment results are less than the equivalent of the assumed interest rate.

For an illustration of a calculation of a variable annuity benefit payment using a hypothetical example, see "Annuity Benefit Payments" in the SAI.

## OPTIONAL ENHANCED EARNINGS RIDER

The Enhanced Earnings Rider (EER) may have been elected at issue in most jurisdictions as long as the Annuitant had not yet attained age 76. The Rider provides for additional amounts to be paid to the beneficiary under certain circumstances in the event that the Annuitant dies prior to the Annuity Date. For specific charges see "OPTIONAL RIDER CHARGE" under CHARGES AND DEDUCTIONS.

The Company reserves the right to terminate the availability of the EER at any time; however, such a termination would not effect Riders issued prior to the termination date.

## Conditions for Payment of the EER Benefit

For any benefit to be payable under the EER, certain conditions must be met, as follows:

- 1. The death must occur prior to the Annuity Date.
- 2. The difference between (a) and (b) must be greater than zero, where:
  - (a) is the Accumulated Value, and
  - (b) is gross payments not previously withdrawn.

#### If (a) minus (b) is zero or less, no benefit will be payable.

Under the EER, Accumulated Value is determined on the Valuation Date on which due proof of death and all necessary documentation have been received at the Service Office.

For purposes of the EER, withdrawals will be considered withdrawn from earnings first and then withdrawn from gross payments on a last-in, first-out basis. Therefore, the value of the EER largely depends on the amount of earnings that accumulate under the Contract. If you expect to withdraw the earnings from your Accumulated Value, electing the EER may not be appropriate. Your financial representative can help you determine if the EER is appropriate in your circumstances.

## Amount of EER Benefit

Annuitant's Age at Issue—0 to 65—If a benefit is payable under the EER and the Contract was issued prior to the Annuitant's 66th birthday, the benefit will be equal to the lesser of:

- (a) 200% of gross payments not previously withdrawn. (For purposes of this calculation only, except for the Initial Payment, gross payments shall not include payments made under the Contract during the 12-month period immediately prior to the date of death.); or
- (b) 40% of the difference between the Accumulated Value and gross payments not previously withdrawn.

Annuitant's Age at Issue—66 to 70—If a benefit is payable under the EER and the Contract was issued on or after the Annuitant's 66th birthday and before his/her 71st birthday, the benefit will be equal to the lesser of:

- (a) 80% of gross payments not previously withdrawn. (For purposes of this calculation only, except for the Initial Payment, gross payments shall not include payments made under the Contract during the 12-month period immediately prior to the date of death.); or
- (b) 40% of the difference between the Accumulated Value and gross payments not previously withdrawn.

**Annuitant's Age at Issue—71 to 75**—If a benefit is payable under the EER and the Contract was issued on or after the Annuitant's 71st birthday and before his/her 76th birthday, the benefit will be equal to the **lesser** of:

- (a) 50% of gross payments not previously withdrawn. (For purposes of this calculation only, except for the Initial Payment, gross payments shall not include payments made under the Contract during the 12-month period immediately prior to the date of death.); or
- (b) 25% of the difference between the Accumulated Value and gross payments not previously withdrawn.

The EER benefit shall be paid in the same manner that the death benefit is paid prior to the Annuity Date.

#### **EXAMPLES**

**Example 1.** Assume that the Annuitant is 67 years old at the time the Contract is issued and selects the Enhanced Earnings Rider. The Owner makes an initial payment of \$100,000 and does not make any subsequent payments or take any withdrawals. Further assume that the Owner dies five years later and on the date that due proof of death and all necessary documentation are received by the Company the Accumulated Value is equal to \$150,000.

The EER benefit on that date is equal to the lesser of:

- (a) 80% of the gross payments (not previously withdrawn) made to the Contract (excluding payments made in the 12 months prior to the date of death) =  $(80\% \times 100,000) = \$80,000$ ; or
- (b) 40% of the difference between the Accumulated Value and the gross payments (not previously withdrawn) made to the contract =  $(40\% \times (150,000 100,000)) = \$20,000$

The EER benefit is equal to \$20,000 under (b), which is the lesser of \$80,000 ( $80\% \times 100,000$ ) and \$20,000 ( $40\% \times (150,000 - 100,000)$ ).

**Example 2.** Assume that the Annuitant is 67 years old at the time the Contract is issued and selects the Enhanced Earnings Rider. The Owner makes an initial payment of \$100,000 and does not make any subsequent payments or take any withdrawals. Further assume that the Owner dies ten years later and on the date that due proof of death and all necessary documentation are received by the Company the Accumulated Value is equal to \$250,000.

The EER benefit on that date is equal to the **lesser** of:

- (a) 80% of the gross payments (not previously withdrawn) made to the Contract (excluding payments made in the 12 months prior to the date of death) =  $(80\% \times $100,000) = $80,000$ ; or
- (b) 40% of the difference between the Accumulated Value and the gross payments (not previously withdrawn) made to the Contract =  $(40\% \times (\$250,000 \$100,000)) = \$60,000$

The EER benefit is equal to \$60,000 under (b), which is the lesser of \$80,000 ( $80\% \times $100,000$ ) and \$60,000 ( $40\% \times ($250,000 - $100,000)$ ).

**Example 3.** Assume that the Annuitant is 67 years old at the time the Contract is issued and selects the Enhanced Earnings Rider. The Owner makes an initial payment of \$100,000 and does not make any subsequent payments. Further assume that the Owner takes a \$15,000 withdrawal and that the Accumulated Value was equal to \$150,000 before the withdrawal was taken. Since there was \$50,000 of earnings in the Contract at the time of withdrawal, for purposes of the Enhanced Earnings Rider the withdrawal is considered to be a withdrawal of \$15,000 of earnings. Immediately after the withdrawal, the Accumulated Value is \$135,000 and the gross payments (not previously withdrawn) is \$100,000.

Immediately after the withdrawal, the EER benefit is equal to the lesser of:

- (a) 80% of the gross payments (not previously withdrawn) made to the Contract (excluding payments made in the 12 months prior to the date of death) =  $(80\% \times \$100,000) = \$80,000$ ; or
- (b) 40% of the difference between the Accumulated Value and the gross payments (not previously withdrawn) made to the contract =  $(40\% \times (\$135,000 \$100,000)) = \$14,000$

The EER benefit is equal to \$14,000 under (b), which is the lesser of \$80,000 ( $80\% \times 100,000$ ) and \$14,000 ( $40\% \times (\$135,000 - \$100,000)$ ).

**Example 4.** Assume that the Annuitant is 67 years old at the time the Contract is issued and selects the Enhanced Earnings Rider. The Owner makes an initial payment of \$100,000 and does not make any subsequent payments. Further assume that the Owner takes a \$65,000 withdrawal and that the Accumulated Value was equal to \$150,000 before the withdrawal was taken. Since there was \$50,000 of earnings in the Contract at the time of the withdrawal, for purposes of the Enhanced Earnings Rider the withdrawal of \$65,000 is considered to be a withdrawal of \$50,000 earnings and \$15,000 of gross payments. Immediately after the withdrawal, the Accumulated Value is \$85,000 and the gross payments (not previously withdrawn) is \$85,000.

Immediately after the withdrawal, the EER benefit is equal to the lesser of:

- (a) 80% of the gross payments (not previously withdrawn) made to the Contract (excluding payments made in the 12 months prior to the date of death) =  $(80\% \times \$85,000) = \$68,000$ ; or
- (b) 40% of the difference between the Accumulated Value and the gross payments (not previously withdrawn) made to the contract =  $(40\% \times (\$85,000 \$85,000)) = \$0$

The EER benefit is equal to \$0 under (b), which is the lesser of \$68,000 ( $80\% \times $85,000$ ) and \$0 ( $40\% \times ($85,000 - $85,000)$ ).

## Terminating the EER

Once the EER is chosen, it cannot be discontinued unless the underlying contract is surrendered, annuitized, or a death benefit is payable. The EER will terminate on the earliest of the following:

- 1. the Annuity Date;
- 2. the date the Contract is surrendered;
- 3. the date the Company determines a death benefit is payable; or
- 4. if the deceased Owner's spouse, who is the sole beneficiary, continues the contract.

If the payment of the death benefit is deferred under the Contract or if the Contract is continued by the deceased Owner's spouse, the amount of the EER benefit will be applied to the Contract through an allocation to the Sub-Account investing in the DWS Money Market Portfolio and the EER will terminate.

#### **NORRIS DECISION**

In the case of *Arizona Governing Committee v. Norris*, the United States Supreme Court ruled that, in connection with retirement benefit options offered under certain employer-sponsored employee benefit plans, annuity options based on sex-distinct actuarial tables are not permissible under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964. The ruling requires that benefits derived from contributions paid into a plan after August 1, 1983 be calculated without regard to the sex of the employee. Annuity benefits attributable to payments received by the Company under a Contract issued in connection with an employer-sponsored benefit plan affected by the *Norris* decision will be based on the greater of (1) the Company's unisex non-guaranteed current annuity option rates, or (2) the guaranteed unisex rates described in such Contract, regardless of whether the Annuitant is male or female.

#### COMPUTATION OF VALUES

The Accumulation Unit. Each net payment is allocated to the investment options selected by the Owner. Allocations to the Sub-Accounts are credited to the Contract in the form of Accumulation Units. Accumulation Units are credited separately for each Sub-Account. The number of Accumulation Units of each Sub-Account credited to the Contract is equal to the portion of the net payment allocated to the Sub-Account, divided by the dollar value of the applicable Accumulation Unit as of the Valuation Date the payment is received in good order at the Company's Service Office. The number of Accumulation Units resulting from each payment will remain fixed unless changed by a subsequent split of Accumulation Unit value, a transfer, a withdrawal, or surrender. The dollar value of an Accumulation Unit of each Sub-Account varies from Valuation Date to Valuation Date based on the investment experience of that Sub-Account, and will reflect the investment performance, expenses and charges of its Portfolios. The value of an Accumulation Unit was set at \$1.00 on the first Valuation Date for each Sub-Account.

Allocations to Guarantee Period Accounts and the Fixed Account are not converted into Accumulation Units, but are credited interest at a rate periodically set by the Company. See GUARANTEE PERIOD ACCOUNTS and APPENDIX A—MORE INFORMATION ABOUT THE FIXED ACCOUNT.

The Accumulated Value under the Contract is determined by (1) multiplying the number of Accumulation Units in each Sub-Account by the value of an Accumulation Unit of that Sub-Account on the Valuation Date, (2) adding the products, and (3) adding the amount of the accumulations in the Fixed Account and Guarantee Period Accounts, if any.

**Net Investment Factor.** The Net Investment Factor is an index that measures the investment performance of a Sub-Account from one Valuation Period to the next. This factor is equal to 1.000000 plus the result from dividing (1) by (2) and subtracting the sum of (3) and (4) where:

- (1) is the investment income of a Sub-Account for the Valuation Period, including realized or unrealized capital gains and losses during the Valuation Period, adjusted for provisions made for taxes, if any;
- (2) is the value of that Sub-Account's assets at the beginning of the Valuation Period;
- (3) is a charge for mortality and expense risks equal to 1.25% on an annual basis of the daily value of the Sub-Account's assets; and
- (4) is an administrative charge equal to 0.15% on an annual basis of the daily value of the Sub-Account's assets.

The dollar value of an Accumulation Unit as of a given Valuation Date is determined by multiplying the dollar value of the corresponding Accumulation Unit as of the immediately preceding Valuation Date by the appropriate net investment factor. For an illustration of Accumulation Unit calculation using a hypothetical example see the SAI.

## **CHARGES AND DEDUCTIONS**

Deductions under the Contract and charges against the assets of the Sub-Accounts are described below. Other deductions and expenses paid out of the assets of the Underlying Portfolios are described in the prospectuses and SAIs of the Underlying Portfolios.

## VARIABLE ACCOUNT DEDUCTIONS

Mortality and Expense Risk Charge. The Company assesses a charge against the assets of each Sub-Account to compensate for certain mortality and expense risks it has assumed. The charge is imposed during both the accumulation phase and the annuity payout phase. The mortality risk arises from the Company's guarantee that it will make annuity benefit payments in accordance with annuity rate provisions established at the time the Contract is issued for the life of the Annuitant (or in accordance with the annuity payout option selected), no matter how long the Annuitant (or other payee) lives and no matter how long all Annuitants as a class live. Therefore, the mortality charge is deducted during the annuity payout phase on all Contracts, including those that do not involve a life contingency, even though the Company does not bear direct mortality risk with respect to variable annuity settlement options that do not involve life contingencies. The expense risk arises from the Company's guarantee that the charges it makes will not exceed the limits described in the Contract and in this Prospectus.

If the charge for mortality and expense risks is not sufficient to cover actual mortality experience and expenses, the Company will absorb the losses. If expenses are less than the amounts provided to the Company by the charge, the difference will be a profit to the Company. To the extent this charge results in a profit to the Company, such profit will be available for use by the Company for, among other things, the payment of distribution, sales and other expenses.

The mortality and expense risk charge is assessed daily at an annual rate of 1.25% of each Sub-Account's assets. This charge may not be increased. Since mortality and expense risks involve future contingencies which are not subject to precise determination in advance, it is not feasible to identify specifically the portion of the charge which is applicable to each. The Company estimates that a reasonable allocation might be 0.85% for mortality risk and 0.40% for expense risk.

Administrative Expense Charge. The Company assesses each Sub-Account with a daily charge at an annual rate of 0.15% of the average daily net assets of the Sub-Account. This charge may not be increased. The charge is imposed during both the accumulation phase and the annuity payout phase. The daily administrative expense charge is assessed to help defray administrative expenses actually incurred in the administration of the Sub-Account. There is no direct relationship, however, between the amount of administrative expenses imposed on a given Contract and the amount of expenses actually attributable to that Contract.

Deductions for the Contract fee (described below under "CONTRACT FEE") and for the administrative expense charge are designed to reimburse the Company for the cost of administration and related expenses and are not expected to be a source of profit. The administrative functions and expense assumed by the Company in connection with the Variable Account and the Contract include, but are not limited to, clerical, accounting, actuarial and legal services, rent, postage, telephone, office equipment and supplies, expenses of preparing and printing registration statements, expense of preparing and typesetting prospectuses and the cost of printing prospectuses not allocable to sales expense, filing and other fees.

**Other Charges.** Because the Sub-Accounts hold shares of the Underlying Portfolios, the value of the net assets of the Sub-Accounts will reflect the investment advisory fee and other expenses incurred by the Underlying Portfolios. Management fee waivers and/or reimbursements may be in effect for certain or all of the Underlying Portfolios. The prospectuses and SAIs of the Underlying Portfolios contain

additional information concerning expenses of the Underlying Portfolios and should be read in conjunction with this Prospectus.

#### **CONTRACT FEE**

A \$35 Contract fee (a lower fee may apply in certain states) currently is deducted on the Contract anniversary date and upon full surrender of the Contract if the Accumulated Value is less than \$50,000 on the date assessed. The Contract fee is currently waived for Contracts issued to and maintained by the trustee of a 401(k) plan. The Company reserves the right to impose a Contract fee up to \$35 on Contracts issued to 401(k) plans but only with respect to Contracts issued after the date the waiver is no longer available. Where amounts have been allocated to more than one investment option, a percentage of the total Contract fee will be deducted from the value in each . The portion of the charge deducted from each investment option will be equal to the percentage which the value in that option bears to the Accumulated Value under the Contract. The deduction of the Contract fee from a Sub-Account will result in cancellation of a number of Accumulation Units equal in value to the percentage of the charge deducted from that Sub-Account.

Where permitted by law, the Contract fee also may be waived for Contracts where, on the issue date, either the Owner or the Annuitant is within the following classes of individuals:

- 1. employees and registered representatives of any broker-dealer which has entered into a sales agreement with the Company to sell the Contract;
- 2. employees of the Company, its affiliates and subsidiaries;
- 3. officers, directors, trustees and employees of any of the Underlying Portfolios;
- 4. investment managers or sub-advisers of the Underlying Portfolios;
- 5. and the spouses of and immediate family members residing in the same household with such eligible persons. "Immediate family members" means children, siblings, parents and grandparents.

#### **OPTIONAL RIDER CHARGE**

Subject to state availability, the Company offers an optional Enhanced Earnings Rider that the Owner may elect at issue if the Annuitant has not yet attained age 76. A separate monthly charge is made for the Rider through a pro-rata reduction of the Accumulated Value of the Sub-Accounts, the Fixed Account and the Guarantee Period Accounts. The pro-rata reduction is based on the relative value that the Accumulation Units of the Sub-Accounts, the dollar amounts in the Fixed Account and the dollar amounts in the Guarantee Period Accounts bear to the total Accumulated Value.

The applicable monthly charge for the Enhanced Earnings Rider is equal to the Accumulated Value on the last day of each month within which the Rider has been in effect multiplied by 1/12th of 0.30%. For a description of the Rider, see "OPTIONAL ENHANCED EARNINGS RIDER" under **DESCRIPTION OF THE CONTRACT.** 

If you elected one of the following riders prior to their discontinuance on 1/31/02, the applicable monthly charge is equal to the Accumulated Value on the last day of each month multiplied by  $1/12^{th}$  of the following:

Optional Minimum Guaranteed Annuity Payout (M-GAP) Rider with a ten-year waiting period:

Optional Minimum Guaranteed Annuity Payout (M-GAP) Rider with a fifteen-year waiting period:

0.25%

0.15%

For more information about the M-GAP Rider, see "DISCONTINUATION OF THE MINIMUM GUARANTEED ANNUITY PAYOUT (M-GAP) RIDER" in the SAI.

## PREMIUM TAXES

Some states and municipalities impose a premium tax on variable annuity contracts. State premium taxes currently range up to 3.5%. The Company makes a charge for state and municipal premium taxes, when applicable, and deducts the amount paid as a premium tax charge. The current practice of the Company is to deduct the premium tax charge in one of two ways:

- 1. if the premium tax was paid by the Company when payments were received, the premium tax charge may be deducted on a pro-rata basis when withdrawals are made, upon surrender of the Contract, or when annuity benefit payments begin (the Company reserves the right instead to deduct the premium tax charge for these Contracts at the time the payments are received); or
- 2. the premium tax charge is deducted in total when annuity benefit payments begin.

In no event will a deduction be taken before the Company has incurred a tax liability under applicable state law. If no amount for premium tax was deducted at the time the payment was received, but subsequently tax is determined to be due prior to the Annuity Date, the Company reserves the right to deduct the premium tax from the Contract's Accumulated Value at the time such determination is made.

## SURRENDER CHARGE

No charge for sales expense is deducted from payments at the time the payments are made. However, a surrender charge is deducted from the Accumulated Value of the Contract in the case of surrender and/or withdrawals or at the time annuity benefit payments begin, within certain time limits described below.

For purposes of determining the surrender charge, the Accumulated Value is divided into three categories: (1) New Payments—payments received by the Company during the six years preceding the date of the surrender; (2) Old Payments—accumulated payments invested in the Contract for more than six years; and (3) the amount available under the Withdrawal Without Surrender Charge provision. See "Withdrawal Without Surrender Charge" below. For purposes of determining the amount of any surrender charge, surrenders will be deemed to be taken first from amounts available as a Withdrawal Without Surrender Charge, if any; then from Old Payments, and then from New Payments. Amounts available as a Withdrawal Without Surrender Charge, followed by Old Payments, may be withdrawn from the Contract at any time without the imposition of a surrender charge. If a withdrawal is attributable all or in part to New Payments, a surrender charge may apply.

An Owner may withdraw the greater of 100% of cumulative earnings, or 15% of the Accumulated Value in any calendar year, without assessment of a Withdrawal Charge. If the Owner withdraws an amount in excess of the Withdrawal Without Surrender Charge amount in any calendar year, the excess may be subject to a Withdrawal Charge.

Charges for Surrender and Withdrawal. If the Contract is surrendered or if New Payments are withdrawn while the Contract is in force and before the Annuity Date, a surrender charge may be imposed. This charge never will be applied to earnings. The amount of the charge will depend upon the number of years that any New Payments, to which the withdrawal is attributed have remained credited under the Contract. Amounts withdrawn are deducted first from Old Payments. Then, for the purpose of calculating surrender charges for New Payments, all amounts withdrawn are assumed to be deducted first from the oldest New Payment and then from the next oldest New Payment and so on, until all New Payments have been exhausted pursuant to the first-in-first-out ("FIFO") method of

accounting. (See **FEDERAL TAX CONSIDERATIONS** for a discussion of how withdrawals are treated for income tax purposes.)

The Surrender Charge is as follows:

Complete Years From Date of Payment	Charge as Percentage of New Payments Withdrawn
Less than 1	. 7%
Less than 2	. 6%
Less than 3	. 5%
Less than 4	. 4%
Less than 5	. 3%
Less than 6	. 2%
Thereafter	. 0%

The amount withdrawn equals the amount requested by the Owner plus the surrender charge, if any. The charge is applied as a percentage of the New Payments withdrawn, but in no event will the total surrender charge exceed a maximum limit of 7% of total gross New Payments. Such total charge equals the aggregate of all applicable surrender charges for surrender, withdrawals and annuitization.

## WAIVER OF SURRENDER CHARGE AND ADDITIONAL AMOUNTS CREDITED

Physical Disability or Admission to Medical Care Facility. Where permitted by law, the Company will waive the surrender charge in the event that the Owner (or the Annuitant, if the Owner is not an individual) becomes physically disabled after the issue date of the Contract and before attaining age 65. The Company may require proof of such disability and continuing disability, including written confirmation of receipt and approval of any claim for Social Security Disability Benefits and reserves the right to obtain an examination by a licensed physician of its choice and at its expense. In addition, except in New Jersey where not permitted by state law, the Company will waive the surrender charge in the event that an Owner (or the Annuitant, if the Owner is not an individual) is: (1) admitted to a medical care facility after the issue date and remains confined there until the later of one year after the issue date or 90 consecutive days or (2) first diagnosed by a licensed physician as having a fatal illness after the issue date of the Contract.

For purposes of the above provision, "medical care facility" means any state-licensed facility (or, in a state that does not require licensing, a facility that is operating pursuant to state law) providing medically necessary in-patient care which is prescribed in writing by a licensed "physician" and based on physical limitations which prohibit daily living in a non-institutional setting; "fatal illness" means a condition diagnosed by a licensed physician which is expected to result in death within two years of the diagnosis; and "physician" means a person other than the Owner, Annuitant or a member of one of their families who is state licensed to give medical care or treatment and is acting within the scope of that license.

Where surrender charges have been waived under any of the situations discussed above, no additional payments under the Contract will be accepted.

**Other Reductions or Eliminations of Surrender Charges.** From time to time, the Company may allow a reduction in or elimination of the surrender charges, the period during which the charges apply, or both, and/or credit additional amounts on Contracts, when Contracts are sold to individuals or groups of individuals in a manner that reduces sales expenses. The Company will consider factors such as the following:

- the size and type of group or class, and the persistency expected from that group or class;
- the total amount of payments to be received and the manner in which payments are remitted;

- the purpose for which the Contracts are being purchased and whether that purpose makes it likely that costs and expenses will be reduced;
- other transactions where sales expenses are likely to be reduced; or
- the level of commissions paid to selling broker-dealers or certain financial institutions with respect to Contracts within the same group or class (for example, broker-dealers who offer this Contract in connection with financial planning services offered on a fee-for-service basis).

The Company also may reduce or waive the surrender charge, and/or credit additional amounts on the Contract where either the Owner or the Annuitant on the date of issue is within the following class of individuals ("eligible persons"):

- employees and registered representatives of any broker-dealer which has entered into a Sales Agreement with the Company to sell the Contract;
- employees of the Company, its affiliates or subsidiaries;
- officers, directors, trustees and employees of any of the Underlying Portfolios, investment managers or sub-advisers of the Underlying Portfolios; and
- the spouses of and immediate family members residing in the same household with such eligible persons. "Immediate family members" means children, siblings, parents and grandparents.

Finally, if permitted under state law, surrender charges may be waived under Section 403(b) Contracts where the amount withdrawn is being contributed to a life insurance policy issued by the Company as part of the individual's Section 403(b) plan.

Any reduction or elimination in the amount or duration of the surrender charge will not discriminate unfairly among purchasers of the Contract. The Company will not make any changes to this charge where prohibited by law.

Withdrawal Without Surrender Charge. In each calendar year, including the calendar year in which the Contract is issued, the Company will waive the surrender charge, if any, on an amount ("Withdrawal Without Surrender Charge Amount") equal to the greatest of (1), (2) or (3):

- Where (1) is: 100% of Cumulative Earnings (calculated as the Accumulated Value as of the Valuation Date the Company receives the withdrawal request, or the following day) reduced by the total gross payments not previously withdrawn);
- Where (2) is: 15% of the Accumulated Value as of the Valuation Date the Company receives the withdrawal request, or the following day, reduced by the total amount of any prior withdrawals made in the same calendar year to which no surrender charge was applied;
- Where (3) is: the amount calculated under the Company's life expectancy distribution (LED) option (see Life Expectancy Distributions, above) whether or not the withdrawal was part of such distribution (applies only if Annuitant is also an Owner).

For example, an 81-year-old Owner/Annuitant with an Accumulated Value of \$15,000, of which \$1,000 is Cumulative Earnings, would have a Withdrawal Without Surrender Charge Amount of \$2,250, which is equal to the greatest of:

- (1) Cumulative Earnings (\$1,000);
- (2) 15% of Accumulated Value (\$2,250); or
- (3) LED distribution of 10.2% of Accumulated Value (\$1,530).

The Withdrawal Without Surrender Charge Amount will be deducted first from Cumulative Earnings. If the Withdrawal Without Surrender Charge Amount exceeds Cumulative Earnings, the excess amount

will be deemed withdrawn from payments not previously withdrawn on a last-in-first-out ("LIFO") basis. This means that the last payments credited to the Contract will be withdrawn first. If more than one withdrawal is made during the year, on each subsequent withdrawal the Company will waive the surrender charge, if any, until the entire Withdrawal Without Surrender Charge Amount has been withdrawn. Amounts withdrawn from a Guarantee Period Account prior to the end of the applicable Guarantee Period may be subject to a Market Value Adjustment.

**Surrenders.** In the case of a complete surrender, the amount received by the Owner is equal to the Surrender Value under the Contract, net of any applicable tax withholding. Subject to the same rules applicable to withdrawals, the Company will not assess a surrender charge on an amount equal to the highest Withdrawal Without Surrender Charge Amount, described above.

Where an Owner who is a trustee under a pension plan surrenders, in whole or in part, a Contract on a terminating employee, the trustee will be permitted to reallocate all or a part of the total Accumulated Value under the Contract to other contracts issued by the Company and owned by the trustee, with no deduction for any otherwise applicable surrender charge. Any such reallocation will be at the unit values for the Sub-Accounts as of the Valuation Date on which a written, signed request is received at the Service Office.

For further information on surrender and withdrawals, including minimum limits on amount withdrawn and amount remaining under the Contract in the case of withdrawals, and important tax considerations, see "SURRENDER" and "WITHDRAWALS" under **DESCRIPTION OF THE CONTRACT**.

Charge at the Time Annuity Benefit Payments Begin. If the Owner chooses any commutable period certain option or a noncommutable fixed period certain option for less than ten years, a surrender charge will be deducted from the Accumulated Value of the Contract if the Annuity Date occurs at any time when a surrender charge would still apply had the Contract been surrendered on the Annuity Date. (See discussion of period certain variable annuity under "DESCRIPTION OF VARIABLE ANNUITY PAYOUT OPTIONS.")

No surrender charge is imposed at the time of annuitization in any Contract year under an option involving a life contingency or for any noncommutable fixed period certain option for ten years or more. A Market Value Adjustment, however, may apply. See **GUARANTEE PERIOD ACCOUNTS**. If an owner of a fixed annuity contract issued by the Company wishes to elect a variable annuity payout option, the Company may permit such owner to exchange, at the time of annuitization, the fixed contract for a Contract offered in this Prospectus. The proceeds of the fixed contract, minus any surrender charge applicable under the fixed contract if a period certain option is chosen, will be applied towards the variable annuity option desired by the owner. The number of Annuity Units under the option will be calculated using the Annuity Unit values as of the 15th of the month preceding the Annuity Date.

## TRANSFER CHARGE

The first 12 transfers in a Contract are guaranteed to year be free of any transfer charge, The Company does not currently charge for additional transfers but reserves the right to assess a charge, guaranteed never to exceed \$25, to reimburse it for the expense of processing transfers. For more information, see "TRANSFER PRIVILEGE" under **DESCRIPTION OF THE CONTRACT**.

#### **GUARANTEE PERIOD ACCOUNTS**

Due to certain exemptive and exclusionary provisions in the securities laws, interests in the Guarantee Period Accounts and the Company's Fixed Account are not registered as an investment company under the provisions of the Securities Act of 1933 (the "1933 Act") or the 1940 Act. Accordingly, the staff of the SEC has not reviewed the disclosures in this Prospectus relating to the Guarantee Period Accounts or the Fixed Account. Nevertheless, disclosures regarding the Guarantee Period Accounts and the Fixed Account of the Contract or any benefits offered under these accounts may be subject to the provisions of the 1933 Act relating to the accuracy and completeness of statements made in the Prospectus.

Investment Options. In most jurisdictions, there currently are nine Guarantee Periods available under the Contract with durations of two, three, four, five, six, seven, eight, nine and ten years. Each Guarantee Period Account established for the Owner is accounted for separately in a non-unitized segregated account, except in California where it is accounted for in the Company's General Account. Each Guarantee Period Account provides for the accumulation of interest at a Guaranteed Interest Rate. The Guaranteed Interest Rate on amounts allocated or transferred to a Guarantee Period Account is determined from time to time by the Company in accordance with market conditions; however, once an interest rate is in effect for a Guarantee Period Account, the Company may not change it during the duration of the Guarantee Period. In no event will the Guaranteed Interest Rate be less than 3%.

To the extent permitted by law, the Company reserves the right at any time to offer Guarantee Periods with durations that differ from those which were available when a Contract initially was issued and to stop accepting new allocations, transfers or renewals to a particular Guarantee Period. Owners may allocate net payments or make transfers from any of the Sub-Accounts, the Fixed Account or an existing Guarantee Period Account to establish a new Guarantee Period Account at any time prior to the Annuity Date. Transfers from a Guarantee Period Account on any date other than on the day following the expiration of that Guarantee Period will be subject to a Market Value Adjustment. The Company establishes a separate investment account each time the Owner allocates or transfers amounts to a Guarantee Period Account except that amounts allocated to the same Guarantee Period on the same day will be treated as one Guarantee Period Account. The minimum that may be allocated to establish a Guarantee Period Account is \$1,000. If less than \$1,000 is allocated, the Company reserves the right to apply that amount to the Sub-Account investing in the DWS Money Market Portfolio. The Owner may allocate amounts to any of the Guarantee Periods available.

At least 45 days, but not more than 75 days, prior to the end of a Guarantee Period, the Company will notify the Owner in writing of the expiration of that Guarantee Period. At the end of a Guarantee Period the Owner may transfer amounts to the Sub-Accounts, the Fixed Account or establish a new Guarantee Period Account of any duration then offered by the Company without a Market Value Adjustment. If reallocation instructions are not received at the Service Office before the end of a Guarantee Period, the account value automatically will be applied to a new Guarantee Period Account with the same duration unless (1) less than \$1,000 would remain in the Guarantee Period Account on its expiration date, or (2) the Guarantee Period would extend beyond the Annuity Date or is no longer available. In such cases, the Guarantee Period Account value will be transferred to the Sub-Account investing in the DWS Money Market Portfolio. Where amounts have been renewed automatically in a new Guarantee Period, the Company currently gives the Owner an additional 30 days to transfer out of the Guarantee Period Account without application of a Market Value Adjustment. This practice may be discontinued or changed with notice at the Company's discretion.

**Market Value Adjustment.** No Market Value Adjustment will be applied to transfers, withdrawals or a surrender from a Guarantee Period Account on the expiration of its Guarantee Period. No Market Value Adjustment applies to amounts deducted for Contract fees or Rider charges. In addition, no

negative Market Value Adjustment will be applied to a death benefit, although a positive Market Value Adjustment, if any, will be applied to increase the value of the death benefit when based on the Contract's Accumulated Value. See "DEATH BENEFIT" under **DESCRIPTION OF THE CONTRACT**. Market Value Adjustment will apply to all other transfers, withdrawals or a surrender. Amounts applied under an annuity option are treated as withdrawals when calculating the Market Value Adjustment. The Market Value Adjustment will be determined by multiplying the amount taken from each Guarantee Period Account before deduction of any surrender charge by the market value factor. The market value factor for each Guarantee Period Account is equal to:

$$[(1+i)/(1+j)]^{n/365}-1$$

where: i is the Guaranteed Interest Rate expressed as a decimal (for example: 3% = 0.03) being credited to the current Guarantee Period;

- j is the new Guaranteed Interest Rate, expressed as a decimal, for a Guarantee Period with a duration equal to the number of years remaining in the current Guarantee Period, rounded to the next higher number of whole years. If that rate is not available, the Company will use a suitable rate or index allowed by the Department of Insurance; and
- n is the number of days remaining from the Effective Valuation Date to the end of the current Guarantee Period.

Based on the application of this formula, if the then current market rates are lower than the rate being credited to the Guarantee Period Account, the value of a Guarantee Period Account will **increase** after the Market Value Adjustment is applied. If the then current market rates are higher than the rate being credited to the Guarantee Period Account, the value of a Guarantee Period Account will **decrease** after the Market Value Adjustment is applied.

The Market Value Adjustment is limited, however, so that even if the account value is decreased after application of a Market Value Adjustment, it will equal or exceed the Owner's principal plus 3% earnings per year less applicable Contract fees. Conversely, if the then current market rates are lower and the account value is increased after the Market Value Adjustment is applied, the increase in value also is affected by the minimum guaranteed rate of 3% such that the amount that will be added to the Guarantee Period Account is limited to the difference between the amount earned and the 3% minimum guaranteed earnings. For examples of how the Market Value Adjustment works, See APPENDIX B—SURRENDER CHARGES AND THE MARKET VALUE ADJUSTMENT.

Program to Protect Principal and Provide Growth Potential. Under this feature, the Owner elects a Guarantee Period and one or more Sub-Accounts. The Company will then compute the proportion of the initial payment that must be allocated to the Guarantee Period selected, assuming no transfers or withdrawals, in order to ensure that the value in the Guarantee Period Account on the last day of the Guarantee Period will equal the amount of the initial payment, *less any Contract fees or charges that are applicable to the Guarantee Period Accounts*. The required amount then will be allocated to the pre-selected Guarantee Period Account and the remaining balance to the other investment options selected by the Owner in accordance with the procedures described in "PAYMENTS" under DESCRIPTION OF THE CONTRACT. Unless the Company is notified otherwise, if a subsequent payment is made after the Program to Protect Principal and Provide Growth Potential has been selected and during the Guarantee Period, such payment will be allocated among the selected Sub-Accounts only. If you want the subsequent payment to be allocated to a new Guarantee Period Account while enrolled in the Program, you must provide payment allocation instructions to the Company that include (1) the Guarantee Period and (2) the dollar or percentage amount you want allocated to that Guarantee Period Account.

Withdrawals. Prior to the Annuity Date, the Owner may make withdrawals of amounts held in the Guarantee Period Accounts. Withdrawals from these accounts will be made in the same manner and be subject to the same rules as set forth under "SURRENDER" and "WITHDRAWALS" under DESCRIPTION OF THE CONTRACT. In addition, the following provisions also apply to withdrawals from a Guarantee Period Account: (1) a Market Value Adjustment will apply to all withdrawals, including Withdrawals without Surrender Charge, unless made at the end of the Guarantee Period; and (2) the Company reserves the right to defer payments of amounts withdrawn from a Guarantee Period Account for up to six months from the date it receives the withdrawal request. If deferred for 30 days or more, the Company will pay interest on the amount deferred at a rate of at least 3%.

In the event that a Market Value Adjustment applies to a withdrawal of a portion of the value of a Guarantee Period Account, it will be calculated on the amount requested and deducted or added to the amount remaining in the Guarantee Period Account. If the entire amount in a Guarantee Period Account is requested, the adjustment will be made to the amount payable. If a surrender charge applies to the withdrawal, it will be calculated as set forth in "SURRENDER CHARGE" under CHARGES AND DEDUCTIONS after application of the Market Value Adjustment.

#### FEDERAL TAX CONSIDERATIONS

#### A. INTRODUCTION

This discussion is not exhaustive and is not intended as tax advice. A qualified tax adviser should always be consulted with regard to the application of the law to individual circumstances. This discussion is based on the Code, Treasury Department regulations, and interpretations existing on the date of this Prospectus. These authorities, however, are subject to change by Congress, the Treasury Department, and the courts.

This discussion does not address state or local tax consequences, nor federal estate or gift tax consequences, associated with buying a Contract. In addition, we make no guarantee regarding any tax treatment—federal, state, or local—of any Contract or of any transaction involving a Contract.

## **B. OUR TAX STATUS**

The Company is taxed as a life insurance company and the operations of the Separate Account are treated as a part of our total operations. The Separate Account is not separately taxed as a "regulated investment company." Investment income and capital gains of the Separate Account are not taxed to the extent they are applied under a contract. We do not anticipate that we will incur federal income tax liability attributable to the income and gains of the Separate Account, and therefore we do not intend to provide for these taxes. If we are taxed on investment income or capital gains of the Separate Account, then we may charge the Separate Account to pay these taxes.

#### C. TAXATION OF ANNUITIES IN GENERAL

## 1. Tax Deferral During Accumulation Period

Under the Code, except as described below, increases in the Contract Value of a Non-Qualified Contract are generally not taxable to the Owner or Annuitant until received as annuity payments or otherwise distributed. However, certain requirements must be satisfied for this general rule to apply, including:

- the Contract must be owned by an individual,
- Separate Account investments must be "adequately diversified",
- we, rather than you, must be considered the Owner of Separate Account assets for federal tax purposes, and
- annuity payments must appropriately amortize Purchase Payments and Contract earnings.

Non-natural Owner. As a general rule, deferred annuity contracts held by "non-natural persons", such as corporations, trusts or similar entities, are not annuity contracts for federal income tax purposes. The investment income on these contracts is taxed each year as ordinary income received or accrued by the non-natural Owner. There are exceptions to this general rule for non-natural Owners. Contracts are generally treated as held by a natural person if the nominal Owner is a trust or other entity holding the contract as an agent for a natural person. However, this special exception does not apply to an employer who is the nominal Owner of a contract under a non-qualified deferred compensation plan for its employees.

Additional exceptions to this rule include:

- certain Contracts acquired by a decedent's estate due to the death of the decedent,
- certain Qualified Contracts,
- certain Contracts used with structured settlement agreements, and

• certain Contracts purchased with a single premium when the Annuity Date is no later than one year from Contract purchase and substantially equal periodic payments are made at least annually.

Diversification Requirements. For a Contract to be treated as an annuity for federal income tax purposes, separate account investments must be "adequately diversified". The Treasury Secretary issued regulations prescribing standards for adequately diversifying separate account investments. If the Separate Account failed to comply with these diversification standards, the contract would not be treated as an annuity contract for federal income tax purposes and the Owner would generally be taxed on the difference between the contract value and the Purchase Payments.

Although we do not control Fund investments, we expect that each Fund will comply with these regulations so that each Subaccount of the Separate Account will be considered "adequately diversified."

Ownership Treatment. In some circumstances, owners of variable contracts who retain excessive control over the investment of the underlying separate account assets may be treated as the owners of those assets and may be subject to tax on income produced by those assets. Although published guidance in this area does not address certain aspects of the Contracts, we believe that the Owner of a Contract should generally not be treated as the owner of any assets in the Separate Account, see, however, the discussion below on Publicly Available Funds. We reserve the right to modify the Contracts to bring them into conformity with applicable standards should such modification be necessary to prevent Owners of the Contracts from being treated as the owners of the underlying Separate Account assets.

Required Distributions. In order to be treated as an annuity contract for federal income tax purposes, Section 72(s) of the Code requires any Non-Qualified Contract to contain certain provisions specifying how your interest in the Contract will be distributed in the event of the death of an Owner. Specifically, Section 72(s) requires that (a) if any Owner dies on or after the Annuity Date, but prior to the time the entire interest in the Contract has been distributed, the entire interest in the Contract will be distributed at least as rapidly as under the method of distribution being used as of the date of such Owner's death; and (b) if any Owner dies prior to the Annuity Date, the entire interest in the Contract will be distributed within five years after the date of such Owner's death. These requirements will be considered satisfied as to any portion of an Owner's interest which is payable to or for the benefit of a designated Beneficiary and which is distributed over the life of such designated Beneficiary or over a period not extending beyond the life expectancy of that Beneficiary, provided that such distributions begin within one year of the Owner's death. The designated Beneficiary refers to a natural person designated by the Owner as a Beneficiary and to whom ownership of the Contract passes by reason of death. However, if the designated Beneficiary is the surviving spouse of the deceased Owner, the Contract may be continued with the surviving spouse as the new Owner.

The Non-Qualified Contracts contain provisions that are intended to comply with these Code requirements, although no regulations interpreting these requirements have yet been issued. We intend to review such provisions and modify them if necessary to assure that they comply with the applicable requirements when such requirements are clarified by regulation or otherwise.

Other rules may apply to Qualified Contracts.

Federal Defense of Marriage Act. The right of a spouse to continue the Contract, and all Contract provisions relating to spousal continuation are available only to a person who meets the definition of "spouse" under Federal law. The Federal Defense of Marriage Act currently does not recognize same-sex marriages or civil unions, even those which are permitted under individual state laws. Therefore the spousal continuation provisions of this Contract will not be available to such partners or same sex marriage spouses. Consult a tax advisor for more information on this subject.

Transfers, Assignments, or Exchanges of a Contract. A transfer or assignment of ownership of a Contract, the designation of an Annuitant, the selection of certain Annuity Dates, or the exchange of a Contract may result in certain tax consequences to you that are not discussed herein. An Owner contemplating any such transfer, assignment, or exchange, should consult a tax advisor as to the tax consequences.

Delayed Annuity Dates. If the Annuity Date occurs (or is scheduled to occur) when the Annuitant has reached an advanced age, the Contract might not be treated as an annuity for federal income tax purposes. In that event, the income and gains under the Contract would be currently includible in your income.

The following discussion assumes that the Contract is treated as an annuity contract for tax purposes and that we are treated as the Owner of Separate Account assets.

#### 2. Taxation of Partial and Full Withdrawals

Partial withdrawals from a Non-Qualified Contract are includible in income to the extent the Contract Value exceeds the "investment in the contract". This amount is referred to as the "income on the contract". Full withdrawals are also includible in income to the extent they exceed the "investment in the contract." Investment in the contract equals the total of Purchase Payments minus any amounts previously received from the Contract that were not includible in your income. All amounts includible in income with respect to the Contract are taxed as ordinary income.

Any assignment or pledge (or agreement to assign or pledge) of Contract Value is treated as a withdrawal. Investment in the contract is increased by the amount includible in income with respect to such assignment or pledge. If you transfer a contract interest, without adequate consideration, to someone other than your spouse (or to a former spouse incident to divorce), you will be taxed on the income on the contract. In this case, the transferee's investment in the contract is increased to reflect the increase in your income.

There may be special income tax issues present in situations where the Owner and the Annuitant are not the same person and are not married to one another. A tax adviser should be consulted in those situations.

Other rules may apply to Qualified Contracts.

## 3. Taxation of Annuity Payments

Normally, the portion of each annuity payment taxable as ordinary income equals the payment minus the exclusion amount. The exclusion amount for annuity payments is the payment times the ratio of the investment in the contract allocated to the Annuity Option and adjusted for any period certain or refund feature, to the expected value of the annuity payments.

Once the total amount of the investment in the contract has been recovered, annuity payments will be fully taxable. If annuity payments stop because the Annuitant dies before the total amount of the investment in the contract is recovered, the unrecovered amount generally is allowed as a deduction to the Annuitant in the last taxable year.

#### 4. Taxation of Death Benefit

Amounts may be distributed upon your or the Annuitant's death. A death benefit is includible in income and:

- if distributed in a lump sum is taxed like a full withdrawal, or
- if distributed under an Annuity Option is taxed like annuity payments.

## 5. Penalty Tax on Premature Distributions

A 10% penalty tax applies to a taxable payment from a Non-Qualified Contract unless:

- received on or after you reach age 59½,
- · received due to your disability,
- made to a Beneficiary after your death or, for non-natural Owners, after the primary Annuitant's death,
- made as a series of substantially equal periodic payments (at least annually) for your life (or life expectancy) or for the joint lives (or joint life expectancies) of you and a designated Beneficiary (within the meaning of the tax law),
- made under a Contract purchased with a single premium when the Annuity Date is no later than one year from Contract purchase and substantially equal periodic payments are made at least annually,
- made with annuities used with certain structured settlement agreements.

Other exceptions may apply.

## 6. Aggregation of Contracts

The taxable amount of an annuity payment or withdrawal from a Non-Qualified Contract may be determined by combining some or all of the Non-Qualified Contracts you own. For example, if you purchase a Contract and also purchase an immediate annuity at approximately the same time, the IRS may treat the two contracts as one contract. Similarly, if a person transfers part of his interest in one annuity contract to purchase another annuity contract, the IRS might treat the two contracts as one contract. In addition, if you purchase two or more Non-Qualified deferred annuity contracts from the same company (or its affiliates) during any calendar year, these contracts are treated as one contract. The effects of this aggregation are not always clear. However, it could affect the taxable amount of an annuity payment or withdrawal and the amount which might be subject to the 10% penalty tax.

## 7. Exchange of Annuity Contracts

We may issue the Contract in exchange for all or part of another annuity contract that you own. Such an exchange will be tax free if certain requirements are satisfied. If the exchange is tax free, your investment in the contract immediately after the exchange will generally be the same as that of the annuity contract exchanged, increased by any additional Purchase Payment made as part of the exchange. Your Contract Value immediately after the exchange may exceed your investment in the contract. That excess may be includible in income should amounts subsequently be withdrawn or distributed from the Contract (e.g., as a partial surrender, full surrender, annuity income payment, or death benefit). If you exchange part of an existing annuity contract for the Contract, the IRS might treat the two contracts as one annuity contract in certain circumstances. (See "Aggregation of Contracts") You should consult your tax adviser in connection with an exchange of all or part of an annuity contract for the Contract.

# D. QUALIFIED PLANS

Currently, the Contracts are also available for use in connection with retirement plans which receive favorable treatment under Sections 401, 403, 408, 408A or 457 of the Code. Contracts offered for use in connection with retirement plans that receive favorable treatment under Sections 401, 403, 408, 408A or 457 of the Code ("Qualified Plans") are referred to as "Qualified Contracts." Numerous special tax rules apply to the participants in Qualified Plans and to Qualified Contracts. We make no attempt in

this Prospectus to provide more than general information about use of the Contract with the various types of Qualified Plans. *Persons intending to use the contract in connection with qualified plans should consult a tax adviser.* 

Under the Code, qualified plans generally enjoy tax-deferred accumulation amounts invested in the plan. Therefore, in considering whether or not to purchase a Contract in a qualified plan, you should consider the Contract's features other than tax deferral, including the availability of lifetime annuity payments.

The tax rules applicable to Qualified Plans vary according to the type of plan and the terms and conditions of the plan. For example, for both withdrawals and annuity payments under certain Qualified Contracts, there may be no "investment in the contract" and the total amount received may be taxable. Both the amount of the contribution that may be made, and the tax deduction or exclusion that you may claim for such contribution, are limited under Qualified Plans. If the Contract is used with a Qualified Plan, you and the Annuitant must be the same individual. If a joint Annuitant is named, all distributions made while the Annuitant is alive must be made to the Annuitant. Also, if a joint Annuitant is named who is not the Annuitant's spouse, the Annuity Options which are available may be limited, depending on the difference in their ages. Furthermore, the length of any guarantee period may be limited in some circumstances to satisfy certain minimum distribution requirements under the Code.

Qualified Contracts are subject to special rules specifying the time at which distributions must begin and the amount that must be distributed each year. In the case of Individual Retirement Annuities, distributions of minimum amounts must generally begin by April 1 of the calendar year following the calendar year in which the Owner attains age 70½. The required beginning date for 401, 403 and 457 plans is the April 1 of the calendar year following the later of the year in which the Owner attains age 70½ or retires. There are no required minimum distributions during the Owner's lifetime under Roth IRAs. An excise tax is imposed for the failure to comply with the minimum distribution requirements. This excise tax generally equals 50% of the amount by which a minimum required distribution exceeds the actual distribution. The death benefit or other optional benefits under your Contract may affect the amount of the minimum required distribution that must be taken from your Contract. Pursuant to special legislation, required minimum distributions for the 2009 tax year generally are not required, and 2009 distributions that otherwise would be required minimum distributions may be eligible for rollover.

A 10% penalty tax may apply to the taxable amount of payments from Qualified Contracts. For Individual Retirement Annuities, the penalty tax does not apply, for example, to a payment:

- received after you reach age 59½,
- · received after your death or because of your disability, or
- made as a series of substantially equal periodic payments (at least annually) for your life (or life expectancy) or for the joint lives (or joint life expectancies) of you and your designated Beneficiary.

In addition, the penalty tax does not apply to certain distributions used for qualified first time home purchases, higher education expenses or qualified military reservist distributions. Special conditions must be met to qualify for these exceptions. If you wish to take a distribution for these purposes you should consult your tax adviser. Other exceptions may also be available.

Qualified Contracts are amended to conform to tax qualification requirements. However, you are cautioned that the rights of any person to any benefits under Qualified Plans may be subject to the terms and conditions of the plans themselves, regardless of the terms and conditions of the Contract. In addition, we are not bound by terms and conditions of Qualified Plans if they are inconsistent with the Contract.

## 1. Qualified Plan Types

Individual Retirement Annuities. The Code permits eligible individuals to contribute to an individual retirement annuity known as an "IRA." IRAs limit the amounts contributed, the persons eligible and the time when distributions start. Also, subject to direct rollover and mandatory withholding requirements, distributions from other types of qualified plans generally may be "rolled over" on a tax-deferred basis into an IRA. The Contract may not fund a "Coverdell Education Savings Account" (formerly known as an "Education IRA").

Simplified Employee Pensions (SEP IRAs). The Code allows employers to establish simplified employee pension plans, using the employees' IRAs. Under these plans the employer may make limited deductible contributions on behalf of the employees to IRAs. Employers and employees intending to use the Contract in connection with these plans should consult a tax adviser.

SIMPLE IRAs. The Code permits certain small employers to establish "SIMPLE retirement accounts," including SIMPLE IRAs, for their employees. Under SIMPLE IRAs, certain deductible contributions are made by both employees and employers. SIMPLE IRAs are subject to various requirements, including limits on the amounts that may be contributed, the persons who may be eligible, and the time when distributions may commence. Employers and employees intending to use the Contract in connection with these plans should consult a tax adviser.

Roth IRAs. The Code permits contributions to an IRA known as a "Roth IRA." Roth IRAs differ from other IRAs in certain respects, including:

- Roth IRA contributions are never deductible,
- "qualified distributions" from a Roth IRA are excludable from income,
- mandatory distribution rules do not apply before death,
- a rollover to a Roth IRA must be a "qualified rollover contribution," under the Code,
- special eligibility requirements apply, and
- contributions to a Roth IRA can be made after the Owner has reached age 70½.

All or part of an IRA may be converted into a Roth IRA without taking an actual distribution. You may convert by notifying the IRA issuer or trustee.. A conversion typically results in the inclusion of some or all of the IRA value in gross income, except that the 10% penalty tax does not apply on the conversion. A special rule permits taxation of Roth IRA conversions made during the 2010 tax year to be split between 2011 and 2012.

Any "qualified distribution", as defined in Code Section 408A, from a Roth IRA is excludible from gross income. A qualified distribution includes a distribution made after you reach age 59½, after your death, because of your disability, or made to a first-time homebuyer. A qualified distribution can only be made after the first five tax years after the year for which you (or your spouse) made a contribution to any Roth IRA established for your benefit.

Corporate and Self-employed ("H.R. 10" and "Keogh") Pension and Profit-Sharing Plans. The Code permits corporate employers to establish types of tax-favored retirement plans for employees. The Self-Employed Individuals Tax Retirement Act of 1962, as amended, commonly referred to as "H.R. 10" or "Keogh" permits self-employed individuals also to establish such tax-favored retirement plans for themselves and their employees. Such retirement plans may permit the purchase of the Contracts in order to provide benefits under the plans. Employers intending to use the Contract in connection with such plans should seek competent advice.

Tax-sheltered Annuities. Code Section 403(b) permits public school employees and employees of certain types of charitable, educational and scientific organizations to have their employers purchase annuity contracts for them and, subject to certain limitations, to exclude the amount of Purchase Payments from taxable gross income. These annuity contracts are commonly referred to as "tax-sheltered annuities". If you purchase a Contract for such purposes, you should seek competent advice as to eligibility, limitations on permissible amounts of Purchase Payments and other tax consequences associated with the Contracts.

Tax-sheltered annuity contracts must contain restrictions on withdrawals of:

- contributions made pursuant to a salary reduction agreement in years beginning after December 31, 1988,
- earnings on those contributions, and
- earnings after December 31, 1988 on amounts attributable to salary reduction contributions held as of December 31, 1988.

These amounts can be paid only if you have reached age 59½, severed employment, died, or becomes disabled (within the meaning of the tax law), or in the case of hardship (within the meaning of the tax law). Amounts permitted to be distributed in the event of hardship are limited to actual contributions; earnings thereon cannot be distributed on account of hardship. Amounts subject to the withdrawal restrictions applicable to Section 403(b)(7) custodial accounts may be subject to more stringent restrictions. (These limitations on withdrawals generally do not apply to the extent you direct us to transfer some or all of the Contract Value to the issuer of another tax-sheltered annuity or into a Section 403(b)(7) custodial account.)

For Contracts issued after December 31, 2008, amounts attributable to contributions other than salary reduction contributions generally may not be distributed before severance of employment or occurrence of an event specified in the employer's Section 403(b) plan.

Pursuant to new tax regulations, we generally are required to confirm, with your 403(b) plan sponsor or otherwise, that withdrawals, transfers, or surrenders you request from a 403(b) Contract comply with applicable tax requirements before we process your request.

Deferred Compensation Plans of State and Local Governments and Tax-Exempt Organizations. The Code permits employees of state and local governments and tax-exempt organizations to defer a portion of their compensation without paying current taxes. The employees must be participants in an eligible deferred compensation plan. Generally, a Contract purchased by a state or local government or a tax-exempt organization will not be treated as an annuity contract for federal income tax purposes. Those who intend to use the Contracts in connection with such plans should seek competent advice.

#### 2. Direct Rollovers

If the Contract is used with a retirement plan that is qualified under Sections 401(a), 403(a), or 403(b) of the Code or with an eligible government deferred compensation plan that is qualified under Section 457(b), any "eligible rollover distribution" from the Contract will be subject to "direct rollover" and mandatory withholding requirements. An eligible rollover distribution generally is any distribution from such a qualified retirement plan, excluding certain amounts such as:

- minimum distributions required under Section 401(a)(9) of the Code,
- certain distributions for life, life expectancy, or for ten years or more which are part of a "series of substantially equal periodic payments," and
- hardship distributions.

Under these requirements, federal income tax equal to 20% of the taxable portion of the eligible rollover distribution will be withheld from the amount of the distribution. Unlike withholding on certain other amounts distributed from the Contract, discussed below, you cannot elect out of withholding with respect to an eligible rollover distribution. However, this 20% withholding will not apply if, instead of receiving the eligible rollover distribution, you (or your beneficiary) elect to have it directly transferred to certain types of qualified retirement plans. Prior to receiving an eligible rollover distribution, a notice will be provided explaining generally the direct rollover and mandatory withholding requirements and how to avoid the 20% withholding by electing a direct rollover.

## E. FEDERAL INCOME TAX WITHHOLDING

We withhold and send to the U.S. Government a part of the taxable portion of each distribution unless you notify us before distribution of an available election not to have any amounts withheld. In certain circumstances, we may be required to withhold tax. The withholding rates for the taxable portion of periodic annuity payments are the same as the withholding rates for wage payments. In addition, the withholding rate for the taxable portion of non-periodic payments (including withdrawals prior to the maturity date and conversions of, or rollovers from, non-Roth IRAs to Roth IRAs) is 10%. The withholding rate for eligible rollover distributions is 20%.

#### F. OTHER TAX ISSUES

#### 1. Federal Estate Taxes

While no attempt is being made to discuss the federal estate tax implications of the Contract, a purchaser should keep in mind that the value of an annuity contract owned by a decedent and payable to a beneficiary by virtue of surviving the decedent is included in the decedent's gross estate. Depending on the terms of the annuity contract, the value of the annuity included in the gross estate may be the value of the lump sum payment payable to the designated beneficiary or the actuarial value of the payments to be received by the beneficiary. Consult an estate planning advisor for more information.

## 2. Generation-skipping Transfer Tax

Under certain circumstances, the Code may impose a "generation skipping transfer tax" when all or part of an annuity contract is transferred to, or a death benefit is paid to, an individual two or more generations younger than the Owner. Regulations issued under the Code may require us to deduct the tax from your Contract, or from any applicable payment, and pay it directly to the IRS.

## 3. Estate, Gift and Generation-Skipping Transfer Taxes in 2010.

In 2001, Congress enacted the Economic Growth and Tax Relief Reconciliation Act of 2001 ("EGTRRA"), which eliminated the estate tax (but not the gift tax) and replaced it with a carryover basis income tax regime for estates of decedents dying in 2010, and also eliminated the generation-skipping transfer tax for transfers made in 2010. Beginning in 2011, however, EGTRRA allowed the estate, gift and generation-skipping transfer taxes to return to their pre-EGTRRA form. Moreover, it is possible that Congress may enact legislation reinstating the estate and generation-skipping transfer taxes for 2010, possibly on a retroactive basis. The uncertainty as to future estate, gift and generation-skipping transfer taxes underscores the importance of seeking guidance from a qualified advisor to help ensure that your estate plan adequately addresses your needs and that of your beneficiaries under all possible scenarios.

#### 4. Medicare Tax.

Beginning in 2013, distributions from non-qualified annuity contracts will be considered "investment income" for purposes of the newly enacted Medicare tax on investment income. Thus, in certain circumstances, a 3.8% tax may be applied to some or all of the taxable portion of distributions (e.g. earnings) to individuals whose income exceeds certain threshold amounts (\$200,000 for filing single, \$250,000 for married filing jointly and \$125,000 for married filing separately). Please consult a tax advisor for more information.

## 5. Annuity Purchases by Residents of Puerto Rico

The Internal Revenue Service has ruled that income received by residents of Puerto Rico under life insurance or annuity contracts issued by a Puerto Rico branch of a United States life insurance company is U.S.-source income that is generally subject to United States federal income tax.

## 6. Annuity Purchases by Nonresident Aliens and Foreign Corporations

The discussion above provides general information regarding U.S. federal income tax consequences to annuity purchasers that are U.S. citizens or residents. Purchasers that are not U.S. citizens or residents will generally be subject to U.S. federal withholding tax on taxable distributions from annuity contracts at a 30% rate, unless a lower treaty rate applies. In addition, purchasers may be subject to state and/or municipal taxes and taxes that may be imposed by the purchaser's country of citizenship or residence. Prospective purchasers are advised to consult with a qualified tax adviser regarding U.S. state, and foreign taxation with respect to an annuity contract purchase.

## 7. Foreign Tax Credits

We may benefit from any foreign tax credits attributable to taxes paid by certain Funds to foreign jurisdictions to the extent permitted under federal tax law.

## 8. Possible Tax Law Changes

Although the likelihood of legislative changes is uncertain, there is always the possibility that the tax treatment of the Contract could change by legislation or otherwise. Consult a tax adviser with respect to legislative developments and their effect on the Contract. We have the right to modify the contract in response to legislative changes that could otherwise diminish the favorable tax treatment that annuity contract Owners currently receive. We make no guarantee regarding the tax status of any contact and do not intend the above discussion as tax advice.

#### STATEMENTS AND REPORTS

An Owner is sent a report semi-annually which provides certain financial information about the Portfolios. At least annually, the Company will furnish a statement to the Owner containing information about his or her Contract, including Accumulation Unit Values and other information as required by applicable law, rules and regulations. The Company will also send a confirmation statement to Owners each time a transaction is made affecting the Contract's Accumulated Value. (Certain transactions made under recurring payment plans such as Dollar Cost Averaging may in the future be confirmed quarterly rather than by immediate confirmations.)

The Owner should review the information in all statements carefully. All errors or corrections must be reported to the Company immediately to assure proper crediting to the Contract. The Company will assume that all transactions are accurately reported on confirmation statements and other statements unless the Owner notifies the Service Office in writing within 30 days after receipt of the statement.

## LOANS (QUALIFIED CONTRACTS ONLY)

Loans are available to owners of TSA Contracts (i.e., contracts issued under Section 403(b) of the Code) and to Contracts issued to plans qualified under Sections 401(a) and 401(k) of the Code. You must use a Company form to request a loan. You may obtain Company forms by calling 1-800-782-8380. Loans are subject to provisions of the Code and to applicable qualified retirement plan rules. Tax advisors and plan fiduciaries should be consulted prior to exercising loan privileges.

Loaned amounts will be withdrawn first from Sub-Account and Fixed Account values on a pro-rata basis until exhausted. Thereafter, any additional amounts will be withdrawn from the Guarantee Period Accounts (pro-rata by duration and LIFO within each duration), subject to any applicable Market Value Adjustments. The maximum loan amount will be determined under the Company's maximum loan formula. The minimum loan amount is \$1,000. Loans will be secured by a security interest in the Contract and the amount borrowed will be transferred to a loan asset account within the Company's General Account, where it will accrue interest at a specified rate below the then current loan rate. Generally, loans must be repaid within five years or less, and repayments must be made quarterly and in substantially equal amounts. Repayments will be allocated pro rata in accordance with the most recent payment allocation, except that any allocations to a Guarantee Period Account will be allocated to the DWS Money Market VIP instead.

While a loan is outstanding, you may continue to make purchase payments to the Contract through your 403(b) or qualified plan.

#### ADDITION, DELETION OR SUBSTITUTION OF INVESTMENTS

The Company reserves the right, subject to applicable law to make additions to, deletions from, or substitutions for the shares of a fund that are held in the Sub-Accounts or that the Sub-Accounts may purchase. If the shares of any Underlying Portfolio no longer are available for investment or if in the Company's judgment further investment in any Underlying Portfolio should become inappropriate in view of the purposes of the Variable Account or the affected Sub-Account, the Company may redeem the shares of that Underlying Portfolio and substitute shares of another registered open-end management company. The Company will not substitute any shares attributable to a Contract interest in a Sub-Account without notice to the Owner and prior approval of the SEC and state insurance authorities, to the extent required by the 1940 Act or other applicable law. The Variable Account may, to the extent permitted by law, purchase other securities for other contracts or permit a conversion between contracts upon request by an Owner.

The Company also reserves the right to establish additional Sub-Accounts of the Variable Account, each of which would invest in shares corresponding to a new portfolio or in shares of another investment company having a specified investment objective. Subject to applicable law and any required SEC approval, the Company may, in its sole discretion, establish new Sub-Accounts or eliminate one or more Sub-Accounts if marketing needs, tax considerations or investment conditions warrant. Any new Sub-Accounts may be made available to existing Owners on a basis to be determined by the Company.

Shares of the Underlying Portfolios also are issued to separate accounts of other insurance companies which issue variable life contracts ("mixed funding"). Shares of the Underlying Portfolios also are issued to other unaffiliated insurance companies ("shared funding"). It is conceivable that in the future such mixed funding or shared funding may be disadvantageous for variable life owners or variable annuity owners. Although the Company and the Underlying Portfolios do not currently foresee any such disadvantages to either variable life insurance owners or variable annuity owners, the Company and the trustees of the Underlying Portfolios intend to monitor events in order to identify any material conflicts between such Owners and to determine what action, if any, should be taken in response thereto. If the trustees were to conclude that separate portfolios should be established for variable life and variable annuity separate accounts, the Company will bear the attendant expenses.

The Company reserves the right, subject to compliance with applicable law, to:

- (1) transfer assets from the Variable Account or any of its Sub-Accounts to another of the Company's separate accounts or Sub-Accounts having assets of the same class,
- (2) to operate the Variable Account or any Sub-Account as a management investment company under the 1940 Act or in any other form permitted by law,
- (3) to deregister the Variable Account under the 1940 Act in accordance with the requirements of the 1940 Act,
- (4) to substitute the shares of any other registered investment company for the Underlying Portfolio shares held by a Sub-Account, in the event that Underlying Portfolio shares are unavailable for investment, or if the Company determines that further investment in such Underlying Portfolio shares is inappropriate in view of the purpose of the Sub-Account,
- (5) to change the methodology for determining the net investment factor,
- (6) to change the names of the Variable Account or of the Sub-Accounts, and
- (7) to combine with other Sub-Accounts or other Separate Accounts of the Company.

If any of these substitutions or changes are made, the Company may endorse the Contract to reflect the substitution or change, and will notify Owners of all such changes. In no event will the changes described above be made without notice to Owners in accordance with the 1940 Act.

#### CHANGES TO COMPLY WITH LAW AND AMENDMENTS

The Company reserves the right, without the consent of Owners, to suspend sales of the Contract as presently offered, and to make any change to provisions of the Contract to comply with, or give Owners the benefit of, any federal or state statute, rule or regulation, including but not limited to requirements for annuity contracts and retirement plans under the Code and pertinent regulations or any state statute or regulation. Any such changes will apply uniformly to all Contracts that are affected. You will be given written notice of such changes.

#### **VOTING RIGHTS**

The Company will vote Underlying Portfolio shares held by each Sub-Account in accordance with instructions received from Owners and, after the Annuity Date, from the Annuitants. Each person having a voting interest in a Sub-Account will be provided with proxy materials of the Underlying Portfolio, together with a form with which to give voting instructions to the Company. Shares for which no timely instructions are received will be voted in proportion to the instructions which are received. The Company also will vote shares in a Sub-Account that it owns and which are not attributable to the Contract in the same proportion. If the 1940 Act or any rules thereunder should be amended, or if the present interpretation of the 1940 Act or such rules should change, and as a result the Company determines that it is permitted to vote shares in its own right, whether or not such shares are attributable to the Contract, the Company reserves the right to do so.

The number of votes which an Owner or Annuitant may cast will be determined by the Company as of the record date established by the Underlying Portfolio. During the accumulation phase, the number of Underlying Portfolio shares attributable to each Owner will be determined by dividing the dollar value of the Accumulation Units of the Sub-Account credited to the Contract by the net asset value of one Portfolio share. During the annuity payout phase, the number of Underlying Portfolio shares attributable to each Annuitant will be determined by dividing the reserve held in each Sub-Account for the Annuitant's variable annuity by the net asset value of one Underlying Portfolio share. Ordinarily, the Annuitant's voting interest in the Underlying Portfolio will decrease as the reserve for the variable annuity is depleted.

#### **DISTRIBUTION**

Effective May 1, 2008, Epoch Securities, Inc. ("Epoch" or "Principal Underwriter"), a Delaware company located at 132 Turnpike Road, Southborough, Massachusetts 01772, became principal underwriter for the Contracts. Epoch is a wholly-owned subsidiary of The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc.

The Company paid commissions not to exceed 7.0% of payments to broker-dealers that sold the Contract. The Company currently does not pay direct commissions on additional payments to the Contracts. However, alternative commission schedules may be in effect with lower initial commission amounts plus ongoing annual compensation of up to 1% of the Contract's Accumulated Value.

To the extent permitted by FINRA rules, overrides and promotional incentives or payments also may be provided to independent marketing organizations and broker-dealers based on the Contract's Accumulated Value, sales volumes, the performance of wholesaling functions, or other sales-related criteria. Additional payments may be made for other services not directly related to the sale of the Contract.

The Company intends to recoup commissions and other sales expenses through a combination of anticipated surrender charges and profits from the Company's General Account, which may include amounts derived from mortality and risk charges. Commissions paid on the Contract, including additional incentives or payments, do not result in any additional charge to Owners or to the Variable Account. The Company will retain any surrender charges assessed on a Contract.

#### **LEGAL MATTERS**

There are no legal proceedings to which we, the Separate Account or the Principal Underwriter is a party, or to which the assets of the Separate Account are subject, that are likely to have a material adverse effect on:

- the Separate Account; or
- the ability of the principal underwriter to perform its contract with the Separate Account; or
- on our ability to meet our obligations under the variable annuity contracts funded through the Separate Account.

## **FURTHER INFORMATION**

A Registration Statement under the 1933 Act relating to this offering has been filed with the SEC. Certain portions of the Registration Statement and amendments have been omitted in this Prospectus pursuant to the rules and regulations of the SEC. The omitted information may be obtained from the SEC's principal office in Washington, DC, upon payment of the SEC's prescribed fees.

#### APPENDIX A

## MORE INFORMATION ABOUT THE FIXED ACCOUNT

Because of exemption and exclusionary provisions in the securities laws, interests in the Fixed Account generally are not subject to regulation under the provisions of the 1933 Act or the 1940 Act. Disclosures regarding the fixed portion of the Contract and the Fixed Account may be subject to the provisions of the 1933 Act concerning the accuracy and completeness of statements made in this Prospectus. The disclosures in this APPENDIX A have not been reviewed by the SEC.

The Fixed Account is part of the Company's General Account which is made up of all of the general assets of the Company other than those allocated to separate accounts. Allocations to the Fixed Account become part of the assets of the Company and are used to support insurance and annuity obligations. The General Account is not segregated or insulated from the claims of the insurance company's creditors. Any amounts allocated to the Fixed Account or amounts that we guarantee in excess of your Contract Value are subject to our financial strength and claim's paying ability, and are subject to the risk that the insurance company may not be able to cover, or may default on, its obligations under those guarantees. A portion or all of net payments may be allocated to accumulate at a fixed rate of interest in the Fixed Account. Such net amounts are guaranteed by the Company as to principal and a minimum rate of interest. Currently, the Company will credit amounts allocated to the Fixed Account with interest at an effective annual rate of at least 3%, compounded daily. Additional "Excess Interest" may or may not be credited at the sole discretion of the Company.

If the Contract is surrendered, or if an Excess Amount is withdrawn while the Contract is in force and before the Annuity Date, a surrender charge is imposed if such event occurs before the payments attributable to the surrender or withdrawal have been credited to the Contract for at least six full Contract years.

In Massachusetts, payments and transfers to the Fixed Account are subject to the following restrictions:

If the Contract is issued prior to the Annuitant's 60th birthday, allocations to the Fixed Account will be permitted until the Annuitant's 61st birthday. On and after the Annuitant's 61st birthday, no additional Fixed Account allocations will be accepted. If the Contract is issued on or after the Annuitant's 60th birthday, up through and including the Annuitant's 81st birthday, Fixed Account allocations will be permitted during the first Contract year. On and after the first Contract anniversary, no additional allocations to the Fixed Account will be permitted. If a Contract is issued after the Annuitant's 81st birthday, no payments to the Fixed Account will be permitted at any time.

In Oregon, no additional allocations will be accepted into the Fixed Account on or after the third Contract anniversary. Further, no payments to the Fixed Account will be permitted if the Contract is issued after the Annuitant's 81st birthday.

If an allocation designated as a Fixed Account allocation is received at the Principal Office during a period when the Fixed Account is not available due to the limitations outlined above, the monies will be allocated to the DWS Money Market Portfolio.

## APPENDIX B

## SURRENDER CHARGES AND THE MARKET VALUE ADJUSTMENT

## Part 1: Surrender Charges

**Full Surrender**—Assume a Payment of \$50,000 is made on the issue date and no additional payments are made. Assume there are no withdrawals and that the Withdrawal Without Surrender Charge amount is equal to the greater of 15% of the current Accumulated Value or the accumulated earnings in the Contract. The table below presents examples of the surrender charge resulting from a full surrender of the Owners' Contract, based on hypothetical Accumulated Values.

Account Year	Hypothetical Accumulated Value	Free Withdrawal Amount	Surrender Charge Percentage	Surrender Charge
1	\$54,000.00	\$ 8,100.00	7%	\$3,213.00
2	58,320.00	8,748.00	6%	2,974.32
3	62,985.60	12,985.60	5%	2,500.00
4	68,024.45	18,024.45	4%	2,000.00
5	73,466.40	23,466.40	3%	1,500.00
6	79,343.72	29,343.72	2%	1,000.00
7	85,691.21	35,691.21	0%	0.00

Withdrawal—Assume a Payment of \$50,000 is made on the issue date and no additional payments are made. Assume that the Withdrawal Without Surrender Charge amount is equal to the greater of 15% of the current Accumulated Value or the accumulated earnings in the contract and there are withdrawals as detailed below. The table below presents examples of the surrender charge resulting from withdrawals from the Owners' Contract, based on hypothetical Accumulated Values.

Account Year	Hypothetical Accumulated Value	Withdrawal	Free Withdrawal Amount	Surrender Charge Percentage	Surrender Charge
1	\$54,000.00	\$ 0.00	\$ 8,100.00	7%	\$ 0.00
2	58,320.00	0.00	8,748.00	6%	0.00
3	62,985.60	0.00	12,985.60	5%	0.00
4	68,024.45	30,000.00	18,024.45	4%	479.02
5	41,066.40	10,000.00	6,159.96	3%	115.20
6	33,551.72	5,000.00	5,032.76	2%	0.00
7	30,835.85	10,000.00	4,625.38	0%	0.00

## Part 2: Market Value Adjustment

The market value factor is:  $[(1+i)/(1+j)]^{n/365}-1$ 

For purposes of the examples below:

- i = the guaranteed interest rate being credited to the guarantee period.
- j = the guaranteed interest rate on the date of surrender for the guarantee period with a duration equal to the number of years remaining in the current guarantee period, rounded to the next higher number of whole years.
- n =the number of days from the date of surrender to the expiration date of the guarantee period.

The following examples assume:

- 1. The payment was allocated to a ten-year Guarantee Period Account with a Guaranteed Interest Rate of 8%.
- 2. The date of surrender is seven years (2,555 days) from the expiration date.
- 3. The value of the Guarantee Period Account is equal to \$62,985.60 at the end of three years.
- 4. No transfers or withdrawals affecting this Guarantee Period Account have been made.
- 5. Surrender charges, if any, are calculated in the same manner as shown in the examples in Part 1.

# Negative Market Value Adjustment (Capped) \*

Assume that on the date of surrender, the current rate (j) is 11.00% or 0.11

The market value factor 
$$= [(1+i)/(1+j)]^{n/365} - 1$$

$$= [(1+.08)/(1+.11)]^{2555/365} - 1$$

$$= (.97297)^7 - 1$$

$$= -.17454$$

The Market Value Adjustment

= Maximum of the market value factor multiplied by the withdrawal or the negative of the excess earned over 3%

= Maximum 
$$(-.17454 \times \$62,985.60 \text{ or } -\$8,349.25)$$
  
= Maximum  $(-\$10,992.38 \text{ or } -\$8,349.25)$ 

= -\$8,349.25

<sup>\*</sup> Capped takes into account the excess interest part of the Market Value Adjustment formula when the value produced is greater than the cap.

# Negative Market Value Adjustment (Uncapped)\*\*

Assume that on the date of surrender, the current rate (j) is 10.00% or 0.10

The market value factor  $= [(1+i)/(1+j)]^{n/365} - 1$ 

 $= [(1+.08)/(1+.10)]^{2555/365} - 1$ 

 $= (.98182)^7 - 1$ 

= -.12054

The Market Value Adjustment = the market value factor multiplied by the withdrawal

=  $-.12054 \times \$62,985.60$ 

= -\$7,592.11

# Positive Market Value Adjustment (Capped)\*

Assume that on the date of surrender, the current rate (j) is 5.00% or 0.05

The market value factor  $= [(1+i)/(1+j)]^{n/365} - 1$ 

 $= [(1+.08)/(1+.05)]^{2555/365} - 1$ 

 $= (1.02857)^7 - 1$ 

= .21798

The Market Value Adjustment = Minimum of the market value factor multiplied by the

withdrawal or the excess interest earned over 3%

= Minimum of  $(.21798 \times $62,985.60 \text{ or } \$8,349.25)$ 

= Minimum of (\$13,729.78 or \$8,349.25)

= \$8,349.25

<sup>\*\*</sup> Uncapped is a straight application of the Market Value Adjustment formula when the value produced is less than the cap.

<sup>\*</sup> Capped takes into account the excess interest part of the Market Value Adjustment formula when the value produced is greater than the cap.

# Positive Market Value Adjustment (Uncapped)\*\*

Assume that on the date of surrender, the current rate (j) is 7.00% or 0.07

The market value factor  $= [(1+i)/(1+j)]^{n/365} - 1$ 

 $= [(1+.08)/(1+.07)]^{2555/365} - 1$ 

 $= (1.00935)^7 - 1$ 

= .06728

The Market Value Adjustment = the market value factor multiplied by the withdrawal

 $= .06728 \times \$62,985.60$ 

= \$4,237.90

<sup>\*\*</sup> Uncapped is a straight application of the Market Value Adjustment formula when the value produced is less than the cap.

#### APPENDIX C

#### THE DEATH BENEFIT

#### Part 1: Death of the Annuitant

## **Death Benefit Assuming No Withdrawals**

Assume a Payment of \$50,000 is made on the issue date and no additional payments are made. Assume there are no withdrawals and that the Death Benefit Effective Annual Yield is equal to 5%. The table below presents examples of the Death Benefit based on the hypothetical Accumulated Values.

Year	Hypothetical Accumulated Value	Hypothetical Market Value Adjustment	Death Benefit (a)	Death Benefit (b)	Death Benefit (c)	Hypothetical Death Benefit
1	\$53,000.00	\$ 0.00	\$53,000.00	\$52,500.00	\$50,000.00	\$53,000.00
2	53,530.00	500.00	54,030.00	55,125.00	53,000.00	55,125.00
3	58,883.00	0.00	58,883.00	57,881.25	55,125.00	58,883.00
4	52,994.70	500.00	53,494.70	60,775.31	58,883.00	60,775.31
5	58,294.17	0.00	58,294.17	63,814.08	60,775.31	63,814.08
6	64,123.59	500.00	64,623.59	67,004.78	63,814.08	67,004.78
7	70,535.95	0.00	70,535.95	70,355.02	67,004.78	70,535.95
8	77,589.54	500.00	78,089.54	73,872.77	70,535.95	78,089.54
9	85,348.49	0.00	85,348.49	77,566.41	78,089.54	85,348.49
10	93,883.34	0.00	93,883.34	81,444.73	85,348.49	93,883.34

Death Benefit (a) is the Accumulated Value increased by any positive Market Value Adjustment.

Death Benefit (b) is the gross payments accumulated daily at the Death Benefit Effective Annual Yield of 5%, reduced proportionately to reflect withdrawals.

Death Benefit (c) is the death benefit that would have been payable on the most recent Contract anniversary, increased for subsequent payments, and decreased proportionately for subsequent withdrawals.

The Hypothetical Death Benefit is equal to the greatest of Death Benefits (a), (b), or (c).

## **Death Benefit Assuming Withdrawals**

Assume a Payment of \$50,000 is made on the issue date and no additional payments are made. Assume there are withdrawals as detailed in the table below and that the Death Benefit Effective Annual Yield

is equal to 5%. The table below presents examples of the Death Benefit based on the hypothetical Accumulated Values.

Contract Year	Hypothetical Accumulated Value	Partial Withdrawal	Hypothetical Market Value Adjustment	Death Benefit (a)
1	\$53,000.00	\$ 0.00	\$ 0.00	\$53,000.00
2	53,530.00	0.00	500.00	54,030.00
3	3,883.00	50,000.00	0.00	3,883.00
4	3,494.70	0.00	500.00	3,994.70
5	3,844.17	0.00	0.00	3,844.17
6	4,228.59	0.00	500.00	4,728.59
7	4,651.45	0.00	0.00	4,651.45
8	5,116.59	0.00	500.00	5,616.59
9	5,628.25	0.00	0.00	5,628.25
10	691.07	5,000.00	0.00	691.07
Contract Year		Death Benefit (b)	Death Benefit (c)	Hypothetical Death Benefit
<u>Contract Year</u> 1		Benefit (b)		Death Benefit
<u> </u>			Benefit (c)	
1		Benefit (b) \$52,500.00	Benefit (c) \$50,000.00	Death Benefit \$53,000.00
1		Benefit (b) \$52,500.00 55,125.00	Benefit (c) \$50,000.00 53,000.00	\$53,000.00 55,125.00
1		Benefit (b) \$52,500.00 55,125.00 4,171.13	Benefit (c) \$50,000.00 53,000.00 3,972.50	\$53,000.00 55,125.00 4,171.13
1		Benefit (b) \$52,500.00 55,125.00 4,171.13 4,379.68	Benefit (c) \$50,000.00 53,000.00 3,972.50 4,171.13	Death Benefit \$53,000.00 \$55,125.00 4,171.13 4,379.68
1		Benefit (b) \$52,500.00 55,125.00 4,171.13 4,379.68 4,598.67	Benefit (c) \$50,000.00 53,000.00 3,972.50 4,171.13 4,379.68	\$53,000.00 \$53,125.00 4,171.13 4,379.68 4,598.67
1		Benefit (b) \$52,500.00 55,125.00 4,171.13 4,379.68 4,598.67 4,828.60	Benefit (c) \$50,000.00 53,000.00 3,972.50 4,171.13 4,379.68 4,598.67	\$53,000.00 \$53,125.00 4,171.13 4,379.68 4,598.67 4,828.60
1		Benefit (b) \$52,500.00 55,125.00 4,171.13 4,379.68 4,598.67 4,828.60 5,070.03	Benefit (c) \$50,000.00 53,000.00 3,972.50 4,171.13 4,379.68 4,598.67 4,828.60	\$53,000.00 \$53,125.00 4,171.13 4,379.68 4,598.67 4,828.60 5,070.03

Death Benefit (a) is the Accumulated Value increased by any positive Market Value Adjustment.

Death Benefit (b) is the gross payments accumulated daily at the Death Benefit Effective Annual Yield reduced proportionately to reflect withdrawals.

Death Benefit (c) is the death benefit that would have been payable on the most recent Contract anniversary, increased for subsequent payments, and decreased proportionately for subsequent withdrawals.

The Hypothetical Death Benefit is equal to the greatest of Death Benefits (a), (b), or (c).

## Part 2: Death of the Owner Who is Not the Annuitant

Assume a Payment of \$50,000 is made on the issue date and no additional Payments are made. Assume there are no withdrawals. The table below presents examples of the Death Benefit based on the hypothetical Accumulated Values.

Contract Year	Hypothetical Accumulated Value	Hypothetical Market Value Adjustment	Hypothetical Death Benefit
1	. \$53,000.00	\$ 0.00	\$53,000.00
2	. 53,530.00	500.00	54,030.00
3	. 58,883.00	0.00	58,883.00
4	. 52,994.70	500.00	53,494.70
5	. 58,294.17	0.00	58,294.17
6	. 64,123.59	500.00	64,623.59
7	. 70,535.95	0.00	70,535.95
8	. 77,589.54	500.00	78,089.54
9	. 85,348.49	0.00	85,348.49
10	. 93,883.34	0.00	93,883.34

The hypothetical Death Benefit is the Accumulated Value increased by any positive Market Value Adjustment.

# APPENDIX D

# CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

# Commonwealth Annuity and Life Insurance Company Separate Account KG

The following tables provide Condensed Financial Information for the Sub-Accounts of the Company for the 10-year period ending December 31, 2009.

	Year Ended December 31st									
Sub-Account	2009	2008	2007	2006	2005	2004	2003	2002	2001	2000
Alger Balanced Portfolio (Class I-2) Unit Value \$:	0.045	1.055	1 122	1.007	1.026	0.006	0.040	0.001	1.014	1.050
Beginning of Period	1.076		1.133 1.255 51,587	1.097 1.133 60,624	1.026 1.097 71,489	0.996 1.026 81,165	0.848 0.996 90,542	0.981 0.848 95,327	1.014 0.981 55,574	1.058 1.014 26,637
Alger Capital Appreciation Portfolio (Class I-2) Unit Value \$:										
Beginning of Period	0.956	0.642	0.901 1.186 36,269	0.766 0.901 33,430	0.679 0.766 37,385	0.637 0.679 42,604	0.479 0.637 46,804	0.735 0.479 48,154	1.014 0.735 44,504	1.197 0.887 35,277
Credit Suisse Trust International Equity Flex III Portfolio* Unit Value \$:										
Beginning of Period	1.413	0.945	1.662 2.122 12,144	1.272 1.662 13,197	1.009 1.272 13,871	0.819 1.009 12,866	0.581 0.819 9,474	0.667 0.581 7,270	0.748 0.667 3,264	1.000 0.748 1,256
Dreyfus IP MidCap Stock Portfolio (Initial Shares) Unit Value \$:										
Beginning of Period	1.250	0.936	1.592 1.593 33,552	1.498 1.592 43,196	1.392 1.498 48,787	1.233 1.392 53,998	0.949 1.233 61,205	1.100 0.949 61,956	1.153 1.100 35,401	1.080 1.153 20,310
The Dreyfus Socially Responsible Growth Fund, Inc. (Initial Shares) Unit Value \$:										
Beginning of Period	0.543 0.716 3,962	0.840 0.543 4,323	0.790 0.840 5,792	0.734 0.790 7,248	0.718 0.734 9,175	0.686 0.718 10,121	0.552 0.686 11,901	0.788 0.552 13,913	1.032 0.788 11,818	1.177 1.032 8,187

	Year Ended December 31st									
Sub-Account	2009	2008	2007	2006	2005	2004	2003	2002	2001	2000
DWS Equity Index 500 VIP (Class A) Unit Value \$:							0.515			
Beginning of Period	0.831	1.077 0.667 56,523	1.037 1.077 67,369	0.911 1.037 82,444	0.883 0.911 96,115	0.811 0.883 112,590	0.643 0.811 120,291	0.840 0.643 118,554	0.968 0.840 76,215	1.090 0.968 52,751
DWS Capital Growth VIP (Class A) Unit Value \$:										
Beginning of Period	0.978	1.183 0.782 78,792	1.066 1.183 97,862	0.996 1.066 118,500	0.927 0.996 94,664	0.871 0.927 33,347	0.696 0.871 37,576	0.997 0.696 41,844	1.254 0.997 43,019	1.411 1.254 44,215
DWS Global Opportunities VIP (Class A) Unit Value \$:										
Beginning of Period	1.670	1.143	2.317	1.785 2.149 26,819	1.532 1.785 29,183	1.260 1.532 31,147	0.857 1.260 30,661	1.085 0.857 34,826	1.459 1.085 37,471	1.563 1.459 38,150
DWS Growth & Income VIP (Class A) Unit Value \$:										
Beginning of Period	0.803	0.998 0.607 46,468	0.999 0.998 57,141	0.891 0.999 70,662	0.852 0.891 85,395	0.785 0.852 40,306	0.628 0.785 45,199	0.829 0.628 46,691	0.947 0.829 44,293	0.981 0.947 39,552
DWS Health Care VIP (Class A) Unit Value \$:										
Beginning of Period	1.299	1.424 1.079 10,687	1.276 1.424 12,122	1.219 1.276 14,794	1.139 1.219 17,848	1.055 1.139 20,688	0.800 1.055 23,181	1.055 0.800 20,830	1.000 1.055 9,388	N/A N/A N/A
DWS International VIP (Class A)										
Unit Value \$:  Beginning of Period	0.994	1.479 0.755 22,039	1.309 1.479 27,239	1.054 1.309 31,793	0.921 1.054 34,104	0.801 0.921 36,810	0.636 0.801 40,727	0.790 0.636 42,497	1.159 0.790 38,684	1.501 1.159 35,705

	Year Ended December 31st									
Sub-Account Sub-Account	2009	2008	2007	2006	2005	2004	2003	2002	2001	2000
DWS Balanced VIP (Class A) Unit Value \$:										
Beginning of Period	1.372	1.128	1,574	1.401 1.522 91,858	1.362 1.401 112,219	1.293 1.362 136,894	1.112 1.293 158,329	1.330 1.112 182,254	1.436 1.330 198,614	1.496 1.436 155,491
DWS Blue Chip VIP (Class A) Unit Value \$:										
Beginning of Period	1.289	0.976	1.577 1.609 46,268	1.383 1.577 56,486	1.274 1.383 64,342	1.114 1.274 78,148	0.888 1.114 84,330	1.156 0.888 95,152	1.392 1.156 108,416	1.532 1.392 104,322
DWS Core Fixed Income VIP (Class A) Unit Value \$:										
Beginning of Period	1.281	1.206	1.517	1.436 1.477 42,582	1.425 1.436 49,296	1.383 1.425 57,078	1.334 1.383 66,674	1.252 1.334 78,141	1.201 1.252 49,367	1.109 1.201 39,396
<b>DWS Diversified International Equity VIP (Class A)</b> Unit Value \$:										
Beginning of Period	1.321	1.036	2.052	1.440 1.783 30,472	1.276 1.440 34,719	1.094 1.276 38,352	0.855 1.094 38,494	1.002 0.855 44,113	1.345 1.002 40,663	1.715 1.345 45,507
DWS Dreman Small Mid Cap Value VIP (Class A) Unit Value \$:										
Beginning of Period	2.254	1.762	2.685	2,143 2.642 43,399	1.971 2.143 54,103	1.586 1.971 66,158	1.133 1.586 71,093	1.296 1.133 75,953	1.117 1.296 48,921	1.089 1.117 34,644
DWS Global Thematic VIP (Class A) Unit Value \$:										
Beginning of Period	1.398	0.986	1.826 1.913 20,835	1.423 1.826 24,886	1.174 1.423 20,131	1.037 1.174 20,878	0.815 1.037 20,336	0.981 0.815 20,709	1.177 0.981 18,168	1.235 1.177 15,371

	Year Ended December 31st									
Sub-Account	2009	2008	2007	2006	2005	2004	2003	2002	2001	2000
DWS Government & Agency Securities VIP (Class A) Unit Value \$:										
Beginning of Period	1.704	1.599	1.479 1.545 49,953	1.440 1.479 55,362	1.424 1.440 65,750	1.392 1.424 79,487	1.381 1.392 109,356	1.296 1.381 184,162	1.223 1.296 80,609	1.118 1.223 42,764
DWS High Income VIP (Class A) Unit Value \$:										
Beginning of Period	1.587	1.150	1.540 1.533 49,101	1.414 1.540 67,251	1.381 1.414 79,756	1.245 1.381 97,566	1.014 1.245 120,130	1.031 1.014 124,810	1.019 1.031 120,205	1.132 1.019 115,238
DWS Large Cap Value VIP (Class A) Unit Value \$:										
Beginning of Period	1.877	1.518	2.421	1.907 2.170 33,240	1.897 1.907 40,803	1.748 1.897 49,127	1.337 1.748 58,024	1.595 1.337 67,066	1.588 1.595 70,516	1.387 1.588 71,229
DWS Mid Cap Growth VIP (Class A) Unit Value \$:										
Beginning of Period	0.855	1.230 0.606 9,812	1.152 1.230 11,300	1.053 1.152 13,386	0.928 1.053 14,814	0.906 0.928 17,086	0.685 0.906 20,572	1.002 0.685 21,625	1.299 1.002 27,383	1.386 1.299 27,728
DWS Money Market VIP (Class A) Unit Value \$:										
Beginning of Period	1.279	1.278 1.293 59,626	1.235 1.278 58,844	1.196 1.235 54,082	1.180 1.196 61,161	1.186 1.180 68,139	1.194 1.186 99,559	1.195 1.194 180,367	1.168 1.195 183,584	1.116 1.168 82,252
DWS Small Cap Growth VIP (Class A) Unit Value \$:										
Beginning of Period	0.934	0.674	1.292 1.353 27,285	1.245 1.292 34,660	1.179 1.245 40,451	1.077 1.179 42,214	0.822 1.077 51,463	1.253 0.822 52,450	1.785 1.253 50,132	2.027 1.785 51,239

	Year Ended December 31st									
Sub-Account	2009	2008	2007	2006	2005	2004	2003	2002	2001	2000
DWS Strategic Income VIP (Class A) Unit Value \$:										
Beginning of Period	1.685	1.531 1.393 17,120	1.473 1.531 21,043	1.371 1.473 19,739	1.358 1.371 19,539	1.268 1.358 20,890	1.192 1.268 22,654	1.087 1.192 24,668	1.047 1.087 7,082	1.035 1.047 3,951
DWS Strategic Value VIP (Class A) Unit Value \$:										
Beginning of Period	1.080	0.874	1.697 1.642 105,329	1.449 1.697 132,090	1.362 1.449 132,600	1.211 1.362 146,873	0.931 1.211 161,745	1.152 0.931 173,201	1.149 1.152 116,791	0.983 1.149 75,998
DWS Technology VIP (Class A) Unit Value \$:	,	- ,	,.	,,,,,,	,,,,,,,	-,	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	,	-,	)
Beginning of Period	0.805	0.960 0.509 29,728	0.852 0.960 37,450	0.857 0.852 44,278	0.838 0.857 55,324	0.834 0.838 64,797	0.577 0.834 78,219	0.908 0.577 79,087	1.361 0.908 92.061	1.761 1.361 89,808
DWS Turner Mid Cap Growth VIP (Class A) Unit Value \$:	20,557	29,720	37,130	11,270	33,321	01,757	70,219	75,007	32,001	03,000
Beginning of Period		0.669	1.084 1.344 15,311	1.032 1.084 19,321	0.936 1.032 22,040	0.855 0.936 22,412	0.584 0.855 26,882	0.875 0.584 21,986	1.000 0.875 6,848	N/A N/A N/A
Invesco V.I. Utilities Fund (Series I Shares) Unit Value \$:						0.446			4 000	27/1
Beginning of Period	0.848 0.961 9,404	1.272 0.848 11,320	1.069 1.272 12,976	0.864 1.069 14,422	0.750 0.864 14,983	0.616 0.750 11,875	0.532 0.616 10,174	0.677 0.532 9,254	1.000 0.677 2,849	N/A N/A N/A

<sup>\*</sup> On December 11, 2009, the Credit Suisse Trust International Equity Flex II Portfolio meged into the Credit Suisse Trust International Equity Flex III Portfolio.

#### APPENDIX F

## IRA, ROTH IRA AND SIMPLE IRA DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

This Disclosure Statement describes the statutory and regulatory provisions applicable to the operation of traditional Individual Retirement Annuities (IRAs), Roth Individual Retirement Annuities (Roth IRAs) and Simple Individual Retirement Annuities (SIMPLE IRAs). Internal Revenue Service regulations require that this be given to each person desiring to establish an IRA, Roth IRA or a SIMPLE IRA. Except where otherwise indicated, IRA discussion includes Simplified Employee Pension IRAs (SEP IRA). Further information can be obtained from Commonwealth Annuity and Life Insurance Company and from any district office of the Internal Revenue Service. Also, see IRS Publication 590, *Individual Retirement Arrangements (IRAs)*.

This Disclosure Statement is for your general information and is not intended to be exhaustive or conclusive, to apply to any particular person or situation, or to be used as a substitute for qualified legal or tax advice.

Please note that the information contained herein is based on current federal income tax law, income tax regulations, and other guidance provided by the IRS. Hence, this information is subject to change upon an amendment of the law or the issuance of further regulations or other guidance. Also, you should be aware that state tax laws may differ from federal tax laws governing such arrangements. You should consult your tax adviser about any state tax consequences of your IRA or Roth IRA, whichever is applicable.

#### A. REVOCATION

Within 7 days of the date you signed your enrollment application, you may revoke the Contract and receive back 100% of your money by submitting your request in writing to us at our Service Center. Notice of revocation will be deemed mailed on the date of the postmark (or if sent by certified or registered mail, the date of the certification or registration) if it is deposited in the mail in the United States in an envelope, or other appropriate wrapper, first class postage prepaid, properly addressed.

## **B. STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS**

The Contract is intended to meet the requirements of Section 408(b) of the Code, Section 408A of the Code for use as a Roth IRA, or of Section 408(p) of the Code for use as a SIMPLE IRA, whichever is applicable. The Contract has not been approved as to form for use as an IRA, Roth IRA or a SIMPLE IRA by the Internal Revenue Service. Such approval by the Internal Revenue Service is a determination only as to form of the Contract, and does not represent a determination on the merits of the Contract.

- 1. The amount in your IRA, Roth IRA, and SIMPLE IRA, whichever is applicable, must be fully vested at all times and the entire interest of the Owner must be nonforfeitable.
- 2. The Contract must be nontransferable by the Owner.
- 3. The Contract must have flexible premiums.
- 4. For IRAs and SIMPLE IRAs, you must start receiving distributions on or before April 1 of the year following the year in which you reach age 70½ (the required beginning date) (see "Required Distributions"). However, Section 401(a)(9)(A) of the Code (relating to minimum distributions required to commence at age 70½), and the incidental death benefit requirements of Section 401(a) of the Code, do not apply to Roth IRAs.

If you die on or after the date required minimum distributions under Section 401(a)(9) of the Code commence, unless otherwise permitted under applicable law, any remaining interest in the Contract

must be distributed at least as rapidly as under the method of distribution being used as of the date of death. If you die before required minimum distributions commence, unless otherwise permitted under applicable law, any remaining interest in the Contract must be distributed to your Beneficiary by December 31 of the calendar year containing the fifth anniversary of your death; except that: (1) if the interest is payable to an individual who is your designated Beneficiary (within the meaning of Section 401(a)(9) of the Code), the designated Beneficiary may receive the entire interest over his or her life, or over a period certain not extending beyond his or her life expectancy, commencing on or before December 31 of the calendar year immediately following the calendar year in which you die; and (2) if the sole designated Beneficiary is your spouse, the Contract may be treated as his or her own IRA, or, where applicable, Roth IRA.

- 5. Except in the case of a rollover contribution or a direct transfer (see "ROLLOVERS AND DIRECT TRANSFERS"), or a contribution made in accordance with the terms of a Simplified Employee Pension (SEP), all contributions to an IRA, Roth and SIMPLE IRA must be cash contributions which do not exceed certain limits.
- 6. The Contract must be for the exclusive benefit of you and your Beneficiaries.

### C. ROLLOVERS AND DIRECT TRANSFERS FOR IRAS AND SIMPLE IRAS

- 1. A rollover is a tax-free transfer from one retirement program to another that you cannot deduct on your tax return. There are two kinds of tax-free rollover payments to an IRA. In one, you transfer amounts from another IRA. With the other, you transfer amounts from a qualified plan under Section 401(a) of the Code, a qualified annuity under Section 403(a) of the Code, a tax-sheltered annuity or custodial account under Section 403(b) of the Code, or a governmental plan under Section 457(b) of the Code (collectively referred to as "qualified employee benefit plans"). Tax-free rollovers can be made from a SIMPLE IRA to a SIMPLE Individual Retirement Account under Section 408(p) of the Code. An individual can make a tax-free rollover to an IRA from a SIMPLE IRA, or vice-versa, after a two-year period has expired since the individual first participated in a SIMPLE plan.
- 2. You must complete the rollover by the 60th day after the day you receive the distribution from your IRA or other qualified employee benefit plan or SIMPLE IRA. The failure to satisfy this 60-day requirement may be waived by the Internal Revenue Service in certain circumstances.
- 3. A rollover distribution may be made to you only once a year. The one-year period begins on the date you receive the rollover distribution, not on the date you roll it over (reinvest it).
- 4. A trustee-to-trustee transfer to an IRA of funds in an IRA from one trustee or insurance company to another is not a rollover. It is a transfer that is not affected by the one-year waiting period.
- 5. All or a part of the premium for the Contract used as an IRA may be paid from a rollover from an IRA or qualified employee benefit plan or from a trustee-to-trustee transfer from another IRA. All or part of the premium for the Contract used as a SIMPLE IRA may be paid from a rollover from a SIMPLE Individual Retirement Account or, to the extent permitted by law, from a direct transfer from a SIMPLE IRA.
- 6. A distribution that is eligible for rollover treatment from a qualified employee benefit plan will be subject to twenty percent (20%) withholding by the Internal Revenue Service even if you roll the distribution over within the 60-day rollover period. One way to avoid this withholding is to make the distribution as a direct transfer to the IRA trustee or insurance company.

### D. CONTRIBUTION LIMITS AND ALLOWANCE OF DEDUCTION FOR IRAS

- 1. In general, the amount you can contribute each year to an IRA is the lesser of (1) 100% of your compensation, or (2) the maximum annual contributions under Section 219(b) of the Code, including "catch-up" contributions for certain individuals age 50 and older. The maximum annual contribution limit for IRA contributions is equal to \$5,000 for 2010. After 2010, the limit may be indexed annually in \$500 increments as determined by the Secretary of Treasury to reflect cost of living increases. An individual who has attained age 50 may make additional "catch-up" IRA contributions. The maximum annual contribution limit for the individual is increased by \$1,000 except as otherwise provided by law. If you have more than one IRA, the limit applies to the total contributions made to your own IRAs for the year. Generally, if you work the amount that you earn is compensation. Wages, salaries, tips, professional fees, bonuses and other amounts you receive for providing personal services are compensation. If you own and operate your own business as a sole proprietor, your net earnings reduced by your deductible contributions on your behalf to self-employed retirement plans are compensation. If you are an active partner in a partnership and provide services to the partnership, your share of partnership income reduced by deductible contributions made on your behalf to qualified retirement plans is compensation. All taxable alimony and separate maintenance payments received under a decree of divorce or separate maintenance is compensation.
- 2. In the case of a married couple filing a joint return, up to the maximum annual contribution can be contributed to each spouse's IRA, even if one spouse has little or no compensation. This means that the total combined contributions that can be made to both IRAs can be as much as \$12,000 for 2010 (\$5,000 annual contribution for each individual, plus \$1,000 for each individual who has attained age 50).
- 3. In the case of a married couple with unequal compensation who file a joint return, the limit on the deductible contributions to the IRA of the spouse with less compensation is the smaller of:
  - a. The maximum annual contribution, or
  - b. The total compensation of both spouses, reduced by any deduction allowed for contributions to IRAs of the spouse with more compensation.

The deduction for contributions to both spouses' IRAs may be further limited if either spouse is covered by an employer retirement plan.

4. If either you or your spouse is an active participants in an employer-sponsored plan and have a certain level of income, the amount of the contribution to your IRA that is deductible is phased out, and in some cases eliminated. If you are an active participant in an employer-sponsored plan, the deductibility of your IRA contribution will be phased out, depending on your adjusted gross income, or combined adjusted gross income in the case of a joint tax return, as follows:

Joint Returns: \$89,000-\$109,000 Single Taxpayers: \$55,000-\$65,000

The phase-out range for married individuals filing separately is \$0-\$10,000. If you file a joint tax return and are not an active participant in an employer sponsored plan, but your spouse is, the amount of the deductible IRA contribution is phased out for adjusted gross income between \$167,000 and \$177,000. These amounts may be indexed for cost of living increases in future years.

To designate a contribution as nondeductible, you must file IRS Form 8606, *Nondeductible IRAs*. You may have to pay a penalty if you make nondeductible contributions to an IRA and you do not file Form 8606 with your tax return, or if you overstate the amount of nondeductible contributions on your Form 8606. If you do not report nondeductible contributions, all of the contributions to your traditional

IRA will be treated as deductible, and all distributions from your IRA will be taxed, unless you can show, with satisfactory evidence, that nondeductible contributions were made.

- 5. Contributions to your IRA for a year can be made at any time up to April 15 of the following year. If you make the contribution between January 1 and April 15, however, you may elect to treat the contribution as made either in that year or in the preceding year. You may file a tax return claiming a deduction for your IRA contribution before the contribution is actually made. You must, however, make the contribution by the due date of your return not including extensions.
- 6. You cannot make a contribution other than a rollover or transfer contribution to your IRA for the year in which you reach age  $70\frac{1}{2}$  or thereafter.
- 7. A taxpayer may qualify for a tax credit for contributions to an IRA, or for a tax exemption for distributions donated to charity in 2009, depending on the taxpayer's adjusted gross income.

## E. SEP IRAs

- 1. SEP IRA rules concerning eligibility and contributions are governed by Code Section 408(k). The maximum deductible contribution for a SEP IRA is the lesser of \$49,000 (may be indexed for cost-of-living increases in future years) or 100% of compensation.
- 2. A SEP must be established and maintained by an employer (corporation, partnership, sole proprietor).

#### F. SIMPLE IRAs

- 1. A SIMPLE IRA must be established with your employer using a qualified salary reduction agreement.
- 2. You may elect to have your employer contribute to your SIMPLE IRA, under a qualified salary reduction agreement, an amount (expressed as a percentage of your compensation) not to exceed \$11,500 for 2010. After 2010, the limit may be indexed annually, except as otherwise provided by law. In addition to these employee elective contributions, your employer is required to make each year either (1) a matching contribution equal to up to 3 percent, and not less than 1 percent, of your SIMPLE IRA contribution for the year, or (2) a non-elective contribution equal to 2 percent of your compensation for the year (up to \$245,000 of compensation in 2010, as may be adjusted for inflation in future years). No other contributions may be made to a SIMPLE IRA.
- 3. Employee elective contributions and employer contributions (*i.e.*, matching contributions and non-elective contributions) to your SIMPLE IRA are excluded from your gross income.
- 4. To the extent an individual with a SIMPLE IRA is no longer participating in a SIMPLE plan (e.g., the individual has terminated employment), and two years have passed since the individual first participated in the plan, the individual may treat the SIMPLE IRA as an IRA.

# G. TAX STATUS OF THE CONTRACT AND DISTRIBUTIONS FOR IRAS AND SIMPLE IRAS

- 1. Earnings of your IRA annuity contract are not taxed until they are distributed to you.
- 2. In general, taxable distributions are included in your gross income in the year you receive them.
- 3. Distributions under your IRA are non-taxable to the extent they represent a return of non-deductible contributions (if any). The non-taxable percentage of a distribution is determined generally by dividing your total undistributed, non-deductible IRA contributions by the value of all your IRAs (including SEPs and rollovers).

4. You cannot choose the special five-year or ten-year averaging that may apply to lump sum distributions from qualified employer plans.

# H. REQUIRED DISTRIBUTIONS FOR IRAS AND SIMPLE IRAS

You must start receiving minimum distributions required under the Contract and Section 401(a)(9) of the Code from your IRA and SIMPLE IRA starting with the year you reach age 70½ (your 70½ year). Ordinarily, the required minimum distribution for a particular year must be received by December 31 of that year. However, you may delay the required minimum distribution for the year you reach age 70½ until April 1 of the following year (*i.e.*, the required beginning date).

Annuity payments which begin by April 1 of the year following your 70½ year satisfy the minimum distribution requirement if they provide for non-increasing payments over your life or the lives of you and your designated Beneficiary (within the meaning of Section 401(a)(9) of the Code), provided that, if installments are guaranteed, the guaranty period does not exceed the applicable life or joint expectancy.

The applicable life expectancy is your remaining life expectancy or the remaining joint life and last survivor expectancy of you and your designated Beneficiary, determined as set forth in applicable federal income tax regulations.

If you have more than one IRA, you must determine the required minimum distribution separately for each IRA; however, you can take the actual distributions of these amounts from any one or more of your IRAs.

In addition, the after-death minimum distribution requirements described generally in section B. STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS apply to IRAs and SIMPLE IRAs.

If the actual distribution from your Contract is less than the minimum amount that should be distributed in accordance with the minimum distribution requirements mentioned above, the difference generally is an excess accumulation. There is a 50% excise tax on any excess accumulations. If the excess accumulation is due to reasonable error, and you have taken (or are taking) steps to remedy the insufficient distribution, you can request that this 50% excise tax be excused by filing with your tax return an IRS Form 5329, together with a letter of explanation and the excise tax payment.

## I. ROTH IRAs

- 1. If your Contract is a special type of individual retirement plan known as a Roth IRA, it will be administered in accordance with the requirements of section 408A of the Code. Roth IRAs are treated the same as other IRAs, except as described here.
- 2. If your Contract is a Roth IRA, we will send you a Roth IRA endorsement to be attached to, and to amend, your Contract. The Company reserves the right to amend the Contract as necessary or advisable from time to time to comply with future changes in the Code, regulations or other requirements imposed by the IRS to obtain or maintain its approval of the annuity as a Roth IRA.
- 3. Earnings in your Roth IRA are not taxed until they are distributed to you, and will not be taxed if they are paid as a "qualified distribution," as described to you in section L, below.
- 4. The minimum distribution requirements that apply to IRAs do not apply to Roth IRAs while the Owner is alive. However, after the death of a Roth IRA Owner, the after-death minimum distribution rules that apply to IRAs also apply to Roth IRAs as though the Roth IRA Owner died before his or her required beginning date. You may not use your Roth IRA to satisfy minimum distribution requirements for traditional IRAs. Nor may you use distributions from an IRA for required distributions from a Roth IRA.

#### J. ELIGIBILITY AND CONTRIBUTIONS FOR ROTH IRAS

- 1. Generally, you are eligible to establish or make a contribution to your Roth IRA only if you meet certain income limits. No deduction is allowed for contributions to your Roth IRA. Contributions to your Roth IRA may be made even after you attain age 70½.
- 2. The maximum aggregate amount of contributions for any taxable year to all IRAs, including all Roth IRAs, maintained for your benefit (the "contribution limit") generally is the lesser of (1) 100% of your compensation, or (2) the maximum annual contributions under Section 219(b) of the Code, including "catch-up" contributions for certain individuals age 50 and older (as discussed in section D, above).

The contribution limit for any taxable year is reduced (but not below zero) by the amount which bears the same ratio to such amount as:

- (a) the excess of (i) your adjusted gross income for the taxable year, over (ii) the "applicable dollar amount," bears to
- (b) \$15,000 (or \$10,000 if you are married).

For this purpose, "adjusted gross income" is determined under the Code and (1) excludes any amount included in gross income as a result of any rollover from, transfer from, or conversion of an IRA to a Roth IRA, and (2) is reduced by any deductible IRA contribution. In addition, the "applicable dollar amount" is equal to \$166,000 for a married individual filing a joint return, \$0 for a married individual filing a separate return, and \$105,000 for any other individual. These amounts may be indexed for cost of living increases in future years.

A "qualified rollover contribution" (discussed in section K, below), and a non-taxable transfer from another Roth IRA, are not taken into account for purposes of determining the contribution limit.

## K. ROLLOVERS, TRANSFERS AND CONVERSIONS TO ROTH IRAS

1. Rollovers and Transfers—A rollover may be made to a Roth IRA only if it is a "qualified rollover contribution." A "qualified rollover contribution" is a rollover to a Roth IRA from another Roth IRA or from an IRA, but only if such rollover contribution also meets the rollover requirements for IRAs under Section 408(d)(3). In addition, a transfer may be made to a Roth IRA directly from another Roth IRA or from an IRA. Beginning in 2010, adjusted gross income and filing status limitations on Roth IRA conversions no longer apply.

You may not make a qualified rollover contribution or transfer in a taxable year from an IRA to a Roth IRA if (a) your adjusted gross income for the taxable year exceeds \$100,000 or (b) you are married and file a separate return.

The rollover requirements of Section 408(d)(3) are complex and should be carefully considered before you make a rollover. One of the requirements is that the amount received be paid into another IRA (or Roth IRA) within 60 days after receipt of the distribution. The failure to satisfy this 60-day requirement may be waived by the Internal Revenue Service in certain circumstances. In addition, a rollover contribution from a Roth IRA may be made by you only once a year. The one-year period begins on the date you receive the Roth IRA distribution, not on the date you roll it over (reinvest it) into another Roth IRA. If you withdraw assets from a Roth IRA, you may roll over part of the withdrawal tax free into another Roth IRA and keep the rest of it. A portion of the amount you keep may be included in your gross income.

2. Taxation of Rollovers and Transfers to Roth IRAs—A qualified rollover contribution or transfer from a Roth IRA maintained for your benefit to another Roth IRA maintained for your benefit which meets the rollover requirements for IRAs under Section 408(d)(3) is tax-free.

In the case of a qualified rollover contribution or a transfer from an IRA maintained for your benefit to a Roth IRA maintained for your benefit, any portion of the amount rolled over or transferred which would be includible in your gross income were it not part of a qualified rollover contribution or a nontaxable transfer will be includible in your gross income. However, Code Section 72(t) (relating to the 10 percent penalty tax on premature distributions) will not apply. Income from a conversion in 2010 can be recognized one-half in 2011 and one-half in 2012, rather than all in 2010.

- 3. Transfers of Excess IRA Contributions to Roth IRAs—If, before the due date of your federal income tax return for any taxable year (not including extensions), you transfer, from an IRA, contributions for such taxable year (and earnings thereon) to a Roth IRA, such amounts will not be includible in gross income to the extent that no deduction was allowed with respect to such amount.
- 4. Taxation of Conversions of IRAs to Roth IRAs—All or part of amounts in an IRA maintained for your benefit may be converted into a Roth IRA maintained for your benefit. The conversion of an IRA to a Roth IRA is treated as special type of qualified rollover contribution. Hence, you must be eligible to make a qualified rollover contribution in order to convert an IRA to a Roth IRA. A conversion typically will result in the inclusion of some or all of your IRA's value in gross income, as described above.

A conversion of an IRA to a Roth IRA can be made without taking an actual distribution from your IRA. For example, an individual may make a conversion by notifying the IRA issuer or trustee, whichever is applicable.

Under some circumstances, it might not be advisable to rollover, transfer, or convert all or part of an IRA to a Roth IRA. Whether you should do so will depend on your particular facts and circumstances, including, but not limited to, such factors as whether you qualify to make such a rollover, transfer, or conversion, your financial situation, age, current and future income needs, years to retirement, current and future tax rates, your ability and desire to pay current income taxes with respect to amounts rolled over, transferred, or converted, and whether such taxes might need to be paid with withdrawals from your Roth IRA (see discussion below of "Non-Qualified Distributions"). You should consult a qualified tax adviser before rolling over, transferring, or converting all or part of an IRA to a Roth IRA.

5. Separate Roth IRAs—Due to the complexity of, and proposed changes to, the tax law, it may be advantageous to maintain amounts rolled over, transferred, or converted from an IRA in separate Roth IRAs from those containing regular Roth IRA contributions. For the same reason, you should consider maintaining a separate Roth IRA for each amount rolled over, transferred, or converted from an IRA. These considerations should be balanced against the additional costs you may incur from maintaining multiple Roth IRAs. You should consult your tax adviser if you intend to contribute rollover, transfer, or conversion amounts to your Contract, or if you intend to roll over or transfer amounts from your Contract to another Roth IRA maintained for your benefit.

# L. INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES OF ROTH IRAS

1. Qualified Distributions—Any "qualified distribution" from a Roth IRA is excludible from gross income. A "qualified distribution" is a payment or distribution which satisfies two requirements. First, the payment or distribution must be (a) made after you attain 59½, (b) made after your death, (c) attributable to your being disabled, or (d) a "qualified special purpose distribution" (i.e., a qualified first-time homebuyer distribution under the Code). Second, the payment or distribution must be made in a taxable year that is at least five years after (1) the first taxable year for which a contribution was made to any Roth IRA established for you, or (2) in the case of a rollover from, or a conversion of, an IRA to a Roth IRA, the taxable year in which the rollover or conversion was made if the payment or distribution is allocable (as determined in the manner set forth in guidance issued by the IRS) to the rollover contribution or conversion (or to income allocable thereto).

2. Nonqualified Distributions—A distribution from a Roth IRA which is not a qualified distribution is taxed under Code Section 72 (relating to annuities), except that such distribution is treated as made first from contributions to the Roth IRA to the extent that such distribution, when added to all previous distributions from the Roth IRA, does not exceed the aggregate amount of contributions to the Roth IRA. For purposes of determining the amount taxed, (a) all Roth IRAs established for you will be treated as one contract, (b) all distributions during any taxable year from Roth IRAs established for you will be treated as one distribution, and (c) the value of the contract, income on the contract, and investment in the contract, if applicable, will be computed as of the close of the calendar year in which the taxable year begins.

An additional tax of 10% is imposed on nonqualified distributions (including amounts deemed distributed as the result of a prohibited loan or use of your Roth IRA as security for a loan) made before the benefited individual has attained age  $59^{1/}_{2}$ , unless one of the exceptions discussed in Section N applies.

## M. TAX ON EXCESS CONTRIBUTIONS

- 1. You must pay a 6% excise tax each year on excess contributions that remain in your Contract. Generally, an excess contribution is the amount contributed to your Contract that is more than you can contribute. The excess is taxed for the year of the excess contribution and for each year after that until you correct it. If contributions to your IRA for a year are more than the contribution limit, you can apply the excess contribution in one year to a later year if the contributions for that later year are less than the maximum allowed for that year.
- 2. You will not have to pay the 6% excise tax if you withdraw the excess amount by the date your tax return is due including extensions for the year of the contribution. You do not have to include in your gross income an excess contribution that you withdraw from your Contract before your tax return is due if the income earned on the excess was also withdrawn and no deduction was allowed for the excess contribution. You must include in your gross income the income earned on the excess contribution.

#### N. TAX ON PREMATURE DISTRIBUTIONS

There is an additional tax on premature distributions from your IRA, Roth IRA, or SIMPLE IRA, equal to 10% of the taxable amount. For premature distributions from a SIMPLE IRA made within the first 2 years you participate in a SIMPLE plan, the additional tax is equal to 25% of the amount of the premature distribution that must be included in gross income. Premature distributions are generally amounts you withdraw before you are age 59½. However, the tax on premature distributions does not apply generally:

- 1. To amounts that are rolled over or transferred tax free;
- 2. To a distribution which is made on or after your death, or on account of you being disabled within the meaning of Code Section 72(m)(7);
- 3. To a distribution which is part of a series of substantially equal periodic payments (made at least annually) over your life or your life expectancy or the joint life or joint life expectancy of you and your Beneficiary;
- 4. To a distribution which is used for qualified first-time homebuyer expenses, qualified higher education expenses, certain medical expenses, or by an unemployed individual to pay health insurance premiums; or
- 5. To a distribution mode during a specified time period to a reservist who is called or ordered to active duty for a period in excess of 170 days or for an indefinite period.

#### O. EXCISE TAX REPORTING

Use Form 5329, Additional Taxes Attributable to Qualified Retirement Plans (Including IRAs), Annuities, and Modified Endowment Contracts, to report the excise taxes on excess contributions, premature distributions, and excess accumulations. If you do not owe any IRA, SIMPLE IRA or Roth IRA excise taxes, you do not need Form 5329. Further information can be obtained from any district office of the Internal Revenue Service.

# P. BORROWING

If you borrow money against your Contract or use it as security for a loan, the Contract will lose its classification as an IRA, Roth IRA, or SIMPLE IRA, whichever is applicable, and you must include in gross income the fair market value of the Contract as of the first day of your tax year. In addition, you may be subject to the tax on premature distributions described above. (Note: The Contract does not allow borrowings against it, nor may it be assigned or pledged as collateral for a loan.)

### Q. REPORTING

We will provide you with any reports required by the Internal Revenue Service.

#### R. ESTATE TAX

Generally, the value of your IRA, including your Roth IRA, is included in your gross estate for federal estate tax purposes.

#### S. FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

- 1. We deduct a daily charge from your Separate Account Contract Value equal to 1.40%, on an annual basis, of Separate Account Contract Value. May vary if optional riders are elected.
- 2. An annual Contract Fee of \$35.00 will be assessed against the Separate Account and Fixed Account Value each Contract Year.
- 3. Withdrawal charges will be assessed based on the Contribution Years elapsed as described in the prospectus under the heading "Withdrawal Charge."
- 4. The method used to compute and allocate the annual earnings is contained in the prospectus under the heading "Accumulation Unit Value" for Separate Account Contract Value.
- 5. The growth in value of your Contract is neither guaranteed nor projected but is based on the investment experience of the Subaccounts or rates of interest as declared by Commonwealth Annuity.